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Bill Barretr Corporation is a Rocky Mountain exploration and production company that secks ro enhance sharcholder value
by executing a long-term growth stratcgy. Specifically, we strive to:

¢ Focus on long-term reserve and production growth through active drilling

¢ Develop low-risk, multi-year drilling inventories '

* Build multiple, diverse exploration plays that have high-impact, high-retuen potential

¢ Apply existing and emerging technologics to reduce exploration risk and enhance recoveries

¢ Maintain financial flexibility to pursue growth serategy




dear shareholders

Effective exccution of our development and exploration
programs made 2006 a year of significant achievement and
growth for the Company. We increased production by 32%

and proved reserves by 26% over 2005 and, as we continue

to bring wvisibility to our development projects, rtoral -

proved, probable and possible (3P) resources increasced to

2 "lIefe. That performance generated record carnings and

cash flow per share.

FFactors driving that performance include an active drilling
program on our development projects and we added to our
low-risk PPowder River Basin prospects with a May 2006
acquisition. We continued explotation success in our West
Tavaputs deep, Lake Cany(.)n, and Bullfrog projects. We
added two key executives and long-term Rockies veterans
o our team-—Joc Jaggers as Chicef Operating Officer and
President, and Bob Howard as our new Chief Financial
Officer. These are two men that exemplify the focus
and dedication to our original vision when we started the
Company five vears ago of creating the premier exploration
and production company in the Rockies.

.

2006 was not without s challenges. Natural gas prices

dropped ncarly 40% in 2006 (and our stock price suffered),

while costs for drilling and oilficld services remained high.

¥ Bill Barrett Corporation
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Because commodity price volatility is part of our business, we usc hedging to mitigate risk of commodity price swings.
We are hedging 60-70% of our 2007 production at attractive prices, which helps protect 2007's $425-450 million capital
program with more assured cash flows and project returns. We continue adding firm transportation and sales contracts
to provide takeaway capacity for our increasing gas production. We have contracted with new entrants to our basins
in the drilling and service businesses to take advantage of competitive pricing. We are financially strong and flexible,
concluding 2006 with a low debt to capitalization ratio.

. . ' . Net Production Potentlal from Development Projects
Looking to increase sharcholder value, we are pursuing 158

958-130
continucd double digic growth in 2007 and beyond . |

generated by our development programs in \West : 7708

"lavaputs, Piccance Basin, und Powder River Basin, where

Bcie
g

we recognize 1.7 Tefe of 3P resources.,

g
Y

521

.- -
At West Tavaputs, located in the Uinta Basin in Urah, we
grew production by 209% in 2006 from our drilling in both 2008 2008 2007 2omse 2005E
the shallow and deeper horizons. Once we receive a Record
of Decision to our Environmental Impacr Sratemenein late
2007 or early 2008, we anticipate significant production _ 2.0 Tcle
and reserve growth from full ficld development of chis 3P Resources
nearly 800 Befe 3P resource base.
We arc actively testing a 10-acre drilling program this year in Proved Probanke
the Piceance Basin of Colorado, downspacing from the 20-

acre spacing we have been dnlling thus far. [n other arcas in

the Piccance Basin, 10-acre spacing has enhanced recoveries

for the esttmated 80 Befe per square mide gas in place found

in one of this country’s most prolific gas-producing arcas.

In our low risk coalbed methane (CBN) project in the Powder River Basin of Wyoming, we will continue drilling the thick,
decp Big George coals. We anticipate strong production growth in late 2007 and 2008 as the coals continuc to dewater and
gas production begins, .

"These development projects represent just a part of a strategy that [ feel clearly separates us from our Rockies peers. Qurarray
of large scale, high-impact exploration programs represents several trillion cubic feer of unrisked upside to the Company’s
resource base. Qur appetite for exploration remains a critical component of the strategic vision behind the Company’s

formation five vears ago.

In just the last two years, new discoveries at West 'Tavaputs decp and Lake Canyon in the Uinta Basin, as well as in the Wind
River Basin, have helped us delincate potential new fields. A prime example of our delineation efforts is Lake Canyon, where
we and our partner were successful in finding hvdrocarbons in all seven wells drilled thus far. We plan co drill up 1o 24 wells

in 2007 o further determine the cconomic potential of this oil prone area.

Bill Barretl Corporaticn - 06 Annual Re




In the Wind River Basin, we are seeking a partner to keep one rig continuously drilling the deep Lakota, Muddy and Frontier

to further explore the higher risk, high potential we had in two carlier discoverics. |

In 2007, we plan to test four high-profile exploration prospects in the Big Horn Businl, Montana Overthruse, Paradox Basin, and

Uinta Basin. Success in any onc of these has rhe potential to significantly increase the size of the Company’s reserve basc.

In the Big Horn Basin, we are testing a potential multi-Tef basin-centered gas play in an area traditionally considered an oil-
prone basin. In our Montana Overthruse prospect, over 150 square miles of 3-D Scilsmic survey data has idenrified numerous
large four-way structures. We plan two exploration test wells there this summer. In our Yellow Jacket shale prospect in the
Paradox Basin, we have drilled, cored, and set casing on two wells. We are pursuing a shale concept in the Hook area of the

Uinta Basin and, in the neighboring Woodside area, we plan to test wells to explore a four-way closure.

Another of our stratcgic objectives is the use of technology. For example, we have over 2,700 square miles of 3-1) seismic
data for our prospects to help our geologic understanding and mitigate drilling risk. The application of evolving completion

technology was instrumental to improving our Piceance Basin well performance.

We consistently review our portfolio of prospects to ensure they all fit within our strategic objectives. We will add with bolr-
on acquisitions similar to our, May 2006 Powder River Basin purchase, or divest properties similar to our decision to sell our

Williscon properties. "Thus, we constantly strive to deploy capital in an attempt to maximize long-term value to sharcholders.

"I'hese first five years for our Company have gone by fast, and | hope you agree that we have accomplished much of what
we set out to do here in the Rockies. We are well-positioned ro continue delivering a clean, efficient and domestic energy
Supply-to our country’s economy. With the Rockies Express Pipeline adding 1}8 Bef per day capacity from Colorado to
Ohio in 2009, we see improved realized prices for our production. In 2006, the Rockies region emerged, for the first time
ever, as the country’s most prolific gas producing region, cclipsing the Gulf of Mexico. Additionally, the Department of
Energy projects the Rockies to be one of the few regions in the country to show any significant growth in natural gas
production over the next 20 vears. Many of you are aware that it is precisely this ascendance of Rockies gas production
that the Company was founded on.
With your continuced support, we will be able to develop the potential of the natural gas resources of the Rockies as we

continue to become a premier Rockies E&P company. | thank you, the sharcholders, for investing with us.

Sincerely,

e

FFredrick ). Barrect
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
March 16, 2007 |
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2004 2005
Proved Reserves and Acreage
Natural Gas, Bei 257.8 308.0
Qil, MMBbls 57 58
Natural Gas Equivalents, Befe! 292.3 341.0
Percent Developed 61% 61%
Percent Naiural Gas 88% 0%
Pre-Tax PV-10, milions %582 $1,050
Netl Undeveloped Acreage (rounded) 971,000 1,210,000
Production
Bcle 31.7 394
Average Daily Production, MMcfe 86.6 108.0
Percent Natural Gas 91% 92%
Average Realized Prices
Natural Gas Prices, including hedge efiect, $/Mcf $5.10 $7.16
Oil Prices, including hedge effect, $/Bb $39.48 . $46.68
Operating Statistics
Resenve Replacement 378% 224%
Capital Expenditures and Acquisitions, millions $347 3344
Producing Wells, gross/net 743/553 940/738
Wells Drilled, gross/net 287/259 323/233
Financial Data )
Net Income (Loss), millions (35) $24
Eamings Per Share (diluted) N/A $0.65
Discretionary Cash Flow?, millions 5102 $195
Production Revenue ($/Mcle) $5.23 $7.21
Lease Operating Expenses anc Galhering and Transportaton (5/Mcle) $0.65 $0.80
Production Taxes ($/Mcie) ' $0.63 $0.85
G&A, excluding non-cash stock-based compensation? ($/Mcfe) $0.57 $0.62
Depletion, Depreciation, and Amortization ($/Mcle) $2.15 $2.27
Discretionary Cash Flow? ($/Mcie) $3.23 $4.96
Finding and development cost ($/Mcig) $2.81 $3.78

2006

377.7

85

428.4

58%

88%

$603
1,260,000,

521
142.8
%

$6.40
$53.50

267%
$423
1,147/838
_ 22413
$62

$1.40
$239
$6.60
$0.87
$0.50
$C.53
$2.69
$5.39
$2.44

' One Barrel of oit is the energy equivalent of six Mef of nalural gas
? A Non-GAAP Measure—see page facing back cover

Bill Barrett Corporation
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West Tavaputs Net Production
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DEVELOPMENT

west tavaputs

[

West "Tavaputs is our preeminent development area in Utah.
In 2002, we paid approximately $8 million for this propercy
when we rccogni?.fcd that modern fracture stimulation
techniques had not been applied to this arca. We have
Erown gross productlion from 1 MMcfed w over 85 MMcfed
with an ongoing drilling program thac rargers 2.7 Befe EUR
wells. We plan a simlilar shallow drilling program of 30 wells
to the Wasatch and ll\-lcsavcrdc formarions in 2007 as we had °
in 2006. We recognize 250 and 300 locations on forty acre
spacing and 3P resources toraling nearly 800 Befe. Our 83
square mile 3-D seismic survey {(acquired in 2004) guides
not only our shallow drlling locations, but also reveals
significant structures in the Dakota, Entrada, and Navajo
formations. We have drilled and completed two successful
deep wells (the first was Qil and Gas Investor Magazine's

“Best Dhscovery”) and are in the process of completing

. our third deep well. Good progress continues on our

Environmental Implact Statement (EIS) for West Tavaputs.
We expect a Record of Decision sometime in late 2007 or
early 2008. Once ap{provcd, the EIS will allow for full field
development with d‘ril]ing year-round atop the three mesas,

thus allowing our per year drilling levels 1o be increased.




DEVELOPMENT

pDoOwaer

Powder River Basin Net Production
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Burrowing owl family—We are alert to protecting the environment in each area
we Work Photo by: Dan Fillipi. 0&G Environmental

§  Bill Barrett Corpor

The Powder River Basin CBM development projecr is an

asset that provides us with lower risk, high return drilling. In

2006, we drilled 99 wells and we added to our Big George
program with the acquisition of largely undeveloped
propertics primarily in the Hartzog Draw and Pumpkin
Creek arca and now have over 127,000 net acres. We plan to
drill berween 200 and 250 wells over each of the next several
years on our 1,200 location inventory with 3P resources
totaling nearly 205 Bef. We had a 17% production decline
in 2006 as our Big George development was stll dewatering
and not offsctring declines from the legacy Wyodak coal
production. However, given the time it takes to dewarer the
various coals, we believe production will begin ramping up
toward the end of 2007, with material production growth
expected in 2008 and 2009. ‘I'he Powder River CBM play

provides us with our best incremental dnilling costs.

2006 Annual Report §




DEVELOPMENT

iceance bas

v

et A
.qg’.,\‘,s H

The Piccance Basin 1s a prime example of the type of
development project we like to have in our portfolio. "[his
is a legacy arca for our management team. It provides
repeatable drilling invcn‘tory in an arca with significanc
known gas in place (80 Befe per square mile), and it
gives us operational scale. Using our technical knowledge
base and experience in the Piceance, we can leverage
technology and efficicncics to improve economics. We
grew daily production nearly cightfold in the two years
since we acquired our properties in 2004, We improved
our average EUR per well to over 1.2 Befe with enhanced
fracture stimulation rechniques. We have nearly 700 Befe

of 3P resources in the area and see continued double-digit

production and reserve growth in the coming years as we

operate a continuous, year round three-rig program. In

2007, we will be actively drilling muldiple 10-acre pilots.
Much of the Piceance Basin is productive on 10-acre
spacing throughout the valley and our management tcam

has extensive experience with infill drilling. We believe

10-acre drilling will allow us to increase the recovery of ;

the significant gas in place.

jII Barrett Corporation

Piceance Net Production
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EXPLORATION

INa rnver basl

The dynamics of the Wind River Basin have changed ;
in the Company’s five year history. During the first few
vears, we were focused on the prolific shailower Lance-
Fr. Union development program along the Waltman Arch.
Recent exploratory success has focused our attention on
deeper drilling targets in the Frontier, Muddy, and Lakota
formations. We have been successful with two deep wells
and one re-completion where we have achieved inirial
production races as high as 20 MMcfe/d. These high flow
rates provide both astrong rate of return and rapid payback.

Given the high expense of these deep wells, we plan to

bring in a partner o mitigate cost, increase efficiency, and

o e

in with natural environment

B L Py e accelerate our exposure t reserves and production with a
Storage tanks blend ) ) _ .

continuous one-rig program that will allow us to dnll up
to three wells per vear. We are assessing the potential of
other plays along the Waltman Arch, including a recent

shale gas testin the Cody/Niobrara zones and a CBM piler

in the Mecteetse coals.

e
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EXPLORATION

inta basin-ake canyon

'

|

. Liake Canyon is an expansive, multi-township, fractured
oil and associated gas prospect in the Uinta Basin where
we are currently tz!rgcting the Wasatch and Green River
formations. We control over 400 square miles, much of it

n tribal lands. Wcl: were successful in our first Wasarch

'g;:cxplnratory well in 2006 and are in the process of
1

vy

icomplcting wwo recently drilled offsets to chis well. The

. v >
d e ; £ R
Al S, ) Tha vty W,

B IR BTk A 'f%?ﬁ * the Ute Tribe ac [Blacktail Ridge, a known productive
Lake Canyon’ Deep'DLB?#JsiSG umﬁﬁ?;_m;m ' B :

. ' areq, where we inltcnd to target the Wasatch and Green
River formations. IWc intend to drill 24 wells delineating
this arca and our Il_.akc Canvon play in 2007, Numecrous
wells will need to be drilted to understand the scope and
economics of these plays, but we are encouraged with the

potential of this immense area.

hook/woodside

On the border of the Uinta and Paradox basins sits our Hook/

Woodside prospect arca where we have over 186,000 net

undeveloped acres! At Hook, we will be testing several shale
s, gas intervals {one that is age equivalent to the Barnet Shale
¢t . .
f northeast Texas), when we drill three exploratory test

wells this summer, At Woodside, we will dnll a seismically

7 : defined structural Pennsylvanian test in spring 2007.

T

" A s F
Swaingon hawk on-Yuqea ocsor et e A it
Photo by Dan Fillii, 0&G Ervironmental
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JEXEIORATION

paradox basin-ye

Our Yellow Jacket prospect is an exploratory resource play
where we are targeting the Gothic shale at depths of 6,500 ‘ 5
fect. This is a shale gas play that has many of the same  J§
ateributes as the prolific Barnete shale in East “lexas. We
drilled and cored two exploratory tests in the fourth quarter
of 2006. Having conducted extensive core analysis on both
wells, we expect to have completed both wells and have
results as we move into the summer months of 2007. We ;

plan two further exploratory test wells in 2007, : oo ) %' B 3 ; = ' %k ,

e N . S ¥ H
g

T K askie #1 drilin

oine rdge

« We have over 20,000 net undeveloped acres in our
',z’é .conventional Salt Flank project in the Paradox Basin.
j} jWith 3-D seismie technology, we are targeting structural
features where gas is trapped along the flanks of massive
{‘5 salt intrusions, also known as “salt diapirs”. In 2006, we
* 'acquired a 20 square mile 3-1) seismic survey at our Pine
‘Ridge prospect and plan to dnill our first exploration test

1. . well in late 2007 or early 2008.

Bill Barrett Corporation 10 2006 Annual Report




EXPLORATION

“montana overthrust—=circus

Our Montana Overthrust prospect is a classic structural
play that adds balance and diversity to our portfolio. After
conducting a regional geologic study utilizing surface
geology, 2-1D seismic, and existing well dara, we began to
assemble a large acreage position (in excess of 300,000 acres)
in an area where several major oil companics drilled and
encountered live oil and gas shows back in the 1970s and
1980s. All of the historical drilling activity was done prior to
"the advent of modemn day 3-1D seismic technology. In 2006
and 2007,'wc acquired 155 square miles of 3-ID seismic to
define this complicated geologic structure. We also brought
in a joint exploration partner and recouped all of our upfront
investment, while retaining a 50% working nterest and
operations. We have imaged several four-way closures with
3-1D seismic data and plan to drill two exploratory test wells

in the summer of 2007 and acquire additional 3-ID seismic.

of a possible meteor impact

Bill Barrelt Corboralion

In our Big I~l¢;)rrl Basin prospect, we are targeting
unconventional tight gas sands in the central portion of
the basin where li‘ttlc exploratory drilling has occurred.
To date, most drilling in the basin was focused on the
shallower oil ficlds{rimming the basin. We operate a 50%
working interest anld have nearly 83,000 net undeveloped
acres. In carly 2007, we began recompletung the Sellers
Draw #1 well in five different Mesaverde stages and plan
to drill one cxplnra}ory test well in summer 2007 based on
the results of our 3-I) seismic survey. We also identfied
the presence of an unusual feature deep in the section,
which appears to be an ancient meteor impact. These
features, though fairly rare, when found in hydrocarbon

bearing basins are commonly productive,

2006 Annual Report




environmenta

Our Rockies growth strategy means the Company conducts
much of its business on public lands. While these lands are
thought to contain nearly three-fourths of all undiscovered
natural gas in the Continental United States, they are also

home to wildlife, support grazing, and are used extensively

for many forms of recreation.

Our policy is to protect these other resource values while

pursuing the Company’s growth strategy. In order for land
managers to protect “the health, diversity and productivity
of the public lands for the usc and enjoyment of present
and future gencrations,” the government applies various
tools for planning and controlling resources such as water,
wildlife, air, visual and noise considcrations, mineral,
cultural and other natural resources, and traffic, all leading
totheevenrual remediation ofawell pad. Thisistheanalysis
we undertake when conducting an Environmental Impact
Statement (E18), or the less exhaustive Environmental
Assessment (EA), both regulatory tools of the National
Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). 8o rigorous is this
federal policy that the BLM escimartes that just slighely
over 10% of the onshore gas reserves on federal lands are

accessible under standard lease terms.

We support these efforts and currently are involved inan EIS
at West "lavaputs, which will assess environmental, social,
cultural, and economic impacts for all stakeholder activitics,
not just oil and gas operations. A draft will be released to
the public for comment before the BLM 1ssues a Record of
Decision. We work with communities and other stakcholders
to ensure the EIS addresses all pertinent information. The
EIS process is deliberate and usually takes over two years to
complete. Once completed, the KIS provides a framework

for how a company can opcrate on federal lands.

One of our competitive advantages is our strategic objective
tohave the technical expertise formanaging NEPA processes,

which adds another layer of regulatory oversight to dozens of

also been recognized for efforts ranging from wildlife re-
introduction, innovative drilling and operating procedures,

_and corporate philanthropy.

‘Ultimartely, Company efforts help assure the country
.remains essentially self reliant for 1ts natural gas needs while
complying with some of the most stringent environmental

protections in the world.
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CAUTIOI‘{ARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that are subject to a number of risks
and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control, which may include statements about our:
= business strategy;
* identified driiling locations; _ «
»  exploration and development drilling prospects, inventories, projects and programs;
* natural gas and oil reserves;
. ébi]ity to obtain pcnnijts and governmental approvals;
+ technology; -
¢ financial strategy;
+ realized oil and natural gas prices;
+ production; -
¢ lease operating expenses, general and administrative costs and other costs;
+ availability and costs of drilling rigs and field services;
* future operating results; and
+ plans, objectives, expectations and intentions. .
All of these types of statements, other than statements of historical fact included in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements may be found in “Items 1 and 2.

Business and Properties”, “Item 1 A. Risk Factors”, “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations”, and other sections of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In some cases,

o

you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may”, “could”, “should”, “expect”, “plan”,

L3 I 1% L AN TY EE TS 1Y L1 1Y L5 B 1Y ’”
seek
k)

“project”, “intend”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “predict”, “potential”, “pursue”, “target”,

“objective”, or “continue”, the negative of such terms or other comparable terminclogy.

The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are largely based on our
expectations, which reflect estimates and assumptions made by our management. These estimates and
assumptions reflect our best judgment based on currently known market conditions and other factors. Although
we believe such estimates and assumptions to be reasonable, they are inherently uncertain and involve a number
of risks and uncertainties that are beyond our control. In addition, management’s assumptions about future events
may prove to be inaccurate. Management cautions all readers that the forward-looking statements contained in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K are not guaraniees of future performance, and we cannot assure any reader that
such statements will be realized or the forward-looking events and circumstances will occur. Actual results may
differ materially from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements due to the factors listed in
“Item 1A. Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All forward-looking statements
speak only as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We do not intend to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statements as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. These cautionary
statements qualify all forward-looking statements atiributable to us or persons acting on our behalf,




PARTI
Items 1 and 2. Business and Properties
BUSINESS

General

L1 IS

Bill Barrett Corporation (the “Company”, “we” or “us”™) was formed in January 2002 and is incorporated in
the State of Delaware. We explore for and develop oil and natural gas in the R'ocky Mouastain region of the
United States. We have exploration and development projects in nine basins aﬁd a regional overthrust belt in the
Rocky Mountains. Our management has an extensive track record with expertise in the full spectrum of Rocky
Mountain plays. Our strategy is to maximize stockholder value by leveraging our management team’s experience
finding and developing oil and gas in the Rocky Mountain region to profitably|grow our reserves and production,
primarily through internally generated projects.

We began active natural gas and oil operations in March 2002 with the acquisition of properties in the Wind
River Basin. We acquired these properties from a subsidiary of the Williams Compames which acquired these
properties in connection with the Williams Companies’ acquisition of Barrett Resources Corporation in August
2001. Since inception, we substantially increased our activity level and the number of properties that we operate
by acquiring a large inventory of undeveloped leasehold interests through fedei‘al and state sales as well as
private purchases and trades. We have also acquired producing properties that had large undeveloped acreage
positions associated with them. For example, in 2002, we completed two additional acquisitions of properties in
the Uinta, Wind River, Powder River and Williston Basins; in early 2003, we completed an acquisition of largely
undeveloped coalbed methane properties located in the Powder River Basin; in' . September 2004, we acquired
interests in propertics in the Piceance Basin in or around the Gibson Gulch ﬁeld and in May 2006, we added to
our coalbed methane position in the Powder River Basin with our acquisition of CH4 Energy Corporatlon Our
operating results reflect our exploration success and development growth on our properties.

The Company operates in one industry segment, which is the exploration, ‘developmcnt and production of
natural gas and crude oil, and all of the Company’s operations are conducted inI the United States. Consequently,
the Company currently reports a single industry segment, See “Financial Statements and the notes to our
consolidated financial statements for financial information about this industry segment

The following table provides information regarding our operations by basi:n.

At December 31,2006 -
Estimated Net Net Net December 2006 -

Proved Producing Undeveloped Average Daily
Basin Reserves (1) Wells Acreage Net Production

{Bcfe) (MMcfe/d)
Uinta ... ... e 151.3 66.2 181,191 (2) 54.4
Piceance ......... .. ... . ... .. .. ..... 145.6 2144 |, | . 13,637 . 477
WindRiver ............ ... ... ....... 62.8 153.1 218,699 25.1
PowderRiver ....................... 27.0 359.1 104,479 16.5
BigHom ........................... — 1.0 82,834 0.1
Paradox .......... ... ... ... ........ —_ — 85,241 —
GreenRiver.......... ... ... ... ... —_ — 52,097 —
Denver-Julesburg (3) ................. — 3.0 212,285 —
Williston (3) ............cccoiiiinn.n 41.7 . 412 161,662 . 72
Montana Overthrust .................. — — 138,292 . —
Utah Hingeline ...................... — — 18,096 —

Total ......... ..o 4284 838.0 1,268,513 (2) m




(1) OQur proved reserves were determined using the market prices for natural gas and oil at December 31, 2006,
which were $4.46 per MMBtu of natural gas and $61.06 per barrel of oil, without giving effect to hedging
transactions. Qur reserve estimates are based on a reserve report prepared by us and reviewed by our
independent petroleum engineers. See “—Q0il and Gas Data—Proved Reserves”.

(2) An additional 156,060 net undeveloped acres that are subject to drill-to-earn agreements are not included.

(3) We currently are marketing our Williston Basin and Denver-Julesburg Basin properties for sale.

@ Gas Prona Area
4 Ol Prone Area

We operate in nine basins and a regional overthrust belt in the Rocky Mountain region of the United States.
The basins consist of the Piceance, the Wind River, the Uinta, the Powder River, the Williston, the Green River,
the Denver-Julesburg, the Paradox and the Big Horn. We are in the process of marketing our Williston Basin and
Denver-Julesburg Basin properties for sale.

Uinta Basin. The Uinta Basin, located in northeastern Utah, was our largest producing area for the year
ended December 31, 2006. Our development operations are conducted primarily in West Tavaputs, and we
currently are testing offsets to our Lake Canyon discoveries. We also have a position in two exploratory projects
in the basin, Key statistics for our position in this basin include:

«  54.4 MMcfe/d of average net production for December 2006, compared to 400.3 MMcfe/d for
December 2005

= 151.3 Bcefe of estimated net proved reserves at December 31, 2006

*  66.2 net producing wells at December 31, 2006

» 191,966 total net acres, including 181,191 net undeveloped acres, at December 31, 2006
» an additional 156,060 net undeveloped acres that are subject to drill-to-earn agreements

= 235 square miles of licensed and proprietary 3-D seismic data




$120.0 million of capital expenditures spent during 2006, which included participating in the drilling of
36 wells and one recompletion

$165-$180 million estimated total Capltal cxpendlturcs in 2007, including a 65 gross well drilling
program

Piceance Basin. The Piceance Basin, located in northwestern Colorado, is a key area for our development
activities and expected production growth in 2007. Key statistics for our position in this basin include:

47.7T MMcfe/d of average net production for December 2006, compared to 26.5 MMcfe/d for
December 2005

145.6 Befe of estimated net proved reserves at December 31, 2006
214.4 net producing wells at December 31, 2006

16,447 total net acres, 1nc]udmg 13,637 net undeveloped acres, at December 31, 2006
20 square miles of propnetary 3-D seismic data

$138.2 million of capital expenditures spent during 2006, which included participating in the drilling of
68 wells

$170-$175l million estimated net capital expenditures in 2007, including an 96 gross well drilling
program

Wind River Basin. The Wind River Basin is located in central Wyoming. Our operations in the basin
include field expansion programs, recomplenons as well as exploration pI‘Q]CCtS Key statistics for our position in

this basin include;

25.1 MMcfe/d of average net production for December.ZOO(), compared to 45.6 MMcfe/d for
December 2005

62.8 Befe of estimated net proved reserves at December 31, 2006

153.1 net producing wells at December 31, 2006

223,941 total net acres, including 218,699 net undeveloped acres at D]ecember 31, 2006
718 square miles of licensed and proprietary 3-D seismic data

$35.3 million of capital expenditures spent during 2006, which included participating in the drilling of
two wells and two recompletions

$28-$33 million estimated net capital expenditures in 2007, includingja six gross well drilling program
and three recompletions

Powder River Basin. The Powder River Basin is located in northeastern Wyoming. Substantially all of our
operations in this basin are in coalbed methane plays targeting the Wyodak and 'lBig George coals. Qur coalbed
methane activities have resulted in high drilling success and lower drilling costs than our other drilling programs;
however, the average coalbed methane well in the Powder River Basin produces at a much lower rate with fewer
reserves attributed to it than conventional natural gas wells in the Rockies. Key Statistics for our position in this

basin include:

16.0 MMcfe/d of average net production for December 2006, compared to 19.9 MMcfe/d for
December 2005

27.0 Befe of estimated net prbved reserves at December 31, 2006
359.1 net producing wells at December 31, 2006
127,007 total net acres, including 88,129 net undeveloped acres, at December 31, 2006
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«  $148.0 million of capital expenditures spent during 2006, which included participating in the drilling of
99 wells, the CH4 acquisition and related taxes, and the estimated value of properties acquired for other
than cash

»  $25-$30 million estimated total capital expenditures in 2007, including a 229 gross well drilling
program

Big Horn Basin. The Big Horn Basin is located in north central Wyoming. We are in the initial phases of an
exploration project targeting both structural-stratigraphic and basin-centered tight gas plays. Key statistics for our
position in this basin include:

¢ 82,834 net undeveloped acres at December 31, 2006

e 203 square miles of hcensed and proprietary 3-D seismic data .

» Capital expenditures of $2.7 million in 2006 included leasehold a'cquisitions"and 3-D seismic surveys
+ Activities in 2007 are planned to include one recomplenon, drlllmg one exploration well and acquiring

additional 3-D seismic

Montana Overthrust Belt. The overthrust belt is a broad linear structural feature that runs from southern
Utah through the Canadian Rockies. We acquired leasehold interests in an exploration project in Montana along
this feature and have acquired 155 square miles of 3-D seismic. Key statistics for our position in this area
include:

» 138,292 net undeveloped acres at December 31, 2006 (50% working interest) operated
* 155 square miles of proprietary 3-D seismic data

* Capital expenditures of $5.5 million in 2006 included leasehold acreage acquisitions and 3-D seismic
surveys -

 Activities in 2007 are planned to include two exploration wells and additional 3-D seismic
Paradox Basin. The Paradox Basin is located in southwestern Colorado and southeastern Utah. We are

testing a shale gas concept and plan to test a structure play along the flanks of large salt diapirs. Key statistics for
our position in this basin include:

+ 85,241 net undeveloped acres at December 31, 2006
*» 44 square miles of licensed and proprietary 3-D seismic data .

» Capital expenditures of $12.4 million in 2006, which included participating in the drilling of two
exploration wells, 3-D seismic survey, and leasehold

» Capital expenditures in 2007 are planned to include a three well exploration program
Williston Basin. The Williston Basin is located in westem North Dakota, northwestern South Dakota and
eastern Montana. It is a predominantly oil-prone basin. Qur activities in this basin have included both

development and exploration drilling programs concentrated in three areas. We plan to sell our interests in the
Williston Basin in order to focus on other areas. Key statistics for our pesition in this basin include:

« 7.2 MMcfe/d of average net producuon for December 2006, compared to 7.2 MMcfe/d for December
2005 :

+ 41,7 Befe of estimated net proved reserves at December 31, 2006
» 41.2 net producing wells at December 31, 2006
» 172,761 total net acres, including 161,662 net undeveloped acres, at December 31, 2006

*  $31.4 million of net capital expenditures spent durmg 2006, which included participating in the drilling
of 13 wells




Denver-Julesburg Basin. Our operations in the DI Basin are concentrated in the Tri-State exploration
project, which extends into Colorado, Kansas and Nebraska. These operations are exploratory and involve the
extensive use of 3-D seismic technology to target shallow biogenic gas and deeper conventional oil plays. We
currently plan to sell cur interests in this basin. !

Summary of Development Areas

The following table summarizes the information regarding our key producing areas:

Average 2007 2007

Working Drilling Area
Area Basin Interest (1) Locations (2)  Budget (3)
. {in millions)
West Tavaputs . ......c.uiiiii i, Uinta 922 29 $125-130
GibsonGulch . ..... ... ... o i, ... Piceance 793 96 170-175
Cave Gulch/Bullfrog ......... ... ..o iias. Wind River 83.0 3 20-25
CooperReservoir . ............. .o iiiiiiinnnnn.. Wind River 973 1 4-7
Talon ... Wind River 62.8 2 2-4
Wallace Creek/Stone Cabin . ........................ Wind River 98.0 | 1-3
Powder RIVET .. ..\ oviv e, Powder River | 71.3 229 25-30
Lake Canyon/Blacktail Ridge ................... ... Uinta 38.1 33 35-40

Williston ..o e e Williston 30 (4) — —

Total .............. P 64.2 394 $382-414

(1) Average working interest is based on our working interests in producing “;ells as of December 31, 2006.

(2) For each development area, 2007 drilling locations represent total gross locations specifically identified and
scheduled by management as of December 31, 2006 as an estimate of our 2007 drilling activities on existing
acreage. Of the 2007 drilling locations, 140 are classified as proved undevieloped reserves, or PUDs. Our
actual drilling activities may change depending on the availability of capitial, regulatory approvals, seasonal
conditions, natural gas and oil prices, rig and services availability, costs, di‘illing results and other factors.
For a more complete description of our proposed activities, see the basin d!escriptions below.

(3) Includes budgeted dritling expenditures as well as exploration and facilities costs for the area and excludes
property acquisition costs and exploration costs for other areas.

(4) We operated 85% of our December 2006 production in the Williston Basin, with an average working
interest of 87.5% per operated well. Our average working interest in wells }operated by others is 8.5%.




Summary of Exploration Activities

The following table summarizes certain of our exploration activities that are discussed in more detail below.

Project Net \?\"(f)?l.(aiﬁz ' 2007 Planned Exploratory
Exploration Project 5 Basin Acreage (1) Interest {2) Activities (3)
Cave Gulch/Waltman (4){(5) ...... Wind River 15,861 83%  Drnill two deep wells
Cooper Reservoir (4} ........... Wind River 12,262 85%  Dnll one deep well
"EastMadden .................. Wind River 15,486 86%  Assess drilled well
Stone Cabin{4) ............... Wind River 10,216 59%  Assessing deep potential
Talon (5) . ......covv .. Wind River 73,440 38% Complete one well; assess
" drilled wells
Wallace Creek (4)(5) ........... Wind River 24974 71%  Drill one CBM well
Lake Canyon/Brundage Uinta 155414 (6) 69%  Drill 24 wells
Canyon(6) ................. '
Blacktail Ridge (4)(7) .......... Uinta 25,714 50%  Drill eight wells
West Tavaputs Deep(4) ......... Uinta 41,038 88%  Drill two wells
Hook (5) ..o ii i e Uinta 92,068 949%  Drill three wells
Woodside (5) ................. Uinta 26,251 100%  Drill one well
Sandwash .................... Green River 44,385 100%  Acreage acquisitions
Salt Flank (5) ................. Paradox 20,238 99%  Acreage acquisitions; drill one
) well .
Yellow Jacket ................. Paradox 62,563 48%  Acreage acquisitions; drill two
) wells .
BigHom ..................... Big Homn 83,208 39%  3-D seismic; acreage
' ' acquisitions; recomplete one
well; drill one well
Montana Overthrust . ........... Overthrust Belt 138,292 44%  3-D seismic; drill two wells
Hingeline .................... Overthrust Belt 18,056 100%  Assessing future of play
Williston . .................... Williston 172,761 ~ 60%  Marketing interest
Tri-State ..................... D] 213,232 47%  Marketing interest

(1) Project net acreage is the amount of our net leasehold acreage at December 31, 2006 that we have associated
with each of our exploration projects. ’

(2) Average working interest is based on leasehold acreage at December 31, 2006. Also, the working interest
numbers are subject to the sale of working interests to industry partners in connection with our joint
exploration strategy.

(3) Of the exploration activities planned for 2007 that are included in this table, some already have occurred.
With respect to those that have not occurred, our actual activities may change depending on regulatory
approvals, seasonal conditions and other factors, including our ability to enter into joint exploration
agreements with joint drilling obligations with industry partners. For a more detailed description of
proposed activities, see the description of each project in the basin sections below.

(4) Represents an exploration project that extends an existing development project.

(5) Portions of the exploration program currently are not included in our 2007 capital expenditure budget as
these activities are contingent upon obtaining an industry partner pursuant to a joint exploration agreement
for the prospect or revising our capital expenditure budget. ‘

(6) Includes an additional 130,346 net undeveloped acres that are subject to drill-to-earn agreements.

(7) Consists of 25,714 net undeveloped acres that are subject to a drill-to-earn agreement.

With respect o certain of our exploration projects, we seek industry partners to enter into joint exploration
agreements, which involve the sale of portions of our interests in these projects. The primary objective of this
strategy is to accelerate the testing of our exploration project inventory, and mitigate the capital risk of high
impact exploration projects, while recouping a portion of our initial investment. We have executed these joint

8




exploration agreements with partners in our East Madden, Yellow Jacket, Circus, Big Horn, Grand River, Red
Bank Extension, Red Water, Tri-State, and Cooper Deep exploration projects. We expect to pursue additional
Jjoint exploration projects at Hook, Woodside, Salt Flank, other Wind River areas and several other exploration
areas. In connection with these anticipated joint exploration agreements, we expect to sell approximately 30% to
60% of our working interests and have our partner fund a significant portion of our share of early drilling costs,
depending on the project.

Our Offices

Our company was founded in 2002 and is incorporated in Delaware. Our i:)rincipal executive offices are
located at 1099 18th Street, Suite 2300, Denver, Colorado 80202, and our telephone number at that address is
(303) 293-9100.

Our Strategy . ' 4 '
. . |
The principal elements of our strategy to maximize stockholder value are to:

* Drive Growth Through Internally Generated Projects. We expect to generate long-term reserve and
production’ growth predominantly through our drilling activities. We Il:nalieve our management team’s
experience and expertise enable us to identify, evaluate and develop new natural gas and oil reservoirs.
Throughout our operations, we apply technology, including advanced drilling and completion
techniques and new geologic and seismic applications. From incepticin through December 31, 2006, we
participated in the drilling of 1,021 gross wells. We plan to pammpate in the drilling of a total of 406
gross wells in 2007.

*  Pursue High Potential Projects. We have assembled several projects that we believe provide future
long-term drilling inventories. In addition to our development areas, \:.ve are involved in multiple
exploration projects. Our team of 18 geologists and geophysicists is dedicated to generating new
geologic concepts. Our long-term objective is to allocate between 70"%: and 90% of our capital budget
to development projects, with the balance allocated to higher risk, higher potential exploration projects.
We may also seek partners to enter into joint exploration agreements jn-order to mitigate our capital
risk and accelerate our exposure to potential reserves and production in these high potential projects.

¢ Focus on Natural Gas in the Rocky Mountain Région. We intend tol capitalize on the large estimated
undeveloped natural gas resource base in the Rocky Mountains, whlle selectively pursuing attractive
oil opportunities in the region. We believe thé Rockies represent one of the few natural gas regions in
North America with significant remaining growth potential. All of ou:r production is from the Rockies,
and for 2006 approximately 92% was natural gas. We expect that as future pipeline capacity is built
over the next few years, we will have additional markets for our gas,

*  Reduce Costs and Maximize Operational Control. Qur objective is t(‘) generate profitable growth and

- high returns for our stockholders. We expect that our unit cost struclu're will benefit from economies of
scale as we grow, maintaining high percentage operatorship of our reserves and production, and our
continuing cost management initiatives and technology application. A]s we manage our growth, we are
actively focusing on managing lease operating and gathering expenses, general and administrative
costs, and depreciation, depletion and amortization. It is strategically important to us to serve as
operator of our properties when possible, as that allows us to exert greater control over costs and timing
in our exploration, development and production activities. We operated approximately 95% of our
December 2006 production and, as of December 31, 2006, we owned an average working interest of
approximately 64.2% in our December 2006 production.

¢ Pursue Reserve and Leasehold Acquisitions. Past acquisitions have played an important role in
establishing our asset base. We intend to use our experience and regional expertise to supplement our
drill-bit growth strategy with complementary acquisitions that have the potential to provide long-term
drilling inventories or that have undeveloped leasehold positions suchias our May 2006 acquisition of
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properties in the Powder River Basin in the area-of our activities in that basin. We actively review
acquisition opportunities on an ongoing basis. -

Competitive Strengths

We have a number of strengths that we believe will help us successfully execute our strategy.

Areas of Operation

Proven Track Record of Production and Reserve Growth. We have increased production and reserves
by double-digit percentage growth rates each year that we have been in existence. In 2002, we
produced 6.6 Befe and, in 2006, we produced 52.1 Befe. Proved reserves grcw from 119 Bcfe at year-
end 2002 to 428 Bcfe at year-end 2006.

Experienced Management Team. We believe our management team’s experience and expertise in the
Rocky Mountains provide a distinct competitive advantage. Our 11 corporate officers average 20 years
of experience working in the industry. Qur Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer and most
other members of our management team worked together as executives or advisors for many years with
Barrett Resources Corporation, a publicly-traded Rocky Mountain oil and gas company that was
founded in 1980 and sold in 2001 in a transaction valued at approximately $2.8 billion.

Inventory of Growth Opportunities. We have established an asset base of 1,268,513 net undeveloped
leasehold acres as of December 31, 2006, as well as an additional 156,060 net undeveloped acres that
are subject to drill-to-earn agreements, and we have multiple exploration projects. We had 3,566
identified drilling locations as of December 31, 2006, including our drill-to-earn acreage. From
inception through December 31, 2006, we participated in the drilling of 1,021 gross wells. In 2007, we
plan to participate in the drilling of 406 gross wells across our operations.

Expertise with Unconventional Resources. Approximately 70% of our properties are classified as
unconventional resources, including shale gas plays, coalbed methane, basin-centered tight gas,
fractured oil, and biogenic gas. In February 2006, the DOE estimated that production from
unconventional resources in the lower 48 states would increase by 27% from 2004 through 2030,
whereas production in the lower 48 states from condensate, conventional and offshore would decline
during that same period.

Financial Flexibility. As of December 31, 2006, we had $41.3 million in cash. At December 31, 2006,
the outstanding balance under our $400.0 million credit facility was $188:0 million. We are committed
to maintaining a conservative financial position to preserve our financial flexibility. We have hedged
approximately 65% of our 2007 estimated production at levels that we expect to give us attractive rates
of return. We believe that our operating cash flow, planned asset sales, and available borrowing
capacity under our credit facility provide us with the financial flexibility to pursue our currently
planned exploration and development activities and leasehold acquisitions.

Significant Employee Investment. All of our corporate officers and substantially all our employees
own our stock or stock options. As a result, our management team and other employees have interests
that are aligned with those of our stockholders.

3

Uinth Basin

Our development and exploration activities in the Uinta Basin began in April 2002 and aré focused on
various geologic play types in several locations in the basin. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we had
capital expenditures of $120.0 million, which included participating in the drilling of 36 wells, of which 31 were
completed as of year end and of which two were completed as of February 9, 2007, We operated 61 gross wells
in this basin as of December 31, 2006. In our current capital budget, we estimate our capital expenditures in 2007
will be $165 to $180 million in the Uinta Basin area to fund our interests in 65 additional gross wells and
infrastructure improvements. '
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West Tavaputs

We serve as operator of our interests in the West Tavaputs area. Primary targets at West Tavaputs include
gas-productive sands of the Wasatch and Mesaverde formations and, with effettive application of new fracturing
techniques and 3-D seismic, we have increased our ability to commercialize those reservoirs. With the success of
our #4-12D well, we have confirmed the discovery of new gas reservoirs in th deeper Dakota, Entrada and
Navajo formations in our 2005 Peters Point #6-7D wildcat well.

Qur natural gas production at West Tavaputs is gathered and compressed lby our facilities and delivered to
markeéts on the Questar pipeline system. We recently entered into precedent agreements with Questar Gas 1o
subscribe for firm transportation arrangements on an expansion project as well as additional processing that we
believe will provide adequate capability to move anticipated gas volumes from West Tavaputs. We also are
negotiating precedent agreements with Questar Gas to subscribe for processing services to ensure our gas will
meet hydrocarbon dewpoint specifications on the Questar southern system.

Full development of the West Tavaputs area will require the completion o’f an environmental impact
statement, or EIS, which we initiated in February 2005 and which we expect to be issued in the fourth quarter of
2007 or first quarter of 2008. See “—Operations—Environmental Matters and Regulation®.

Hill Creek
Within the Hill Creek area, we hold interest in 10 wells that targeted the Dakota, Entrada and Wingate

formations at depths down to 11,900 feet. No drilling is planned for 2007.

Lake Canyon/Blacktail Ridge/Brundage Canyon

Lake Canyon. Lake Canyon is an exploration project that targets Green Rlver formation oil zones to depths
of 5,500 feet and oil zones in the Wasatch to depths of 8,000 feet. In 2006, Wasatch formation oil production was
established from the #1 DLB 12-15-56 well. Our 2006 capital program in this ;?rea included the drilling of four
gross productive Green River formation wells and two additional Wasatch formation wells that currently are
being tested. !

In July 2004, we and an industry partner entered into an exploration and dévelopment agreement with the
Ute Indian Tribe of the Uintah and Ouray Reservation, or the Ute Tribe, to explore for and develop oil and
natural gas on approximately 125,000 of their net undeveloped acres that are located in Duchesne and Wasatch
Counties, Utah. This drill-to-earn agreement was revised in September 2004 to[mclude the Ute Deve]opment
Corporation as a party and was approved by the Department of Interior’s Bureau of Indian Affairs, or BIA, in
October 2004. Pursuant to this agreement, we have the right to earn up to a 75% working interest in the Wasatch
formation and deeper horizons, for which we serve as operator, plus up to a 25% interest in shallower Green
River formations. To earn these interests pursuant to this agreement, we and our partner are reqmred to drill 13
deep wells and 21 shallow wells prior to December 31, 2009. The Ute Tribe has an option Lo participate for a
25% working interest in wells drilled pursuant to the agreement.

Blacktail Ridge. In December, 2006, we entered into an exploration and dc}:velopment agreement with the
Ute Tribe and the Ute Development Corporation to ‘explore for and develop oil Iand natural gas on approximately
51,000 of their net undeveloped acres that are located in Duchesne County, Utah. Pursuant to this agreement, we
" serve as operator and have the right to earn up to-a 50% working interest in all formations. To earn these interests
pursuant to this agreement; we are required to drill five Wasatch wells prior to December 31, 2007, and eight
Wasatch wells per year thereafter. The Ute Tribe has an option to participate fot a 50% working interest in wells
drilled pursuant to the agreement.

Brundage Canyon. In September 2004, we entered into a drill-to-earn agn':emem with the same industry
partner as with our Lake Canyon prospect pursuant to which we serve as operator and have the right to earn a
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75% working interest in the Wasatch formation and deeper horizons on existing exploration and development
agreements that now encompass 49,000 acres within the Brundage Canyon field by drilling a deep exploration
test well, This field is located on the Ute Tribe’s lands and is situated adjacent to and just east of the acreage in
the Lake Canyon prospect covered by our agreement with the Ute Tribe. We commenced the drilling of our
initial deep exploratory well in Brundage Canyon in November 2004 and abandoned it in January 2005, pending
further evaluation.

Hook and Woodside

We plan to continue to acquire leasehold acreage through 2007 in these prospects in the southwestern
portion of the Uinta Basin. We then plan-to sell a portion of our interest to an industry partner. Four wells
currently are scheduled for this prospect in 2007 to evaluate various geologic concepts.

Piceance Basin

The Piceance Basin is located in northwestern Colorado. We entered the Piceance Basin on September 1,
2004, when we purchased producing and undeveloped properties from Calpine Corporation and Calpine Natural
Gas L.P., which included 25,985 gross and 19,180 net acres in and around Gibson Gulch field, for approximately
$137.0 million.

Our total leasehold position in the Piceance Basin as of December 31, 2006 consisted of 17,033 gross and
13,637 net undeveloped acres and 3,621 gross and 2,810 net developed acres, all of which are in our Gibson
Gulch development area. Qur estimated net proved reserves in the Piceance Basin at year end 2006 were 145.6
Befe.

Gibson Gulch

The Gibson Gulch area is a basin-centered gas play along the north side of the Divide Creek anticline at the
eastern end of the Piceance Basin's productive Mesaverde trend. Although we drill on a 20-acre well pattern, we
have received authority for development on a 10-acre pattern. Additionally, we are using recently acquired three-
component 3-D seismic to enhance our development program. Our natural gas production in this basin currently
is gathered through our own gathering system and delivered to markets through a variety of pipelines including
pipelines owned by Questar Pipeline Company, Northwest Pipeline and Colorado Interstate Gas (“CIG™).

At December 31, 2006, we held interests in 238 gross (214.4 net) producing wells that produced 47.7
MMcfe/d net to our interest in the month of December 2006 with an average working interest of 79.25%. We
serve as operator for 98% of our production in the Piceance Basin based on December 2006 production. In our
current capital budget, we estimate our capital expenditures for 2007 will be $170.0-$175.0 million to participate
in the drilling of 96 gross wells (79 net wells) in the Gibson Gulch area, including several 10-acre pilots, and to
expand our compression and gathering facilities. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we had capital
expenditures of $138.2 million, which included participating in the drilling of 68 wells, of which 57 were
completed as of year end and of which eight were completed as of February 11, 2007.

Wind River Basin

The Wind River Basin is located in central Wyoming. Our activities in the area are concentrated primarily in
the eastern Wind River Basin. Our Wind River Basin development operations are conducted in four general
project areas, three of which are located along the greater Waltman Arch area: Cave Gulch, Cooper Reservoir
and Wallace Creek. We serve as operator in all these areas. In addition, we have a number of exploration
projects, some of which are in areas of the basin where we have no existing development operations, We are
seeking industry pariners to enter into joint exploration agreements, which would involve the sale of a portion of
our interests and joint drilling obligations for certain exploration projects in the Wind River Basin.
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. addition, we also produce from the shallower Lance and Fort Union formations.| |

Wallace Creek

Our total leasehold position in the Wind River Basin as of December 31, 2006 consisted of 399,792 gross
and 218,699 net undeveloped acres and 6,870 gross and 5,242 developed acres. Our estimated net proved
reserves in the Wind River Basin at year end 2006 were 62.8 Befe. Our current operauons in the basin include
field expansion programs, recompletions as well as exploration activities. Our n;atura] gas production in this basin
is gathered through our own gathering systems and delivered to markets through pipelines owned by Kinder
Morgan Interstate and CIG.

Cave Gulch

The Cave Gulch field is a structural- -stratigraphic play along the Owl Creek Thrust at the northern end of the
Waltman Arch. Our primary focus is on the overpressured deep Frontier, Muddy and Lakota formations. In

4

In our current capital budget, we estimate our capital expenditures for 2007, will be $20.0 to $25.0 million in
Cave Gulch, which includes two deep exploration wells and three recompletions. We plan to bring in an industry
partner for the drilling of these deep wells. In the year ended December 31, 2006 we spent $23.7 million of
capital expenditures, which included participating in the drilling of one well, onc% recompletion, and making

‘facilities improvements to-our deep Lakota well.

Cooper Reservoir

Qur position in the Cooper Reservoir field lies six miles south of Cave Gulch along the Waltman Arch. The
primary producing formations at Cooper are the Lance and Fort Union formatlons at depths ranging from 3,200
to 8,500 feet. Currently, our primary focus is the deep potential we have 1dent1ﬁed utilizing 3-D seismic. In 2006,
we brought in industry partners on 50% of our interests in the deep horizons and drilled our first deep test well.

. This deep test, the Cooper Deep #1 well, currently is being tested. We are using: 3 D seismic technology across

the Cooper Reservonr area to evaluate these and other opportunities.

ln our current capital budget, we estimale our capital expenditures for 2007 will be $4.0 to $7.0 million in
Cooper Reservoir to participate in the drilling of one deep well. During the year ended December 31, 2006, we
spent $6.3 million, which included participating in the drilling of one well.

No wells were drilled in Wallace Creek during 2006. The Raderville and Muddy formations are the primary

" producers in this field and are found at a general depth range of 7,000 and 10, 000 feet, respectively. We also

recognize a potential coalbed methane play within the multiple coal beds of the I}deeteetse formation at depths of
1,500 to 4,500 feet. In 2007, we plan to drill one Meeteetse coalbed test well in order to gather additional
reservoir data.

Powder River Basin

The Powder River Basin is primarily located in northeastern Wyoming. Thc basin contains the Rockies’
most active drilling area: the Wyodak and Big George coalbed methane plays. In' May 2006, we added to our
position in the basin with our acquisition of CH#4 Energy Corporation. We subsequemly sold a portion of CH4’s
properties. As of December 31, 2006, we held approximately 61,535 gross and 38,878 net developed leasehold
acres and 41,697 gross and 88,129 net undeveloped leasehold acres in the Powdelr River Basin. Our estimated net
proved reserves in the basin at year end 2006 were 27.0 Befe. In December 2006i we produced a net 16.0
MMcfe/d

Our key project areas are located in both the Big George and Wyodak fairways. In our current capital

-budget, we estimate our capital expenditures in the Powder River Basin for 2007 ,will be $25 to $30 million,
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which includes participating in 229 wells primarily in the Big George Fairway. In the year ended December 31,
2006 we drilled 99 wells. Capital expenditures totaled $148.0 million which included $126.7 million of leasehold
acquisition costs primarily related to the acquisition of the CH4 properties. Leasehold acquisition costs include
$36.8 million of a non-cash deferred tax liability associated with the difference between the tax basis of the
properties acquired in the CH4 acquisition and the book basis attributed to the properties under the purchase
method of accounting. As of February 23, 2007, we had the necessary drilling permits and environmental
approvals in place for approximately 80% of the Company operated wells that we plan to drill in 2007. If we do
not receive additional permits for the planned wells, we plan to drill other locations for which we have the
necessary approvals. ‘

Coalbed methane wells typically first produce water in a process called dewatering. This process lowers
pressure, allowing the gas to desorb from the coal and flow to the well bore. As the reservoir pressure declines,
the wells begin producing methane gas at an increasing rate. As the wells mature, the production peaks, stabilizes
and then begins declining. The average life of a coal bed well is approximately seven years.

We have dedicated significant resources to managing regulatory and permitting matters in the Powder River
Basin to achieve efficient processing of federal permits and resource management plans. See “—Operations—
Environmental Matters and Regulation™.

Our natural gas production in this basin is gathered through our own gathering systems and, for a majority
of our gas, delivered to markets through additional gathering and pipeline systems owned by Fort Union Gas
Gathering, LLC and Thunder Creek Gas Services,

Big Horn Basin

The Big Horn Basin is located in north central Wyoming and lies west and north of the Powder River and
Wind River Basins, respectively. We had 83,208 net acres in this play at December 31, 2006. Although the Big
Horn Basin is largely an oil producing basin, we are pursuing both conventional stratigraphic and structural gas
plays and unconventional basin-centered gas plays in the basin. In 2006, we brought in an industry partner and
acquired a 42 square mile 3-D seismic survey. In 2007, we plan to re-enter an existing well to test several
additional formations, drill one exploration well, and acquire additional 3-D seismic as part of our ongoing
program to assess the basin-centered gas potential of the basin. We serve as operator in this project,

Overthrust Belt

Montana Overthrust

We had 138,292 net undeveloped acres in the Montana overthrust belt as of December 31, 2006. In 2005,
we acquired approximately 68 square miles of 3-D seismic. In 2006, we brought in an industry partner for cash
and properties and acquired additional 3-D seismic. In 2007, we plan to drill twe exploration wells and acquire
additional 3-D seismic. We have a 50% working interest in this project and serve as operator.

Utah Hingeline

Our Utah Hingeline exploration play is located in the thrust belt of central Utah. As of December 31, 2006,
we held interests in 18,096 net undeveloped acres. We have no drilling plans for 2007.

Paradox Basin

The Paradox Basin is located in southwestern Colorado and southeastern Utah, and is adjacent to the San )
Juan Basin of New Mexico and Colorado. As of December 31, 2006, we owned interests in 152,294 gross acres
and 85,241 net undeveloped acres and serve as operator in this area.
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Salt Flank

The Salt Flank exploration prospect explores for gas fields in stratlgraphlc,and structural traps associated
with salt diapirs. We mtend to build our acreage position in this play through acquisitions or other arrangements
with acréage owners in the area. During 2006, we acquired a 21 square mile 3- D seismic survey at our Pine
Ridge prospect. Dependmg on our evaluauon of the 3-D data, we plan to drill’ an exploratlon well in late 2007.

t
-

Yellow Jacket

This prospect targets natural gas from a fractured shale reservoir at depths'of 4,500 to 6,500 feet. In 2006,
we continued acreage acquisition, sold a portion of our interest to an industry partner, and drilled two exploratory
test wells to evaluate the Gothic shale gas potential. We currently are testing the results of the first two wells and
plan to drill-with our partner two additional exploration wells in 2007. We have an average 48% working interest
in this project.

- Williston Basin
The Williston Basin, which is located in western North Dakota, northwestern South Dakota and eastern
Montana, is a predominantly oil-producing basin and produces from 11 major g'eologic horizons that range in
depth from apprommately 1,000 to over 14,000 feet. While we have interests m a substantial number of wells in
the Williston Basin, which target several different zones, our exploration and development activities have been
concentrated in three of the oil producmg formauons the Madison, Bakken and lhe Red River. We had 138,292
net acres at year- end 2006.

We participated in the drilling of 16 horizontal wells in 2006 as part of our, 2006 capital program of $31.4
million in this arca. We currently are marketing and plan to sell our interests in the Williston Basin in order to
focus on other assets.

'
. - o
. . 1

- Denver-Julesburg Basin l

Tri-State y . ;-

On January 28, 2005, we sold a 50% working interest in our Tri-State Ieasehold to an industry partner and
entered into an agreement to jointly explore this area, OQur exploration program targets the biogenic shale gas
potential of the Niobrara formation at depths less than 2,000 feet and the convenuonal oil potential of Kansas
City-Lansing, Marmaton and Cherokee Formations of lhe Pennsylvanian System at depths of 4,000 to 4,800
feet. Lo

During the year ended December 31, 2006, we parucnpated in the dnllmg of seven wells, five of which
established gas production, made additional leasehold acquisitions, and acqulred five 3-D seismic surveys. We
are marketing our remaining interests in thlS area in order to focus on other assets. The Company had 213,232 net
acres at year-end 2006.

Oil and Gas Data

Proved Reserves

The following table presents our estimated net proved natural gas and oil reserves and the present value of
our estimated proved reserves at each of December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006 based on reserve reports prepared
by us and reviewed in their entirety by outside independent petroleum engineers. While we are not required by
SEC or accounting regulations or pronouncements to have our estimates reviewed, we are required by our
revolving credit agreement with our lenders to have an independent engineering firm perform a review on our
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estimated reserves. All our proved reserves included in the reserve report are located in North America. Ryder
Scott Company, L.P. reviews all our reserve estimates except for our reserve estimates in the Powder River
Basin, which are reviewed by Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. When compared on a well-by-well or
lease-by-lease basis, some of our estimates of net proved reserves are greater and some are less than the estimates
of outside independent petroleum engineers. However, in aggregate, the independent petroleum engineer
estimates of total net proved reserves are within 0% of our internal estimates. Our estimates of net proved
reserves have not been filed with or included in reports to any federal authority or agency other than the
Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with our registration statement for our initial public offering.
The Standardized Measure shown in the table is not intended to represent the current market value of our
estimated natural gas and oil reserves.

" As of December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Estimated Net Proved Reserves:
Natural gas (Bef) ......... ... ... o e 257.8 306.0 3777
OilMMBDIS) .. ..o e 5.7 5.8 85
Total (Befe) ..o . 2923 L3410 428.4
Percent proveddeveloped ............... ... ... . ..., 61.1% 61.1% 58.1%
Standardized Measure (in millions) (1) .................. $466.1 $782.5 $529.3

(1} The Standardized Measure represents the present value of estimated future cash inflows from proved natural
gas and oil reserves, less future development, production, and income tax expenses, discounted at 10% per
annum to reflect timing of future cash flows. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
requirements, our reserves and the future net revenues were determined using market prices for natural gas -
and oil at each of December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006, which were $5.52 per MMBt1u of gas and $43.46 per
barrel of oil at December 31, 2004, $7.72 per MMBtu of gas and $61.04 per barrel of oil at December 31,
2005, and $4.46 per MMBtu of gas and $61.06 per barrel of oil at December 31, 2006. These prices were
adjusted by lease for quallty, transportation fees and regional price differences.

Proved developed reserves are reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with
existing equipment and operating methods. Proved undeveloped reserves are proved reserves that are expected to
be recovered from new wells drilled to known reservoirs on undriiled acreage for which the existence and
recoverability of such reserves can be estimated with reasonable certainty, or from existing wells on which a
relatively major expenditure is required to establish production.

The data in the above table represents estimates only. Oil and natural gas reserve engineering is an
estimation of accumulations of oil and natural gas that cannot be measured exactly. The accuracy of any reserve
estimate is a function of the quality of available data and engineering and geological interpretation and judgment.
Accordingly, reserve estimates may vary from the quantities of oil and natural gas that are ultimately recovered.
See “ Item 1A. Risk Factors™.

At year-end 2006, we revised our proved reserves upward by 12.4 Befe, excluding pricing revisions. This
revision was primarily the result of increased performance of wells drilled during the last half of 2005 and the
first hatf of 2006. The pricing revision at year-end 2006 at prices of $4.46 per MMBtu of gas and $61.06 per
barrel of oil, relative to year-end 2005 prices of $7.72 per MMBtu and $61.04 per barrel of vil, was downward
33.8 Bcfe. These prices were adjusted by lease for quality, transportation fees and regional price differences.

During years 2004 and 2005, we participated in drilling 610 gross wells. Of the 610 wells, 158 were
producing at less than 75% of the original forecast at December 31, 2005. The revision in forecast of these wells
resulted in negative Teserve revisions, excluding prices effect, of 32 and 24.7 Bcefe for year-end 2004 and 2005,
respectively. These revisions resulted from estimating reserves with insufficient performance to define long term
production profiles. In order to reduce the risk of negative reserve revisions, we place lower reserve values on
new wells in areas of insufficient performance. We w1l] only increase the reserve values after sufficient
performance data is acquired. ,
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We use our internal reserve estimates rather than the estimates from the independent engineering firms because
we believe that our reserve and operations engineers are more knowledgeable abciut the wells due to our continual
analysis throughout the year as compared to the relatively short term analysis performed by the independent
engineers. We use our internal reserve estimates on all properties regardless of the positive or negative variance to
the independent engineers. If a variance greater than 10% occurs at the field levcll it may suggest that a difference in
methodology or evaluation techniques exists between the Company and the mdependenl engineers. These
differences are investigated by the Company and the independent engineers and d)lscussed with the independent
engineers to confirm that we used the proper methodologies and techniques in esllimating reserves for these fields.
These differences are not resolved 1o a specific tolerance at the field or property level.

Our outside independent engineers, Ryder Scott Company, L.P. and Nethe'rland Sewell & Associates, Inc.,
perform a well-by-well review of all of our properties and of our estimates of proved reserves and then provide
us with their review reports concerning our estimates. The reviews performed by Netherland, Sewell &
Associates, Inc. for our Powder River Basin CBM properties and Ryder Scott Cpmpany, L.P. for the remainder
of our properties, as requested by our company, are the collective application of a series of procedures by each
engineer. These review procedures may be the same or different from each othelr as well as those review
procedures performed by independent engineering firms for other 0il and gas companies. These review reports do
not state the degree of their concurrence with the accuracy of our estimate for the proved reserves attributable to
our interest- in any specific basin, property or well.

In the case of the properties reviewed by each of the two independent engineering firms as of December 31,
2006, in the aggregate, Ryder Scott Company, L.P. was 6.2% below our reserve estimate and Netherland,
Sewell & Associates, Inc. was 7.9% below our reserve estimate. For estimates of proved reserves at
December 31, 2006, our outside independent reserve engineers arrived at reserve estimates that are greater than
10% above ar below our own estimates for approximately 52% of our wells. ThlS represents approximately 45%-
of the total proved reserves covered in the review reports. At the material property level, the independent
engineer reserve estimates range between 21.3% above our internal reserve estimates to 2.4% below our
estimates in the year-end 2006 reserve report. At year-end 2005, at the matenal‘property level, the independent
engineer reserve estimates range between 1.0% above our internal reserve estimates to 0.3% below our estimates.
At year-end 2004, at the material property level, the independent engineer reserve estimates range between (.3%
above our internal reserve estlmales 10 13.8% below our estimates.

The Ryder Scott review process of our wells and reserve estimates is mtenclded 10 cletermme the percent
difference, in the aggregate, of our internal net proved reserve estimate and the reserve estimate of Ryder Scott.
The review process includes the following:

* The Ryder Scott engineer performs an independent decline curve analysis on proved produéing wells
based on all production data and pressure information available and pertinent, We provide this
information to Ryder Scott. : -

» The Ryder Scott engineer may verify this data with the public data.

» The Ryder Scott engineer uses his or her individual interpretation of the information and knowledge of
the reservoir and area to make an independent analysis.

*  For the reserve estimate of proved non-producing and proved undeveloped locations, the Ryder Scott
engineer and other Ryder Scott technical personnel he or she deems n:ecessa.ry will review our geologic
maps, log data, core data, pertinent pressure data, test information and pertinent technical analyses, as
well as production data from offsetting producers. )

+ The Ryder Scott technical staff may prepare independent maps and vcrlumetric analyses or make
adjustments they deem appropriate to the maps or volumetric analysis provided for purposes of the
reserve review. '

*» The Ryder Scott engineer will verify any change in well spacing before accepting locations and will
review our production logs, volumetric analyses, well tests and any other data pertammg to drainage
issues before estlmaung reserves.
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The Ryder Scott engineer will estimate the hydrocarbon recovery based upon their knowledge and
experience.

The Ryder Scott engmeer does nol verify our working and net revenue mtcrests or product price

- deductions.

The Ryder Scott elnginecr does not verify our capital costs although they may ask for confirming
information.

The Ryder Scott engineer does not review historic operating cost, revenue or pricing information.
The Ryder Scott engineer confirms the oil and gas prices used for the SEC reserve estimate.
Ryder Scott does not estimate the future net revenue of our properties.

Ryder Scott will confirm that their reserve estimate is within a 10% variance of our internal reserve
estimate based on the ownership, capital and operating expenses utilized by us in our evaluation, in the
aggregate, before a review letter is issued.

The review by Ryder Scott is not performed such that differences on a well level are resolved to any
specific tolerance.

The reserve review letter provided by Ryder Scott states that the proved reserves (as defined by Rule
4-10(¢a)}2) of Regulation S-X) are “reasonable in the aggregate” following an analysis using their independent
forecasts with economic parameters and other factual data provided by us and accepted by Ryder Scott.

. The Nethertand, Sewell & Associates, Inc. (NSAI) review process of our wells and reserve estimates for our
Powder River Basin CBM properties is intended to determine the percent difference, in the aggregate, of our
internal net proved reserve estimate and future net revenue (discounted 10%) and the reserve estimate and net
revenue as determined by NSAI The review process includes the following:

~ The NSAI engineer performs an independent decline curve analysis on proved producing wells based"

“on production and pressure data. This data is provided to NSAI by our company as well as other

companies operating in the Powder River Basin.
The NSAI engineer may verify the production data with the public data.

The NSAI engineer uses his or her individual interpretation of the information and knowledge of the
reservoir and area to make an independent analysis of proved producing reserves.

The NSAI technical staff will prepare independent maps and volumetric analyses on our properties and
offsetting properties. They review our geologic maps, log data, core data, pertinent pressure data, test
information and pertinent technical analyses, as well as data from offsetting producers.

For the reserve estimates of proved non-producing and proved undeveloped locations, the NSAl
engineer will estimate the potential for depletion by generating a potentiometric surface map which
relates directly to remaining gas- in- place and analyzmg this information with the maps generated
earlier in the process.

The NSAI engineer will estimate the hiydrocarbon recovery of the remaining gas-in-place based upon
their knowledge and experience.

The NSAI engineer does not verify our wdrkiﬂg and net revenue interests or product price deductions.
The NSAI engineer does not verify our capital costs although they may ask for confirming information.

The NSAI engmeer reviews 12 months of operating cost, revenue and pncmg information that we
provide,

The NSAI engineer confirms the oil and gas prices used for the SEC reserve estimate.

NSAI wﬂl confirm that their reserve estimate is within a 10% variance of our internal net reserve estimate
and estimated future net revenue (discounted 109%}), in the aggregate, before a review letter is issued.
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* The review by NSAI is not performed such that differences in reserves or revenue on a well level are- |
resolved to any specific tolerance.

The reserve review letter provided by NSAI states that “in our opinion the estimates of Bill Barrett’s proved
reserves and future revenue shown herein are, in the aggregate, reasonable” followmg an independent estimation
of reserve quantities with economic parameters and other factual data prowdec} by us and accepted by NSAL

Future prices received for production and costs may vary, perhaps signiﬁéam]y, from the prices and costs
assumed for purposes of these estimates. The Standardized Measure shown should not be construed as the current
market value of the reserves. The 10% discount factor used to calculate present value, which is required by
Financial Accounting Standards Board pronouncements, is not necessarily the most appropriate discount rate.
The present value, no matter what discount rate is used, is materially affected by assumptions as to timing of
future preduction, which may prove to be inaccurate.

From time to time, we engage Ryder Scott and NSALI to review and/or evz{luate the reserves of properties ~
that we are considering purchasing and to provide technical consulting on welljtesting. Neither Ryder Scott nor
NSAI nor any of their respective employees has any interest in those properties and the compensation for these
engagements is not contingent on their estimates of reserves and future cash inflows for the subject properties.
During 2006, we paid Ryder Scott $62,542 for reviewing our reserve estimates|and $0 for other consulting
services. During 2006, we paid NSAI $66,146 for reviewing our reserve estimates and $0 for other consulting
SErvices.

Production and Price History

The foIloWing table sets forth information regarding net production of oil,{natural gas and natural gas
liquids, and certain price and cost information for each of the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
Production Data: ‘
Natural gas (MMecf) (1) ... ... .. 28,864 36,287 47,928
O (MBDBIS) oot R 474 523 696
Combinedvolumes(MMcfe)........................................1.. 31,708 .~ 39,425 52,104
Daily combined volumes (MMcfe/d) ............ ... ... o] . 86.6 108.0 142.8
Average Prices (2): i
Natural gas (per Mcf) ... ... i i e $ 510 § 7.16 $§ 640
Oil(per Bbl) .. o e I 39.49 46.68 53.50
Combined (per Mcfe) . ... ..o i ! e 5.23 721 6.60
Average Costs (per Mcfe): . -
Lease operating XPense . . .. .v v vt et e b $ 046 % 050 % 057
Gathering and transportalion eXpense ..............ciiiaiiiannaaan .. 0.19 030+ 030
Production taxexpense . ... ... ... ool 0.63 085 " .50
Depreciation, depletion and amortization (3) .. .......................... o 2.15 2.27 - 2.69

General and administrative (4) .. .. ... . i e e 0.57 0.62 0.53

(1) Production of natural gas liquids is included in natural gas revenues and production. _

(2) Includes the effects of hedging transactions, which reduced average natural gas prices by $0.43 per Mcf in
2004, $0.57 per Mcf in 2005, and increased average natural gas prices by $0 46 per Mcf in 2006.

(3) The depreciation, depletion and amortization per Mcfe for the year ended December 31, 2006 excludes the
production associated with our properties held for sale throughout the year'm the Uinta, Williston and DJ
Basins as these properties were excluded from amortization beginning with the point at which’these
properties were classified as held for sale.
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- (4) ' General and administrative expense presented herein excludes non-cash stock-based compensation of
$3.0 million, $3.2 million and $6.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006,
respectively, which equates to $0.10 per Mcfe, $0.08 per Mcfe and $0.12 per Mcfe, respectively. Non-cash
stock-based compensation is combined with general and administrative expense for a total of $21.1 million,

* $27.8 million and $34.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively, in the

Consolidated Statement of Operations. Management believes the separate presentation of the non-cash
component of general and administrative expense is useful because the cash portion provides a better
understanding of our required cash for general and administrative expenses. We also believe that this
disclosure allows more accurate comparison to our peers, which may have higher or lower costs associated

with equity grants.

Productive Wells

The following table sets forth information at December 31, 2006 relating to the productive wells in which
we owned a working interest as of that date. Productive wells consist of producing wells and wells capable of
production, including natural gas wells awaiting pipeline connections to commence deliveries and oil wells

awaiting connection to production facilities. Gross wells are the total number of producing

wells in which we

have an interest, and net wells are the sum of our fractional working interests owned in gross wells.

2,304,215

~ Gas Qil
Gross Net Gross  Net
.’ Basin Wells  Wells Wells Wells
PICBaANCE ..\ttt e e 238 2144 — —
WINAd RIvEr (1) . oot i i i e et e e 171 1531 . — —_
Uinta ........ O 76 654 1 0.8
Powder RIver ... ... . i e e s 505 350.7 43 84
Williston (1) .. .. . i e s e — - 105 412
Big HOIM . ot e 2 1 — —
DJ Basin ...................... R R I _6 3 - T
01 998 787.6 149 504
(1) The two wells that had completions in more than one zone are each shown as only one gross well.
Developed and Undeveloped Acreage
The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2006 relating to our leasehold acreage.
Developed Undeveloped
Acreage (1) Acreage (2)
- Basin Gross (3) Net(d)  Gross(3) Net (4)
U PICRANCE . . oot e 3621 2810 17,033 13,637
Wind River ... e 6,870 5242 399,792 218,699
L0517 P 12,064 10,775 218322 181,191 (5)
Powder River ....... ... ... i 61,535 38,878 141,697 88,129
WILStON (0} .. oo e 14,904 11,099 275,220 161,662
Green RIVET . .. o i e i et et e — — 61,443 52,097
Denver-Julesburg (6) .......... [ 1,894 947 450,250 212,285
CParadox ... e — — 152,294 85,241
BigHom .................. e DT 801 374 213971 82,834
Montana Overthrust . ... :... ... . i — — 311,889 138,292
Utah Hingeline ........... ... i, — — 26,417 18,096
Other ..... T 1,201 884 35,887 16,350
Total ... e 102,890 1,268,513 (5)
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(1)
2

3
€Y

(5)
6

Developed acres are acres spaced or assigned to productive wells.
Undeveloped acres are acres on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would permit

.- the production of commercial quantities of oil or natural gas, regardless of whether such acreage contains

proved reserves. -

A gross acre is an acre in which a working interest is owned. The number of gross acres is the total number
of acres’in which a working interest is owned.

A net acre is deemed to exist when the sum of the fractional ownership working interests in gross acres

-equals one. The number of net acres is the sum of the fractional workmg interests owned in gross acres

expressed as whole numbers and fractions. thereof,
An additional 156,060 net undeveloped acres that are subject to drill-to-earn agreements are not included.
These properties are held for sale as of December 31, 2006,

Many of the leases comprising the undeveloped acreage set forth in the table above will expire at the end of

their respective primary terms unless production from the leasehold acreage has been established prior to such
date, in which event thie lease will remain in effect until the cessation of productlon We generally have been able
to obtain extensions of the primary terms of our federal leases for the period that we have been unable to obtain
drilling permits due to a pending Environmental Assessment, Environmental Impact Statement or related legal
challenge. The following table sets forth as of December 31, 2006 the expu‘atlon periods of the gross and net
acres that are subject to leases summarized in the above table of undeveloped a}:reage s

(1

Drilling Results ,

S . . ~ Undeveloped Acres

Expiring

Twelve Months Ending: r~ ) ) Gross  ~  Net
December 31, 2007 AR e i P 208,511 100,596
December 31,2008 ....... e .. 474,610 217,898
December 31,2009 ....... s e e REEERe .. 202,053 105,162
December 31,2010 ............... T I . 305,268 142,750
December 31, 2011 and later (D) e .- 1,113,773 702,107

TOE .ottt e e e L. 2,304,215 1,268,513

‘Includes 393.255 gross and 183,574 net undeveloped acres held by production from other leasehold acreage

or held by federal umts

The following table sets forth information with respect to wells completed during the periods indicated. The

information should not be considered indicative of future performance, nor shopld it be assumed that there is
necessarily any correlation between the number of productive wells drilled, quantities of réserves found or
economic valte. Productive wells are those that produce commercial quantitiesiof hydrocarbons, regardless of

whether they produce a reasonable rate of return.

Year Ended ' Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
) 2004 | 2005 2006 (1)
) ) . . _ Gross Net Gross Net Gross | Net
Development-. C o T | ' ‘
Productive .. ............. e 150 1479 9’8 823 48 411
- Dry ... i e 2 1.7 3 230 — —
Exploratory '_ I ‘
Productive . ....... ... .. ... oLl 93 799 103 84.9 121 85.2
150 AU 13 100 's 3.3 3 1.6
' Total ' ‘ |
Productive ................. ... .. 243 227.8 2Q 1 167.2 169 126.3
DIy oo, e 15 17 8 6.3 3 1.6
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(1} The determination of development and exploratory wells shown in the table above is based on an
interpretation of the definitions of those terms in Rule 4-10(a) of Regulation S-X, which governs financial
disclosures in filings with the SEC, that includes as development wells onty those wells drilled on drilling
locations to which proved undeveloped reserves have been attributed at the time at which drilling of the
wells commenced, and in which all other wells are considered exploratory. We also-are providing -
information with respect to drilling results in which developmeit wells include not only wells drilled on
PUD locations but also wells drilled in a proved area in which proved reserves have been attributed by our
reservoir engineers as of the time of commencement of drilling. On this basis, during 2006, we completed
156 gross (119.7 net) productive and zero gross (zero net) dry development wells and 13 gross (6 6 net)

_productive and three gross (1.6 net) dry exploratory wells.

From inception through December 31, 2006, we participated in dnllmg 1,021 gross wells, of which 705
were completed as producing, 287 were in process of completing or dewatering and 29 were dry holes. Also
during that time, we recompleted 95 gross wells, which are not included in the totals above.

Operations

General

In general, we serve as operator of wells in which we have a greater than 50% interest: In addition, we seek
to be operator of wells in which we have lesser interests. As operator, we obtain regulatory authorizations, design
and manage the development of a well and supervise operation and maintenance activities on a day-to-day basis.
We do not own drilling rigs or other cil field services equipment used for drilling or maintaining wells on
properties we operate. Independent contractors engaged by us provide all the equipment and personnel associated
with these activities. We employ drilling, production, and reservoir engineers, geologists and other specialists
who work to improve production rates, increase reserves, and lower the cost of operating our natural gas and oil
properties.

Marketing and Customers

We market the majority of the natural gas and oil production from properties we operate for both our
account and the account of the other working interest owners in these properties. We sell the majority of our
production to a variety of purchasers under gas purchase contracts with daily, monthly, seasonal, annual or multi-
year terms, all at market prices. We normally sell production to a relatively small number of customers, as is
customary in the exploration, development and production business. However, based on the current demand for
natural gas and oil, and the availability of other purchasers, we believe that the loss of any one or all of our major
purchasers. would not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. For a list
of our purchasers that accounted for 10% or more of our natural gas and oil revenues during the last two calendar
years, see “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—Note 12—Significant Customers and Other
Concentrations”.

We enter into hedging transactions with unaffiliated third parties for portions of our natural gas production
to achieve more predictable cash flows and to reduce our exposure to fluctuations in gas prices. For a- more
detailed discussion, see “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis.of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations—QOverview™ and “—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk”.
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Our natural gas and oil are transported through our own and third party gathermg systems and pipelines, and
we incur gathering and transportation expenses to move our natural gas from the wellhead to a purchaser-
specified delivery point. These expenses vary based on the volume and d:stance shipped, and the fee charged by
the third party transporter. Transportation space on these gathering systems and| pipelines is occasionally limited
and at times unavailable because of repairs or improvements, or as a result of priority transportation agreements
with other gas shippers. While our ability to market our natural gas has been only infrequently limited or delayed,
if transportation space is restricted or is unavailable, our cash flow from the affected properties could be
adversely affected. In certain instances, we enter into firm transportation agreet:nents to provide for pipeline
capacity to flow and sell a portion of our gas volumes. We also may enter into firm sales agreements o ensure
that we are selling to a purchaser who has contracted for pipeline capacity. These agreements are subject to the
limitations discussed above in this paragraph. The following table sets forth mformatmn with respect 1o long
term {greater than one year from December 31, 2006) firm transportation comracls for pipeline capac1ty, which

typically require a demand charge and firm sales contracts.

Type of Arrangement Pipeline System / Location Deliveries (MMBtu/d) Term
FirmSales ...................... Kinder Morgan Interstate 22,000 1197 - 12107
Firm Transport .. ................, WIC Medicine Bow 30,000 1/05 — 3/07
Firm Sales ................ e Questar Pipeline 10,000 4/06 - 12109
Firm Sales ...................... Questar Pipeline 5,000 4/06 - 3/09
Firm Sales ...................... Questar Pipeline 8,500 5/05 - 3/10
Firm Transport . . ................. Questar Pipeline 12,000 11/05— 10/15
Firm Transport ................... Questar Pipeline 25,000 1/07 - 12/16
Firm Transport ... ......oovuuun.. Cheyenne Plains © 9,000 2/05 - 4/17
Firm Transport . .................. Questar Pipeline 25,000 11/07 - 1017
Firm Transport . .................. Questar Pipeline 11,000 4/07 — 9/08
Firm Transport . .........oo.oo.o.. Cheyenne Plains 5,000 5/17 - 4/18
Firm Transport ....... e - Rockies Express - 25,000 1/08 - 6/19
Competition

The oil and natural gas industry is intensely competitive, and we compete with other companies that have
greater resources. Many of these companies not only explore for and produce oil and natural gas, but also carry
on midstream and refining operations and market petroleum and other products on a regional, national or
worldwide basis. These companies may be able to pay more for productive oil and natural gas properties and
exploratory prospects or to define, evaluate, bid for and purchase a greater number of properties and prospects
than our financial or human resources permit. In addition, these companies may have a greater ability to continue
exploration activities during periods of low oil and natural gas market prices. Our larger or integrated
competitors may be able to absorb the burden of existing, and any changes to federal state, local and Native
American tribal laws and regulanons more easily than we can, which would adlversely affect our competitive
position, Qur ability to acquire additional properties and to discover reserves in the future will be dependent upon
our ability to evaluate and select suitable properties and to consummate transacuons in a highly competitive
environment. In addition, because we have fewer financial and human resources than many companies in our
industry, we may be at a disadvantage in bidding for exploratory prospects and' producing oil and natural gas
properties.

Tide to Propem‘esj'

As is customary in the oil and gas industry, we initially conduct only a cursory review of the title to our
properties on which we do not have proved reserves. Prior to the commenceme'm of drilling operations on those
properties, we conduct a thorough title examination and perform curative work with respect to significant
defects. To the extent title opinions or other investigations reflect title defects on those properties, we are
typically responsible for curing any title defects at our expense. We generally will not commence drilling
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operations on a property unti{ we have cured any material title defects on such property. We have obtained title
opinions on substantially all of our producing properties and believe that we have satisfactory title to our
producing properties in accordance with standards generally accepted in the oil and gas industry. Prior to
completing an acquisition of producing natural gas and oil leases, we perform title reviews on the most
significant leases and, depending on the materiality of the properties, we may obtain a title opinion or review
previously obtained title opinions. Our natural gas and oil properties are subject to customary royalty and other
interests, liens for current taxes and other burdens which we believe do not matenially interfere with the use of
our properties or affect of our carrying value of the properties. :

Seasonal Nature of Business

+ Generally, but not always, the demand for natural gas decreases during the summer months and increases
during the winter months. Seasonal anomalies such as mild winters or hot summers sometimes lessen this
fluctuation. In addition, certain natural gas users utilize natural gas storage facilities and purchase some of their
anticipated winter requirements during the summer. This can also lessen seasonal demand fluctuations. Seasonal
weather conditions and lease stipulations can limit our drilling and producing activities and other oil and natural
gas operations in certain areas of the Rocky Mountain region. These seasonal anomalies can pose challenges for
meeting our well drilling objectives and can increase competition for equipment, supplies and personnel during
the spring and summer months, which could lead 1o shortages and increase costs or delay our operations.

Environmental Matters and Regulation

General. Our operations are subject to stringent federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the
discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise relating to environmental protection, Our operations are
subject to the same environmental laws and regulations as other companies in the oil and gas exploration and
production industry. These laws and regulations may:

» require the acquisition of various permits before drilling commences;
= require the installation of expensive pollution control equipment;

+ restrict the types, quantities and concentration of various substances that can be released into the
environment in connection with drilling and production activities;

= limit or prohibit drilling activities on lands lying within wilderness, wetlands and other protected areas;

+ require remedial measures to prevent pollution from former operations, such as pit closure and
plugging of abandoned wells;

* impose substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from our operations;

= with respect to operations affecting federal lands or leases, require time consuming environmental
analysis; and

* expose us to litigation by environmental and other special interest groups.

These laws, rules and regulations may also restrict the rate of oil and natural gas production below the rate -
that would otherwise be pessible. The regulatory burden on the oil and gas industry increases the cost of doing
business and consequently affects profitability. Additionally, Congress and federal and state agencies frequently
revise the environmental laws and regulations, and any changes that result in delay or more stringent and costly
waste handling, disposal and clean-up requirements for the oil and gas industry could have a significant impact
on our operating costs. We believe that we substantially comply with all current applicable environmental laws
and regulations and that our continued compliance with existing requirements will not have a material adverse
impact on our financial condition and results of operations. However, we cannot predict the passage of or
quantify the potential impact of more stringent future laws and regulaticns at this time. For the year ended
December 31, 2006, we did not incur any material capltal expenditures for remediation or retrofit of pollution
control equipment at any of our facilities.
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. : . N .
The environmental laws and regulations which could have a material impact on the oil and natural gas
exploration and production industry are as follows:

National Environmental Policy Act, Qil and natural gas exploration and production activities on federal
lands are subject to the National Environmental Policy Act, or NEPA. NEPA fequires federal agencies, including
the Department of Interior, to evalvate major agency actions having the potentlal to significantly impact the
environment. In the course of such evaluations, an agency will have an enwronmenlal assessment, or EA,
prepared that assesses the potential direct, indirect and cumulative impacts of a proposed project. If impacts are
considered significant, the agency will prepare a more detailed environmental 1mpact study, or EIS, that may be
made available for public review and comment. All of our current exploration and production activities, as well
as proposed exploration and development plans, on federal lands require govel;nmental permits that are subject to
the requirements of NEPA. This process has the potential to delay the developrlnenl of oil and natural gas
projects. Authorizations under NEPA also are subject to protest, appeal or litigation, which can delay or halt
prOjecls

Waste Handling. The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, or RCR{\ and comparable state statutes
affect oil and gas exploration and production activities by imposing regulations on the generation, transportation,
treatment, storage, disposal and cleanup of “hazardous wastes™ and on the disposal of non-hazardous wastes.
Under the auspices of the Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, the individual states administer some or all
of the provisions of RCRA, sometimes in conjunction with their own, more str}ngent requirements. Drilling
fluids, produced waters, and most of the other wastes associated with the exp]oratlon development, and
production of crude cil, natural gas, or geothermal energy constitute “solid waslles , which are regulated under
the less stringent, non-hazardous waste provisions, but there is no guarantee that the EPA or the individual states
will not adopt more stringent requirements for the handling of non-hazardous \{fastes or categorize some
non-hazardous wastes as hazardous for future regulation. Indeed, legislation has been proposed from time to time
in Congress to re-categorize certain oil and gas exploration and production wastes as “hazardous wastes”.

We believe that we are in substantial compliance with the requirements of RCRA and related state and local
laws and regulations, and that we held all necessary and up-to-date permits, reglstratlons and other authorizations
to the extent that our operations require them under such laws and regulations. ‘Although we believe that the
current costs of managing our wastes as they are presently classified are reflected in our budget, any legisiative
or regulatory reclassification of oil and natural gas exploration and production wastes could increase our costs to
manage and dispose of such wastes.

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Aict The Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), also known as the “superfund’” law,
imposes joint and several liability, without regard to fault or legality of conduet, on classes of persons who are
considered to be responsible for the release of a “hazardous substance” into the[enwronmem These persons
include the owner or operator of the disposal site, or site where the release occurred and companies that disposed
or arranged for the disposal of the hazardous substance. Under CERCLA, such! persons may be subject to joint
and several liability for the costs of cleaning up the hazardous substances that have been released into the
environment, for damages to natural resources and for the costs of certain health studies. In addition, it is not
uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and property
damage allegedly caused by the hazardous substances released into the enwron]mem In the course of our
operations, we use materials that, if released, would be subject to CERCLA. Therefore governmental agencies or
third parties may seek to hold us responsible under CERCLA for all or part of the costs to clean up sites at which
such “hazardous substances™ have been deposited. ’

Water Discharges. The Federal Water Pollution Control Act, also known as the Clean Water Act, and
analogous state laws impose restrictions and strict controls regarding the dischafrge of pollutants, including
produced waters and other oil and gas wastes, into waters of the United States. The discharge of pollutants into
regulated waters is prohibited, except in accordance with the terms of a permit issued by the EPA or the state.
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These prescriptions also prohibit the discharge of dredge and fill material in regulated waters, including
wetlands, unless authorized by a permit issued by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. Federal and state regulatory
agencies can impose administrative, civil and criminal penalties for non-compliance with discharge permits or
other requirements of the federal Clean Water Act and analogous state laws and regulations. We maintain ail
required discharge permits necessary to conduct our operations, and we believe we are substantial compliance
with the terms thereof. Obtaining permits has the potential to delay the development of oil and natural gas
projects.

Air Emissions. The Federal Clean Air Act, and associated state laws and regulations, regulate emissions of
various air pollutants through the issuance of permits and the imposition of other requirements. In addition, EPA
has developed, and continues to develop, stringent regulations governing emissions of toxic air pollutants at
specified sources. Some of our new facilities will be required to obtain permits before work can begin, and
existing facilities may be required to incur capital costs in order to remain in compliance, These regulations may
increase the costs of compliance for some facilities we own or operate, and federal and state regulatory agencies
can impose administrative, civil and criminal penalties for non-compliance with air permits or other requirements
of the federal Clean Air Act and associated state laws and regulations. We believe that we are in substantial
compliance with all air emissions regulations and that we hold all necessary and valid construction and operating

" permits for our operations. Obtaining permits has the potential to delay the development of oil and natural gas

projects.

Other Laws and Regulation. The Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate
Change went into effect in February 2005 and requires all industrialized nations that ratified the Protocol to '
reduce or limit greenhouse gas emissions to & specified level by 2012, The United States has not ratified the
Protocol, and the U.S. Congress has resisted recent proposed legislation directed at reducing greenhouse gas
emissions. However, there is increasing public pressure from environmental groups and some Northeastern and
West Coast states for the United Srates to develop a national program for regulating greenhouse gas emissions,
and several states have already adopted regulations or announced initiatives focused on decreasing or stabilizing
greenhouse gas emissions associated with industrial activity, primarily carbon dioxide emissions from power
plants. The oil and natural gas exploration and production industry is a direct source of certain greenhouse gas
emissions, namely carbon dioxide and methane, and future restrictions on the combustion of fossil fuels or the
venting of natural gas could impact our future operations. Our operations are not adversely impacted by current
state and local climate change initiatives and, at this time, it is not possible to accurately estimate how potential
future laws or regulations addressing greenhouse gas emissions would impact our business.

Legislation continues to be introduced in Congress, and development of regulations continuves in the
Department of Homeland Security and other agencies, concerning the security of industrial facilities, including
oil and natural gas facilities. Our operations may be subject to such laws and regulations. Presently, it is not
possible to accurately estimate the costs we could incur to comply with any such facility security laws or
regulations, but such expenditures could be substantial.

Other Regulation of the Oil and Gas Industry

The oil and gas industry is extensively regulated by numerous federal, state and local authorities, including
Native American tribes. Legislation affecting the oil and gas industry is under constant review for amendment or
expansion, frequently increasing the regulatory burden. Also, numerous departments and agencies, both federal
and state, and Native American tribes are authorized by statute to issue rules and regulations binding on the oil
and gas industry and its individual members, some of which carry substantial penalties for failure to comply.
Although the regulatory burden on the oil and gas industry increases our cost of doing business and,
consequently, affects our profitability, these burdens generally do not affect us any differently or to any greater
or lesser extent than they affect other companies in the industry with similar types, quantities and locations of
production. : ‘
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Drilling and Production. Our operations are subject to various types of regulation at federal, state, local and
Native American tribal levels. These types of regulation include requiring perm1ts for the drilling of wells,
drilling bonds, and reports concerning operations. Most states, and some counties, municipalities and Native
American tribes, in which we operate also regulate one or more of the following:

s the locatmn of wells;
* the method of drilling and casmg wells
* the rates of production or “allowables™;

«. the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells are drilled and other third parties;

« - the plugging and abandoning of wells; and

_* notice to, and consultation with, surface owners and other third parties.

‘State laws regulate the size and shape of drilling and spacing units or proration units governing the pooling
of oil and natural gas properties. Some states allow forced pooling or integration of tracts to facilitate exploration
while other states rely on voluntary pooling of lands and leases. In some instan'ces forced pooling or unitization
may be implemented by third parties and may reduce our interest in the unitized properties. In addition, state
conservation'laws establish maximum rates of production from oil and natural ;gas wells, generally proh1b1t the
venting or flaring of natural gas and impose requirements regarding the ratability of production. These laws and
regulations may limit the amount of natural gas and oil we can produce from o:ur wells or limit the number of
_ wells or the locations at which we can drill. Moreover, each state generally imposes a production or severance
tax with réspecl to the production and sale of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids within its jurisdiction.

Natural Gas Sales Transportation. Historically, federal legislation and regulatory controls have affected the
price of the natural gas we produce and the manner in which we market our productlon The Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission, or FERC, has jurisdiction over the transportation and: sale for resale of natural gas in
interstate commerce by natural gas companies under the Natural Gas Act of 1938 and the Natural Gas Policy Act
of 1978. Since 1978, various federal laws have been enacted which have resulted in the complete removal of all
price and non-price controls for sales of domestic natural gas sold i in “first sales” , which include all of our sales
of our own production:

FERC also regulates interstate natural gas transportation rates and service conditions, which affects the
marketing of natural gas that we produce, as well as the revenues we receive f(?r sales of our natural gas.
Commencing in 19835, FERC promulgated a series of orders, regulations and rule makings that significantly
fostered competition in the business of transporting and marketing gas. Todaylinterstate pipeline companies are
required to provide nondiscriminatory transportation services to producers, marketers and other shippers,
regardless of whether such shippers are affiliated with an interstate pipeline colnpany. FERC’s initiatives have

led to the development of a competitive, unregulated, open access market for g'as purchases and sales that permits
all purchasers of gas to buy gas directly from third-party sellers other than pipclines. However, the natural gas
industry historically has been very heavily regulated; therefore, we cannot guarantee that the less stringent
regulatory approach recently pursued by FERC and Congress will continue indefinitely into the future, nor can
we determine what effect, if any, future regulatory changes might have on our natural gas-related activities.

Under FERC’s current regulatory regime, transmission services must be plrovided:on an Open-access,
non-discriminatory basis at cost-based rates or at market-based rates if the transportation market at issue is
sufficiently competitive. Gathering service, which occurs upstream of jurlsdlcttonal transmission services, is
regulated by state agencies. Although its policy is still in flux, FERC recently has reclassified certain
jurisdictional transmisston facilities as non-jurisdictional gathering facilities, which has the tendency to increase
our costs of getting gas to point-of-sale locatlons .

Operations on Native American Reservations. A portion of our leases in the Uinta basin are, and some of
our future leases in this and other areas may be, regulated by Native American ltribes. In addition to regulation by
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various federal, state and local agencies and authorities, an entirely separate and distinct set of laws and
regulations applies to lessees, operators and other parties within-the boundaries of Native American reservations.
Various federal agencies within the U.S: Department of the Interior, particularly the Minerals Management
Service and the Bureau of Indian Affairs, together with each Native American tribe, promulgate and enforce
regulations pertaining to oil and gas operations on Native American reservations. These regulations include lease
provisions, royalty matters, drilling and production requirements, environmental statidards, and mimerous other
matters. '

Native American tribes are subject to various federal statutes and oversight by the Bureau of Indian Affairs..
However, each Nafive American tribe is a sovereign nation and has the right to enforce certain other laws and
regulations entirely independent from federal, state and local statutes and regulations, as long as they do not
supersede or conflict with such federal statutes. These tribal laws and regulations include various fees, taxes,
requirements to employ Native American tribal members, and numerous other conditions that apply to lessees,
operators, and contractors conducting operations within the boundaries of a Native American reservation.
Further, lessees and operators within a Native American reservation are subject to the Native American tribal
court system, unless there is a spet:lﬁc waiver of sovereign immunity by the Native American trlbe allowmg
resolution of disputes between {the Native American tribe and those lessees or operators to occur in federal or
state court. - .

Therefore, we are subject to various laws and regulations pertaining to Native American tribal surface
ownership, Native American oil and gas leases, fees, taxes, and other burdens, obligations and'issues unique to
oil and gas ownership and operations within Native American reservations. One or more of these reqmrements
may increase our costs of doing business on Native American tribal lands and have an impact on the economtc
viability of any well or project on those lands. ‘

i

Employees' .

As of February 16, 2007, we had 216 full time employees. Of our 216 full time employees, 139 work in our
Denver officé and 77 are in our district and field offices. We also contract for the services of independent
consultants involved in land, regulatory, accounting, financial and other disciplines as needed. None of our
employees is represented by labor unions or covered by any collective bargaining agreement. We believe that our
relations with our employees are good.” :

‘ Ofﬁces

‘As of December 31, 2006, we leased approximately 60,533 square feet of office space in Denver, Colorado
at 1099 18th Street, where our principal offices are located. The lease for our Denver office expires in March .
2011. We also own field offices in Waltman, Wyoming and Roosevelt, Utah, and lease field offices in Gillette,
Wyoming, and Parachute, Colorado. We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current operations and.
that we can obtain additional leased space if needed.

Website and Code of Business Conduct and Ethics ‘ ' o

Our website address is http://www.bi]]barrettcorp.cotn. We make available free of charge through our -
website our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all
amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed with or
furnished to the SEC at http://www.sec.gov. Additionally, our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which
includes our code of ethics for senior financial management; Corporate Governance Guidelines and the charters -
of our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee are
posted on our website at http://www billbarrettcorp.com and are available in print free of-charge to any
stockholder who requests them. Requests should be sent by mail to our corporate secretary at our principal ofﬁce
at 1099 18t Street, Suite 2300, Denver, Colorado 80202. :
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GLOSSARY OF OIL AND NATURAL GAS TE}RMS

The following is a description of the meanings of some of the oil and natural gas industry terms used in tl’l]S
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

3C 3-D seismic. A three dimensional seismic survey employing three-component geophones. These multi-
component geophones record three orthogonal components of ground motion and provide information about
shear waves that are unobtainab]e by conventional 3-D seismic surveys.

3-D seismic. Acousucal reflection data that depict the subsurface strata in three dlmensmns 3-D seismic
typically provides a more detailed and accurate interpretation of the subsurface strata than 2- D, or
two-dimensional, seismic.

AMI. Area of mutual interest.

Basin-centered gas. A regionhl abnormally-pressured, gas-saturated accumulation in low-permeability
reservoirs lacking a down-dip water contact.

BbL Stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume, used in this Annual Report on Form 10- K in
reference to crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons. :

_ Bbl/d. Bbl per day.

Bef. Billion cubic feet of natural gas.

Bcfe. Billion cubic feet equivalent, determined using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of crude
oil, condensate or natural gas liquids.

Biogenic gas. Bacteria-generated natural gas usually found at depths of a felw hundred to a few thousand
_ feet because it is formed at the low temperatures that accompany the shallow burial and rarely is generated at
depths greater that 3,000 feet.-

Bae. Barrels of oil equivalent, with six thousand cubic feet of natural gas being equivalent to one barrel of
oil. )

Btu or British thermal unit. The quantity of heat required to raise the temperature of one pound of water iay
one degree Fahrenheit.

Coalbed methane (CBM). Natural gas formed as a byproduct of the coal formation process, which is
trapped in coal seams and produced by non-traditional means.

Completion. The process of treating a drilied well followed by the installation of permanent equipment for
the production of natural gas or oil, or in the case of a dry hole, the reporting of abandonment to the appropriate
agency.

Condensate. Liquid hydrocarbons associated with the production of a primarily natural gas reserve,

Developed acreage. The number of acres that are allocated or assignable to productive wells or wells
capable of production.

Development well. A well drilled within the proved area of a natural gas or oil reservoir to the depth of a
stratigraphic horizon known to be productive.
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Down-dip. The occurrence of a formation at a lower elevation than a nearby area.

Drill-to-earn. The process of earning an interest in leasehold acreage by drilling a well pursuant to a farm-in
or exploration agreement.

Dry hole. A well found to be incapable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such that
proceeds from the sale of such production exceed production expenses and taxes.

Environmental Assessment (EA). An environmental assessment, a study that can be required pursuant to
federal law prior to drilling a well. : : :

Environmental Impact Statement (EIS). An environmental impact statement, a more detailed study that
can be required pursuant to federal law of the potential direct, indirect and cumulative impacts of a project that
may be made available for public review and comment. -

Exploratory well. A well drilled to find and produce natural gas or oil reserves not classified as proved, to
find a new reservoir in a field previously found to be productive of natural gas or oil in another reserveir or to
extend a known reservoir.

Farm-in or farm-out. An agreement under which the owner of a working interest in a natural gas and oil
lease assigns the working interest or a portion of the working interest to another party who desires to drill on the
leased acreage. Generally, the assignee is required to drill one or more wells in order to earn its interest in the
acreage. The assignor usually retains a royalty or reversionary interest in the lease. The interest received by an
assignee is a “farm-in"” while the interest transferred by the assignor is a “farm-out”.

Field. An area consisting of either a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs, all grouped on or related to the
same individual geological structural feature and/or stratigraphic condition.

Gross acres or gross wells. The total acres or wells, as the case may be, in which a working interest is

© owned.

Identified drilling locations. Total gross locations specifically identified and scheduled by management as
an estimation of our multi-year drilling activities on existing acreage. Our actual drilling activities may change
depending on the availability of capital, regulatory approvals, seasonal restrictions, natural gas and oil prices,
costs, drilling results and other factors.

Infill drilling. The drilling of wells between established producing wells on a lease to increase reserves or
productive capacity from the reservoir.

MBbls. Thousand barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.
Mcf. Thousand cuiJic feet of natural gas.
Mecf/d. Mcf per day.

Mcfe. Thousand cubic feet equivalent, determined using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of
crude oil, condensate or natural gas liquids.

MMBbls. Million barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

MMboe. Million barrels of oil equivalent.
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MMBru. Million British Thermal Units.
MMcf. Million cubic feet of natural gas.
MMcf/d. MMcf per‘dey.

MMecfe. Million cubic feet equivalent, determined using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of
crude oil, condensate or natural gas liquids.

\

MMcfe/d. MMcfe per day.

. Net acres or net wells. The sum of the fractional workmg interest owned in gross acres or gross wells, as the
case may be.

Net revenue interest. An owner’s interest in the revenues of a well after deducting proceeds allocated to
royalty and overriding interests. :

Overpressured A subsurface formation that exerts an abnormally hlgh formation pressure on a wellbore
drilled into it, i

Plugging and abandonment. Refers to the sealing off of fluids in the stratfi penetrated by a well so that the
fluids from one stratum will not escape into another or to the surface. Regulations of all states require plugging of
abandoned wells. - ' '

Productive well. A well that is found to be capable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such

that proceeds from the sale of the production exceed production expenses and taxes.

Prospect. A specific geographic area which, based on supporting geological geophysical or other data and
also preliminary economic analysis using reasonably anticipated pnces and costs is deemed to have potential for
the dlscovery of commercial hydrocarbons.

Proved developed reserves (PDP). Reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells
with existing equipment and operating methods.

Proved reserves. The estimated quantities of oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids which geological and
engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be commercially recoverable in future years from
known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions.

. Proved undeveloped reserves (PUD). Proved reserves that are expected 10 be recovered from new wells on
undrilled acreage'or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required for recompletion.

Recampletmn. The process of re- entering an existing wellbore that is either producmg or not producmg and
completmg new reservoirs in an attempt to establish or increase existing production.

Reservoir. A porous.and permeable underground formation containing a natural accumulatlon of producible
natural gas and/or oil that is confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is separate from other
IESErVOIrs.

Standardized Measure. The present value of estimated future cash mflows from proved natural gas and oil
reserves, less future development and production costs and future income tax expenses using prices and costs as

]
- of the date of estimation without future escalation, without giving effect to hedgmg activities, non-property

related expenses such as general and administrative expenses, debt service and gepre01atlon depletion and
amortization; and discounted using an annual discount rate of 10% to reflect timing of future cash flows.
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Stratigraphic play. An oil or natural gas formation contained within an area created by permeability and
porosity changes characteristic of the alternating rock layer that result from the sedimentation process.

Tight gas sands. A formation with low permeability that produces natural gas with very low flow rates for
long periods of time.

Undeveloped acreage. Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed 1o a point that
would permit the production of commercial quantities of natural gas and oil regardless of whether such acreage |
contains proved reserves.

Working interest. The operating interest that gives the owner the right to drill, produce and conduct
operating activities on the property and receive a share of production and requires the owner to pay a share of the
costs of drilling and production operations.

Item 1A, Risk Factors

Our business involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the following risks and all of the
other information contained in this Form 10-K before deciding to invest in our common stock. The risks
described below are not the only ones facing our company. Additional risks not presently known to us or which
we currently consider immaterial also may adversely affect our company.

Risks Related to the Oil and Natural Gas Industry and Our Business
Oil and natural gas prices are volatile and a decline in od and natural gas prices can significantly affect our
[financial results and impede our growth.

Our revenue, profitability and cash flow depend upon the prices and demand for 0il and natural gas. The
markets for these commeodities are very volatile and even relatively modest drops in prices can significantly
affect our financial results and impede our growth. Changes in o0il and natural gas prices have a significant
impact on the value of our reserves and on our cash flow. Prices for oil and natural gas may fluctuate widely in
response to relatively minor. changes in the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas, market uncertainty and
a variety of additional factors that are beyond our conirol, such as:

* the domestic and foreign supply of oil and natural gas;
» the price of foreign imports;
* overall domestic and global economic conditions;

* political and economic conditions in oil producing countries, including the Middle East and South
America;

* the ability of members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries to agree to and maintain
oil price and production controls;

* the level of consumer product demand;

* weather conditions;

+ technological advances affecting energy consumption;

* domestic and foreign governmental regulations;

« proximity and capacity of oil and gas pipelines and other transportation facilities;
* the price and availability of alternative fuels; and .

* variations between product prices at sales points and applicable index prices.
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Lower il and natural-gas prices may not only decrease our revenues on a per unit basis, but also may reduce

. the amount of 0il and natural gas that we can produce economically. This may result in our having to make

!
substantial downward adjustments to our estimated proved reserves. If this occurs or if our estimates of

"development costs increase, production data factors change or our exploratlon or development results deteriorate,

successful efforts accounting rules may require us to write down, as a non-cash charge to earnmgs the carrying
value of our oil and natural gas properties for impairments. We are required to perform impairment tests on our
assets whenever events or changes in circumstances lead to a reduction of the ednmated useful life or estimated
future cash flows that would indicate that the carry amount may not be recoverable or whenever management’ s
plans change with respect to those assets. We may incur lmpamnent charges in the future, whrch could have a’
material adverse effect on our results of operations in the period taken ‘

Our business is difficult to evaluate because we have a limited aperating history.

In considering whether to invest in our common stock, you should consrder that there is only limited
historical fingncial and operating information available on which to base your evaluation of our performance. We
were formed in J anuary 2002 and, as a result, we have a limited operating history.

We have incurred losses from operations for various periods since our inception and may do so in the future.

We incurred net losses of $5.0 million, $4.0 million, and $5.3 million in the period from January 7, 2002

- (inception) through December 31, 2002 and the’ years ended December 31, 2003 and 2004, respectively. Our

development of and participation in an increasingly larger numiber of prospects pas required and will continue to
require substantial capital expenditures. The uncertainty and factors described throughout this section may

~ impede our ability to economically find, develop, exploit, and acquire natural g:is and oil reserves. As a result,

I
we may not be able to achieve or sustain profitability or positive cash flows from operatmg activities in the
future.

. -
' - T

Our estimated reserves are based on many assumpnons that may turn out to be inaccurate. Any material
inaccuracies in these assumpnons will matenally affect the quantities of our reserves.

No one can measure underground accumulations of oil and natural gas in afr exact way. Oil and natural gas
reserve engineering requires estimates of underground accumulations of oil andinatural gas and assumptions

" concerning future oil and natural gas prices, production levels, and operating and development costs. As a result,
* estimated quantities of proved reserves and projections of future production rates and the timing of development

expenditures may be incorrect. At year-end 2004 and 2005, we revised our reservcs downward by 32 Befe and
24.7 Befe, excluding pricing revisions, respectrvely We parucnpated in drilling | 797 gross wells from inception
through December 31, 2005, Of the 797 wells, 219 were producing at less than 75% of original forecast at year-
end 2005, which resulted in the reserve revisions in 2004 and 2005.

" Our estimates of proved reserves are determined at prices. and costs at the date of the estimate. Any
significant variance from these prices.and costs could greatly affect our estlmates of reserves. The pricing
revision at year-end 2006 at prices of $4.46 per MMBtu of gas and $61.06 per barre] of oil, relative to year-end
2005 prices of $7.72 per MMBtu and $61 .04 per barrel of oil, was downward 33.8 Befe.

We prepare our own estlmates of proved reserves, which are rewewed by independent petroleum engmeers.
Over time, our internal engineers may make material changes to reserve estrmates taking into account the results
of actual drilling, testing, and production. For additional information about thesé risks and their 1mpact on our
reserves, see “Items 1 and 2. Business and Propemes——Orl and Gas Data—Prov'ed Reserves™ and “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements—14. Supplementary Oil and Gas Informatron (unaudrted)—Analys1s of
Changes in Proved Reserves”. :




Unless we replace our oil and natural gas reserves, our reserves and production will decline, which would
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Producing oil and natural gas reservoirs generally are characterized by declining production rates that vary
depending upon reservoir characteristics and other factors. Because total estimated proved reserves include our
proved undeveloped reserves at December 31, 2006, production will decline even if those proved undeveloped

_reserves are developed and the wells produce as expected. The rate of decline will change if production from our
existing wells declines in a different manner than we have estimated and can change under other circumstances.
Thus, our future oil and natural gas reserves and production and, therefore, our cash flow and income are highly
dependent upon our success in efficiently developing and exploiting our current reserves and economically -
finding or acquiring additional recoverable reserves. We may not be able to devetop, find or acquire additional
reserves to replace our current and future production at acceptable costs. ‘

Prospects that we decide to drill may not yield natural gas or oil in commercially viable quantities.

We describe some of our current prospects and our plans to explore those prospects in this Annuat Report
on Form 10-K. A prospect is a property on which we have identified what our geoscientists believe, based on
available seismic and geological information, to be indications of natural gas or oil. Our prospects are in various
stages of evaluation, ranging from'a prospect that is ready to drill to a prospect that will require substantial
additional seismic data processing and interpretation. However, the use of seismic data and other technologies
and the study of producmg fields in the same area will not enable us to know’ conclquely prior to drilling and
testing whether natural gas or oil'will be present or, 'if present, “whether natural gas or oil will be present in '
sufficient quantities to recover dnllmg or completlon costs or to be economically viable. From inception through
December 31, 2006, we participated in drilling a total of 1,021 gross wells, of which 29 have been identified as
dry holes. Of the 797 wells drilled from inception through December 31, 2005, 219 were producing at less than’
75% of original forecast at year-end 2005. If we drill additional wells that we identify as dry holes ir our current
and future prospects, our drilling success rate may decline and materially harm our business. In sum, the cost of
drilling, completing and operating any well is often uncertain and new wells may not be productive.

Certain of our leases in the Powder River Basin are in areas that may have been partially depleted or drained
by offset wells. .

The Powder River Basin represents a significant part of our drilling program and production. Our
development operations are conducted in seven project areas in this basin. In the Powder River Basin, nearly all
of our operations are in coalbed methane plays, and our key project areas are located in areas that have been the
most active drilling areas in the Rocky Mountain region. As a result, many of our leases are in areas that may
have already been partially depleted or drained by earlier offset drilling. This may inhibit our ab111ty to find
economically recoverable quantities of natural gas in these areas.

Our identified drilling location inventories are scheduled out over several years, making them susceptible to
uncertainties that could materially alter the occurrence or timing of their drilling.

Our management has specifically identified and scheduled drilling locations as an estimation of our future '
multi-year drilling activities on our existing acreage. These identified drilling locations represent a significant
part of our growth strategy. Our ability to dril] and develop these locations depends on a number of uncertainties,
including the availability of capital, seasonal conditions, regulatory approvals natural gas and oil prices, costs
and drilling results. Because of these uncertainties, we do not know if the numerous potential drilling locations
we have identified will ever be drilled or if we will be able to produce natural gas or oil from these or any other
potential drilling locations. As such, our actual drilling activities may materially differ from those presently
identified, which could adversely affect our business. In 2007, we plan to participate in the drilling of 406 gross
wells.
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QOur use of 2-D and 3-D seismic data is subject to interpretation and may not accurately identify the presence
of natural gas and oil, which could adversely affect the results of our dnllmg operatwns

Even when properly used and interpreted, 2-D and 3-D seismic data and v1suallzauon techniques are only
tools used to assist geoscientists in identifying subsurface structures and hydroc'arbon indicators and do not
enable geoscientists to know whether hydrocarbons are, in fact, present in those‘ structures. We are employing
3C 3-D seismic technology to certain of its projects. The implementation and practlcal use of 3C 3-D seismic
technology is relatively new, unproven and unconventional, which can lessen 1ts effectiveness, at least in the near
term, and increases its cost. In addition, the use of 3-D seismic and other advanced technologies requires greater
predrilling expenditurés than traditional drilling strategies, and we could incur lPsses as a result of such
" expenditures. As a result, our drilling activities may not be successful or economlcal and our overall dnllmg
success rate or our drilling success rate for activities in a particular area could decline.

We often gather 3-D seismic over large areas. Our interpretation of selsmlc data delineates those pomons of
an area that we believe are desirable for drilling. Therefore, we may chose not t acquire option or lease rights
prior to acquiring seismic data and, in many cases, we may identify hydrocarbon indicators before seeking option
or lease rights in the location. If we are not able to lease those locations on acceptable terms, we will have made
substantial expenditures to acquire and analyze 3-D data without having an opportunity to attempt to benefit from
those expenditures,

Drilling for amj producing oil and natural gas are high risk activities with many uncertainties that could
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

Our drilling activities are subject to many risks, including the risk that we wnll not discover commercially
productive reservoirs. Drilling for oil and natural gas can be unprofitable, not only from dry holes, but from
productive wells that do not produce sufficient revenues to return a profit. In addmon our drilling and producing
operations may be curtailed, delayed or canceled as a resuit of other factors, mcludmg

» unusual or unexpected geological formations;
*  pressures; '
o fires;
= . blowouts;
* loss of drilling fluid mrculanon,
o title problems
= facility or equipment malfunctions;
. unexpected operational events; ' :
. shonages or delivery delays of equipment and servxces
. compllance wnh environmental and other governmental requlrements and related lawsuits; and

. adverse weather conditions.

The occurrence of these events also could impact third parties, including persens living near our operations,
our employees and employees of our contractors, leading to injuries or death or property damage. As a result, we
‘face the possibility of liabilities from these events that could adversely affect-our business, financial condition or
results of operauons

Add:tlonally the coal beds in the Powder River Basin from which we produce methane gas frequently
contain water, which may hamper our ability to produce gas in commercial quan’tlllcs The amount of coalbed
methane that can be commercially produced depends upon-the coal quality, the ongmal gas content of the coal
seam, the thickness of the seam, the reservoir pressure, the rate at which gas is rf':leased from the coal and the
existence of any natural fractures through which the gas can flow to the well bore. However, coal beds frequently
contain water that must be.removed in order for the gas to detach from the coal al‘nd flow to the well bore. The
average life of a coal bed well is only five to six years. Our ability to remove and economically dispose of
sufficient quantities of water from the coal seam will determine whether or not we can produce coalbed methane
in commercial quantities.
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Any of these risks can cause substantial losses, including personal injury or loss of life, damage to or
destruction of property, natural resources and equipment, pollution, environmental contamination or loss' of wells
and other regulatory penalties. ‘ .

We ordinarily maintain insurance against various losses and liabilities arising from our operations; however,
insurance against all operational risks is not available to us, Additionally, we may elect not to obtain insurance if
we believe that the cost of available insurance is excessive relative to the perceived risks presented. Thus, losses
could occur for uninsurable or uninsured risks or in amounts in excess of existing insurance coverage. The
occurrence of an event that is not fully covered by insurance could have a material adverse impact on our
business activities, financial condition and results of operations. '

QOur development and exploration operations require substantial capital and we may be unable to obtain
needed capital or financing on satisfactory terms, which could lead to a loss of properties and a decline in our
natural gas and oil reserves.

The oil and natural gas industry is capital intensive. We make and expect to continue to make Substantial
capital expenditures in our business and operations for the exploration for and development, production and
acquisition of oil and natural gas reserves. To date, we have financed capital expenditures primarily with sales of
our equity securities, proceeds from bank borrowings and cash generated by operations. We intend to finance our
capital expenditures with cash flow from operations and our existing financing arrangements, Qur cash flow from
operations and access 1o capital are SlleCCl to a number of variables, including:

« our proved reserves;
« the level of oil and naturat gas we are able to produce from existing wells;
= the prices at which oil and natural gas are sold; and

* our ability to acquire, locate and produce new reserves.

If our revenues or the borrowing base under our revolving credit facility decreases as a result of lower oil
and natural gas prices, operating difficulties, declines in reserves or for any other reason, we may have limited
ability to obtain the capital necessary to sustain our operations at current levels. We may, from time to time, need
to seek additional financing. Our revolving credit facility restricts our ability to obtain new financing. There can
be no assurance as to the availability or terms of any additional financing.

Even if additional capital is needed, we may not be able to obtain debt or equity financing on terms '
favorable to us, or at all. If cash generated by operations or available under our revolving credit facility is not
sufficient to meet our capital requirements, the failure to obtain additional financing could result in a curtailment
of our operations relating to exploration and development of our prospects, which in turn could lead to a possible

loss of properties and a decline in our natural gas and oil reserves.

We are subject to complex federal, state, local and other laws and regulations that could adversely affect the
cost, manner or feasibility of doing business. .

Our exploration, development, production and marketing operations are regulated extensively at the federal,
state and local levels. In addition, a portion of our leases in the Uinta Basin are, and some of our future leases
may be, regulated by Native American tribes. Under these laws and regulations, we could be held liable for
personal injuries, property damage (including site clean-up and restoration costs), and other damages. Failure to
comply with these laws and regulations may also result in the suspension or termination of our operations and
subject us to administrative, civil and criminal penalties, including the assessment of natural resource damages.
Environmental and other governmental laws and regulations also increase the costs to plan, design, drill, install,
operate and abandon oil and natural gas wells. Moreover, public interest in environmental protection has
increased in recent years, and environmental organizations have opposed, with some success, certain drilling
projects. .
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Our Powder River Basin coalbed methane exploration and production activities result in the discharge of
large volumes of produced groundwater into adjacent lands and waterways. Thelratio of methane gas to produced
water varies over the life of the well. The environmental soundness of discharging produced groundwater
pursuant to water discharge permits has come under increased scrutiny. Moratonums on the issuance of -
additional water discharge permits or more costly methods of handling these produced waters, may affect future
well development. Compliance with more stnngent laws or regulations, more vigorous enforcement policies of
the regulatory agencies, difficulties in negotiating required surface use agreements with land owners or receiving
other governmental approvals could delay our Powder River Basin exploration z;nd producnon activities and/or
require us to make material expenditures for the installation and operation of systems and equipment for
pollution control and/or remediation, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
or results of operations.

In August 2004, the Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals in Pennaco Energy. Inc. v. United States Department of
the Interior, upheld a decision by the Interior Board of Land Appeals that the De'partment of the Interior’s Bureau
of Land Management, or BLM, failed to fully comply with the National Environmenta] Policy Act, or NEPA, in
granting certain federal leases in the Powder River Basin to Pennaco Energy, In. for coalbed methane
development. Other recent decisions in the federal district court in Montana havé also held that BLM failed to
comply with NEPA when considering coalbed methane development in the Powder River Basin. While these
recent decisions have not had a material direct impact on our current operations or planned exploration and .
development activities, future litigation and/or agency responses to such litigation could materially impact our
ability to obtain required regulatory approvals to conduct operations in the Powder River Basin.

. ’ Et

Part of the regulatory environment in which we operate includes, in some cases, federal requirements for
performing or preparing environmental assessments, environmental impact studles and/or plans of development
before commencing exploration and production activities. In addition, our act1v1tles are SUb_}CCI to the regulation
by oil and natural gas-producing states and Native American tribes of COIISCI'VBUOD practices and protection of
correlative rights, These regulations affect our operations and limit the quantity of oil and natural gas we may
produce and sell. A major risk inherent in our drilling plans is the need to obtainldrilling permits from state, local
and Native American tribal authorities. Delays in obtaining regulatory approvals or drilling permits, the failure to
obtain a drilling permit for a well or the receipt of a permit with excessive condmons or costs could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to explore on or develop our properties. Addmonally, the oil and natural gas
regulatory environment could change in ways that might substantially increase the financial and managerial costs
to comply with the requirements of these laws and regulations and, consequently adversely affect our
profitability. Furthermore, we may be put at a competitive disadvantage to larger companies in our industry that
can spread these additional costs over a greater number of wells and larger operating arca. See “Items 1 and 2.
Business and Properties—Business—Operations—Environmental Matters and Regulauon and “Items 1 and 2.
Business and Properties—Business—Operations—Other Regulation of the Oil and Gas Industry fora
description of the laws and regulations that affect us.

Substantmlly all of our producing properties are located in the Rocky, Mountains, making us vulnerable to
risks associated with operating in one major geographic area.

Our operations are focused on the Rocky Mountain region; which means our producing properties are
geographically concentrated in that area. In particular, a substantial portion of our proved oil and natural gas
reserves are located in the Piceance and Uinta Basins. Approximately 34% of our proved reserves at
December 31, 2006 and approximately 30% of our Decémber 2006 production were located in the Piceance
Basin and approximately 35% of our proved reserves at December 31, 2006 andapproximately 35.5% of our
December 2006 production were located in the Uinta Basin. As a result, we may(be disproportionately exposed to
the impact of delays or interruptions of production from these wells caused by significant governmental
regulation, transportation capacity constraints, the availability and capacity of compression and gas processing
facilities, curtailment of production or interruption of transportation of natural ga‘ls produced from the wells in
these basins. . : . '
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Seasonal weather conditions and lease stipulations adversely affect our ability to conduct drzllmg activities in
some of the areas where.we operate. :

Oil and narural gas operations in the Rocky Mountains are adversely affected by seasonal weather
conditions and lease stipulations designed to protect various wildlife. In certain areas on federal lands, drilling
and other oil and natural’gas activities can only be conducted during limited times of the year. This limits our
ability to operate in those areas and can intensify competition during those times for drilling rigs, oil field
equipment, services, supplies and qualified personnel, which may lead to periodic shortages. These constraints
and the resulting shortages or high costs could delay our operations and materially increase our operating and
capital costs. For example, we encountered limitations on our activities in the West Tavaputs area of the Uinta
Basin earlier than expected in the fourth quarter of 2004 due to lease stipulations, which prevented us from
completing wells. In addition, our costs increased due to removal of a drilling rig, incurrence of expenses
reinstalling that rig and additional mobilization costs when the winter stipulations ended in the spring of 2005.

Properties that we buy may not produce as projected and we may be unable to determine reserve potential,
identify liabilities associated with the properties or obtain protection from sellers against them.

One of our growth strategies is to capitalize on opportunistic acquisitions of oil and natural gas reserves.
However, our reviews of acquired properties are inherently incomplete, because it generally is not feasible to
review in depth every individual property involved in each acquisition. Ordinarily, we will focus our review
efforts on the higher value properties and will sample the remainder. However, even a detailed review of records
and properties may not necessarily reveal existing or potential problems, nor will it permit a buyer to become
sufficiently familiar with the properties to assess fully their deficiencies and potential. Inspections may not
always be performed on every well, and environmental problems, such as ground water contamination, are not
necessarily observable even when an inspection is undertaken. Even when problems are identified, we often
assume certain envirorimental and other risks and liabilities in connection with acquired properties.

We have limited cantrol over actwmes on properties we do not operate, whzch could reduce our production
and revenues.

Substantially all of our business activities are conducted through joint operating agreements under which we
own partial interests in oil and natural gas properties. If we do not operate the properties in which we own an
interest, we do not have control over normal operating procedures, expenditures or future development of
underlying properties. The failire of an operator of our wells to adequately perform operations or an operator’s
breach of the applicable agreements could reduce our production and revenues. The success and timing of our
drilling and development activities on properties operated by others, therefore, depends upon a number of factors
outside of our control, mcludmg the operator’s timing and amount of capital expenditures, expertise and financial
resources, inclusion of other participants in drilling wells and use of technology. Because we do not have a
majority interest in most wells we do not operate, we may not be in a position to remove the operator in the event
of poor performance.

Market conditions or operational impediments may hmder our access to oil and natural gas markets or delay
our production.

Market conditions or the unavailability of satisfactory oil and natural gas transportation arrangements may
hinder our access to oil and natural gas markets or delay our production. The availability of a ready market for
our oil and natural gas production depends on a number of factors, including the demand for and supply of oil
and natural gas and the proximity of reserves to pipelines and terminal facilities. Qur ability to market our
production depends in substantial part on the availability and capacity of gathering systems, pipelines and
processing facilities owned and operated by third parties. Our failure to obtain such services on acceptable terms
could materially harm our business. We may be required to shut in wells for a lack of a market or because of
inadequacy or unavailability of natural gas pipeline, gathering system capacity or processing facilities. If that
were to occur, we would be unable to realize revenue from those wells until production arrangements were made
to deliver the production to market.
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Our hedging activities could result in financial losses or could reduce our income.

To achieve a more predictable cash flow, to reduce our exposure to adverse fluctuations in the prices of oil
and natural gas and to comply with credit agreement requirements, we current}y, and may in the future, enter into
hedging arrangements for a portion of our oil and natural gas production. Hedging arrangements for a portion of
our oil and natural gas production expose us to the risk of financial loss in some circumstances, including when:

» production is less than expected;
» the counter-party 1o the hedging contract defaults on its contractual obligations; or
» there is a change in the expected differential between the underlying price in the hedging agreement

and actual prices received.

In addition, these types of hedging arrangements limit the benefit we would receive from increases in the
prices for oil and natural gas and may expose us to cash margin requirements.

+

The inability of one or more of our customers fo meet their obligations may adversely éfféct our financial
results.

 Substantially all of our accounts receivable result from oil and natural gas sales or joint interest billings to
third parties in the energy industry. This concentration of customers and joint interest owners may impact our
overall credit risk in that these entities may be similarly affected by changes in economic and other conditions. In
addition, our oil and natural gas hedging arrangements expose us to credit risklin the event of nonperformance by
counterparties.- |

We depend on a limited number of key personnel who would be difficult to replace.

We depend on the performance of our executive officers and other key‘ employees. The loss of any member

- of our senior management or other key employees could negatively impact our; ability to execute our strategy.

We do not maintain key person life insurance policies on'any of our employees.

Competition in the il and natural gas industry is intense, which may advers.‘lzly affect our ability to succeed.

The oil and natural gas industry is intensely competitive, and we compete]with other companies that have
greater resources. Many of these companies not only explore for and produce 011 and natural gas, but also carry
on refining operations and market petroleum and other products on a regional, hational or worldwide basis. These
companies may be able to pay more for productive oil and natural gas propemt::s and exploratory prospects or

' define, evaluate, bid for and purchase a greater number of properties and prospects than our financial or human

resources permit. In addition, these companies may have a greater ability to continue exploration activities during
periods of low oil and natural gas market prices. Our larger competitors may b(fa able to absorb the burden of
present and future federal, state, local and other laws and regulations more easily than we can, which would
adversely affect our competitive position. Our ability to acquire additional properties and to discover reserves in
the future will be dependent upon our ability to evaluate and select suitable properties and to consummate
transactions in a highly competitive environment. In addition, because we have: fewer financia! and human
resources than many companies in our industry, we may be at a disadvantage in bidding for exploratory prospects
and producing cil and natural gas properties.

Our credit facility has substantial restrictions an_d’ financial covenants and we may have difficulty obtaining
additional credit, which could adversely affect our.operations.

We will depend on our revolving credit facility for a portion of our future capltal needs. Our current
revolving credit facility restricts our ability to obtain additional financing, make investments, lease equipment,
sell assets and engage in business combinations. We also are, and expect to continue to be, required to comply
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with certain financial covenants and ratios. Our ability to comply with these restrictions and covenants in the
future is uncertain and will be affected by the levels of cash flow from our operations and events or
circumstances beyond our control. Qur failure to comply with any of the restrictions and covenants under the
revolving credit facility could result in a default under those facilities, whnch could cause all of our existing
indebtedness to be immediately due and payable. :

Our current revolving credit facility limits the amounts we can borrow up to a borrowing base amount,
determined by the lenders in their sole discretion, based upon projected revenues from the oil and natural gas
properties securing our loan, The lenders can unilaterally adjust the borrowing base and the borrowings permitted
to be outstanding under the revolving credit facility. Any increase in the borrowing base requires the consent of
the lenders holding 75% of the commitments. If the required lenders do not agree on an increase, then the
borrowing base will be the lowest borrowing base acceptable to the required number of lenders. OQutstanding
borrowings in excess of the borrowing base must be repaid immediately, or we must pledge other oil and natural
gas properties as additional collateral. We do not currently have any substantial unpledged properties, and we
may not have the financia! resources in the future to make any mandatory principal prepayments requ1red under
the revolving credit facility.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

.

Our srack price and trading volume may be volatile, which could result in losses for our stockholders.

The equity trading markets may experience periods of volatility, which could result in highly variable and
unpredictable pricing of equity securities. The market price of our common stock could change in ways that may
or may not be retated to our business, our industry or our operating perfermance and financial condition. In
addition, the trading volume in our commeon stock may fluctuate and cause significant price variations to occur.
Some of the factors that could negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in the price or trading
volume of our common stock inchude:

« actual or anticipated quarterly variations in our operating results;

+ changes in expectations as to our future financial performance or changes in financial estimates, if any,
of public market analysts;

» announcements relating to our business or the business of our competitors;
« conditions generally affécting the oil and natural gas industry; '
* the success of our operating strategy; and
* the ob’erating and stock price performance of other comparable companies.
Many of these factors are beyond our control, and we cannot predict their potential effects on the price of
our common stock. We cannot assure you that the market price of our common stock will not fluctuate or decline

significantly in the future. In addition, the stock markets in general can experience considerable price and volume
fluctuations.

Future sales of our common stock or other equity linked products may cause our stock price (o decline.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market or the perception that these sales
may occur, could cause the market price of our common stock to decline. In addition, the sale of these shares
could impair our ability to raise capital lhrough the sale of additional common or preferred stock.,

As of February 23, 2007, we had 44,269,159 shares of common stock outstanding, excluding stock options.
All of the 14,950,000 shares sold in our initial public offering in December 2004, other than shares purchased by
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our affiliates, are freely tradable. In addition, the remaining outstanding shares are either freely tradable or may
be sold in accordance with the provisions of Rule 144. Certain of our stockholders have contractual rights to
cause us to register the resale of up to 14,332,836 of these outstanding shares. TFis registration may be
accomplished quickly by filing prospectus supplements under our currently effective shelf reglslranon statemcnt.
The resale of a large nurnber of shares could cause our stock price to decline.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and Delaware Taw m?ke'it more difficult to effect a
change in control of the company, which could adversely affect the price of our common stock.

Delaware corporate law and our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could delay,
defer or prevent a change in control of us or our management. These provisions include:

* aclassified board of directors; .
* giving the board the exclusive right to fill all board vacancies;

s permitting removal of directors only for cause and with a super-majority vote of the stockholders;
» requiring special meetings of stockholders to be catled only by the board;

* requiring advance notice for stockholder proposals and director nominations;

» prohibiting siockholder action by written consent; ‘

* prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors; and

s allowing for authorized but unissued common and preferred shares, including shares used in our
shareholder rights plan.

These provisions also could discourage proxy contests and make it more difficult for you and other
stockholders to elect directors and take other corporate actions. As a result, thcsc provisions could make it more
difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders which may limit the price
that investors are willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock.

We have significant stockholders with the ability to influence our actions.

Warburg Pincus Private Equity VIII, L.P. owns approximately 23% of our putstanding common stock.
Accordingly, this stockholder may be able to control the outcome of stockholdeli' votes, including votes
concerning the election of directors, the adoption or amendment of provisions m our certificate of incorporation
or bylaws and the approval of mergers and other significant corporate transactlolns This concentrated ownership
makes it less likely that any other holder or group of holders of common stock v:-lll be able to affect the way we
are managed or the direction of our business. These factors also may delay or prevent a change in our
management or voting control. In addition, one of our directors is affiliated with Warburg Pincus Private Equity
VIILL L. P

Furthermore, conflicts of interest could arise in the future between us, on the one hand, and our institutional
investors, on the other hand, concerning, among other things, potemlal competltlve business activities or business
opportunities. None of the institutional investors is restricted from competitive oil and natural gas exploration
and production activities or investments, and our certificate of incorporation contains a provision that permits the
institutional investors to participate in transactions relating to the acquisition, development and exploitation of oil
and natural gas reserves without making such opportunities available to us.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.
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Legal Proceedings T
Item 3. Legal Proceedings .

We are not a party to any material pending legal or governmental proceedings, other than ordinary routine
litigation incidental to our business. While the ultimate outcome and impact of any proceeding cannot be
predicted with certainty, our management believes that the resolution of any proceeding will not have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a 'Vothetof Security Holders

+

" Not applicable.

PARTI

Item 5. Market for Reglstrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Market for Registrant’s Common Equlty

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “BBG”

The range of high and low sales prices for our common stock for the two most recent fiscal years as reported
by the New York Stack Exchange, is as follows:

: _High ° Low

2005 , 5 _ o -
First Quarter .................. S $33.00  $26.00
CSecond QUAITEE . ..ottt e -7 3230 2590
Third QUATTET . . ..ot ve v veeeeeeeenes P 03939 28.89
Fourth Quarter .. ................... e 4259  30.19

2006 : ' :

First Quarter ......... el S . e e $40.85  $29.00
Second Quarter .......... ... .. [ 37.90 26.00
Third QUarter .. ................. e .. 3160 2335
Fourth Quaner ................ . [ L. 03320 52260

"On February 23 2007, the closing salcs pnce for the common stock as reported by the NYSE was $30 16
per share.

Holders, On February'23, 2007, the number of holders ‘of record of common stock was 291.
Dividends. We have not paid any cash dividends since our inception. Because we anticipate that all

earnings will be retained for the development of our business and our credit facility restricts the payment of
d1v1dends no cash dividends will be pald on our common stock in the foreseeable future.

[
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Issuer Purchases of Equity:Securities. The following table contains information about our acquisitions of

equity securities during the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006.

TIssuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Total Number of

Maxlmum Number (or

. Shares (or Units) Approximate Dollar
-~ Weighted Purchased as Part Value) of Shares (or
Total Average | of Publicly -Units) that May Yet Be
: Number of Price Paid  Announced Plans  Purchased Under the
Period o Shares (1)  Per Share or Programs - Plans or Programs
December 1 —31,2005 ........ e L 124,024 $41.76 — —
January 1 -31,2006 ................. s — — - —
February 1 —28;2006 .............. PP — . — —_ —
March 1 =31,2006 .. ...ovviveiinnnnnnn, . .2307 83191 — —
April 1-30,2006 ..................... SN S — — —
May 1-31,2006..................... _ 63,181  $30.39 — —
June 1 -30,2006 ...... e . 9’2,664 $31.94 — —
July 1 -31,2006 ............ e e S =" = — —
August 1-31,2006 .......... P S — — — —
Scptember 1-30,2006 ........ e L 186 $24.63 — —
"October 1-31,2006 & . ....iiiia : — — — —
November 1.-30,2006 ..... e ' 5475 $30.72 — —
December1-31,2006 ......... e — . —. — —
Total ............. e 285,760 "$35.83 — -

(1) Represents shares delivered by employees to samfy the exercise pnce of stock options and tax withholding
obligations in connection the exercise of stock options and shares w1lhheld from employees to satisfy tax_
withholding obligations in connection with the vesting of equity shares of common stock issued pursuant to

the Company’s employee 1ncent1ve plans

" Equity Compensation Plan Information

N *

The following' table provides ggéregate information présénted as of December 31, 2006 with respect to all

compensation plans under which equity securities are authorized for issuance.

(b}

(a)
Number of Securities ~Weighted Averaged

(c)

Number of Securities
; . to Be Issued Upon . . Exercise Price of Remaining Available
o . - Exerciseof =~ Outstandmg " for Future Issuance
: . P T + Qutstanding Options, Opnons, Warrants ~ ~ (Excluding Securities
Plan Category . ) L ¢4 . Warrants and Rights and Rights Reflected in Column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by e . : :
- shareholders . .... B SR P . . 2,683,593 - $26.31 (1) 2,884,136
Equity compensation plans not approved by . _ - :
shareholders ............. ... .. ... ... —_ — —
. - — -_—
Total .............. et e , 2,683,593 $26.31 2,884,136

(I) The welghted average exercise price relates to the 2 429 069 outstanding opnons included in column (a). It
does not relate to the 254,524 nonvested equity shares of common stock (restricted stock) that also are

included in column (a) but that do not contam an exercise price.
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Stockholder Return Performance Presentation

As required by applicable rules of the SEC, the peﬁoﬁnance graph shown below was preparéd based upon
the following assumptions: -

i. $100 was invested in our common stock at $25.00 per share on December 10, 2004 (the first full
~ trading day following the effective date of the Company’s registration statement filed in connection with the
initial public offering of the Company’s common stock), and $100 was invested in each of the Standard &
“ Poors 500 Index and the Standard and Poors Small Cap 600 Index-Energy Sector at the closing price on
December 9, 2004.

2. Dividends are reinvested on the ex-dividend dates.

Total Retuin Among Bill Barrett Corporation, Standard & Poors 500, and the Standard & Poors Small Cap 600-Energy Sector

5200.00

$180.00 ——BBG ‘ /.

—a=S5&P Small Cap 600 Erargy

—t—S&P 500

$160.00 - L : — -

$140.00 | . . ' .

$120.00 _ /// — 4/\\‘_‘: .
$100.00 : A——___Z

Dollars

$80.00 < ' "
December 10, 2004 T December 31, 2004 December 31, 2005 December 31, 2006
[)ecembér 10,2004 (1)’ December 31, 2604‘ ¥ December 31,2005 December 31, 2006
_BBG..... $100.00 $12796 - $154.44° $108.84
S&P Small Cap 600- Energy Ceeee $100.00 $105.04 - $159.85 $188.03
S&PS00 ... . ... .. ) $IO0.00 ] $102.00 '$107.88 $122.90

(1) December 10, 2004 was the first full trading day following the effective date of the Company’s reglstratlon

statement filed in connection with thé initial pubhc offering of its common stock..

Item 6.  Selected Fmanc:al Data

The following table presents selected historical financial data of the Company for the period from’ January 7,
2002 (inception) through December 31, 2002 and the years ended December 31, 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006.
Future results may differ substantially from historical results because of changes in oil and gas prices; production
increases or declines and other factors. This information should be read in conjunction with the financial ‘
statements and notes thereto and “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations”, presented elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K:" -
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Selected Historical Filiaricial Information

The consolidated income statement information for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006 and
the balance sheet information as of December 31, 2005 and 2006 are derived from our audited financial
statements included elsewhere in this report, The income statement information for the period from January 7,
2002 (inception) through December 31, 2002 and the year ended December 31, %003 and the balance sheet
information at December 31, 2002, 2003 and 2004 is derived from audited financial statements that are not

included in this report. .
Period from
. January 7,2002 . -
) (inception) ) Yea rl Ended
i through
Decembegr 31, December 31,
2002 2003 . 2004 2005 2006
(in thousands, except per share data}

Statement of Operations Data: )
Production revenues (1) ........... e .$-l 6,007 $ 75,252 1 3165,843 $284406 §344,127
Otherrevenues ..............ciiuvnnnnn.. . ‘ 74 184 - 4,137 4,353 31,202
Operating expenses: S ‘

Lease operating expense . . . . . R - 2,231 . 8,462 14 592 19,585 .. 29,768
Gathering and transportation expense ....... . .229 3,646 5,968 11,950 15,721
Production tax expense .. ................. ; 2,021 9,815 20,087 33,465 25,886
Explorationexpense ..............c.ou... 1,592 3,655 12,661 10,930 9,390
Impairment, dry hole costs and abandonment . :
BXPENSE Lottt e —. 4,274 24,011 55,353 12,824
Depreciation, depletion and amortization . ... 9,162 30,724 68,202 89,499 138,549
General and administrative .. .............. 5,476 14,213 18,061 24,540 27,7152
Non-cash stock-based compensation
EXPENSE ..\ vvurrnnennn., R ' 1,322 3,637 3,031 3,212 6,491
Total operating exp]enses .......... 22,033 78426 { 166,613 248,534 266,381
Operating {loss) income ....................... (5,952), . (2,990):. 3,367 40,225 108,948
Other income (expense): . . ] : :
Interestincome .................. F < 303 123 437 1,977 2,527
Interest expense ........................ . (63) (L4311 (9,943) (3,175)  (10,339)
Loss on sale of securities ................. . {1,465) — — — —
Total other expense .......... e .22 (1,308)] (9508  (1,198)  (7.812) .
Income (loss) before income taxes . ............. (7,179 (4,298) (6,141) 39,027 101,136
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes ........ (2.164) (320) (875) 15,222 39,125
Income (loss) from continuing operations ........ {5,015) (3.978) (5,266) 23.805 62,011
Income from discontinued operations (net of ) ’

TAXES) e v it et e e e e » 27 — C— — —
Netincome (loss) ...............cooiiveio.n (4,988) (3,978) (5,266) 23,805 62,011
Less deemed dividends on preferred stock . ... ... J— —_ (36,343) — —
Less cumulative dividends on preferred stock ... .. (4,430) (12,682) | (18,633) .— —
Net income (loss) attributable to common ' ) . '

stockholders ............... e $(9,418)°  3(16,660) {$(60,242) $ 23,805 -$ 62,011
Income {loss) per common share 2) 7 ‘

Basic ......o..ooo i, e $(¢18.02) - 3 (1938) 1% (15400 $ 055 §% 142
Diluted ..... e e $(18.02) $(19.38) {8 (1540) § 055 § 1.40
Weighted average number of common shares .
outstanding, basic (3) ....... e 5227 859.4 39123 43,2383 43,6948
Weighted average number of common shares . '
outstanding, diluted ............. .. ... 5229 859.4 | 39123 43439.6 44.269.4




Period from -

January 7,
(inczg]?tfon)
pelirough, December 31, |
2002 2003 2004 . 2005 2006
- : . (in thousands)

Selected Cash Flow and Other Financial Data:
Netincome (10SS) .......vvrinvriinianieenonen 5 (4988) % (3.978) § (5,266) § 23,805 % 62,011
Depreciation, depletion, impairment and ’

AMOMtZALON . ...ttt e et it 9,162 30,724 68,202 89,499 138,549
Other non-cashitems ............ . ... c.vun e 672 7,786 26,887 71,168 37,765
Change in assets and liabilities .................. (967) (639) (2,941) 202y (1,427)
Net cash provided by operating activities .......... $ 3,879 § 33,873 $ 86,882 184,270 236,898

Capital expenditures (4) .. ..ol .. $166,803  $186,327 $347,520 (5) $347,427 (5) $501,161 (5)

(1) Revenues are net of effects of hedging transactions.

(2) All per share information has been adjusted to reflect the 1-for-4. 658 reverse common stock split effected
upon the completion of our initial public offering in December 2004.

(3) The.weighted average number of common shares outstanding used in the loss per share calculation are
computed pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 128 Earnings Per
Share. The weighted average common shares outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2004 does not
include the 6,594,725 Series A or the 51,951,418 Series B preferred stock that were converted into a total of
26,387,679 common shares upon the completion of our initial public offering in December 2004,

4) Excludes future reclamation liability accruals of $1.0 million, $2.9 million, $7.1 million, $10.7 millicn and

. $6.3 million in 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively, and includes exploration, dry hole and
abandonment costs, which are expensed under successful efforts accounting, of $1.6 million, $6.1 million,
$36.2 million, $23.6 and $21.0 million in 2002, 2003, 2004, 2005, and 2006, respectively. Also includes
furniture, fixtures and equipment costs of $1.1 million in 2002, $1.8 million in 2003, $2.1 million in 2004,
$2.6 million in 2005, and $2.4 million in 2006. _

(5) Not deducted from the amount is $8.8 million, $13.8 million and $92.3 million of proceeds received
principally from the sale of interests in oil and gas properties during the years ended December 31, 2004,
2005 and 2006, respectively.

As of December 31,
2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

(in thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cashequivalents ............ccoovivrnnn., w5 5713 $ 16034 $ 99926 § 68,282 § 41,322
Other currentassets ...................0........... 7,246 19,613 37,964 73,036 97,185
Oil and natural gas properties, net of accumulated

depreciation, depletion, amortization and impairment . .. 144305 307,920 549,182 737,992 951,132
Other property and equipment, net of depreciation ....... 896 1,539 2,983 71,956 11,967

Oil and natural gas properties held for sale, net of
accumulated depreciation, depletion, amortization and

impairment ......... 12,067 — — — 75,496
Other assets .....ovve e i eae s s 2,465 2,663 6,103 1,679 10,269
Total a8SetS . . v vt et et it . $172,692 $347,769 $696,158 $888,945 $1,187.401
Current Jiabilities . ... .ovvrorrteer i, $ 10,873 $ 46,156 3 62,106 $132,798 $ 119,795
Longtermdebt .. ... ... ... .. ... i 36,900 58,900 —_ 86,000 188,000
Other long-term liabilities .......................... 1,117 4,387 14,320 39,364 123,209
Stockholders’ equity .. .. ......... ... .... e 123,802 238326 619,732 630,783 756,397
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity ........... $172,692 $347,769 $696,158 $888,945 $1,187,401




Item 7. . Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction

“The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with rhe “Selected Financial Data”
and the accompanying financial statements and related notes included elsewhere herein. The fellowing
discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our future plans, estimates, beliefs and expected
performance. The forward-looking statements are dependent upon events, risks and uncertainties that may be
outside our control. Our actual results could differ materially from those discuszsed in these forward-looking
statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, market
prices for natural gas and oil, economic and competitive conditions, regulatory|changes, estimates of proved
reserves, potential failure to achieve production from development projects, capital expenditures and other
uncertainties, as well as those factors discussed below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
particularly in “Item IA. Risk Factors” and the "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements”, all
of which are difficult to predict. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward- Iookmg events
discussed may not occur,

Overview

We explore for and develop oil and natural gas in the Rocky Mountain region of the.United States:On |
December 15, 2004, we completed our initial public offering in which we received net proceeds of $347 million
after deducting underwriting fees and other offering costs. '

We intend to increase stockholder value by profitably growing reserves and production, primarily through
drilling operations. We seek high quality exploration and development projects with potential for providing long-
term drilling inventories that generate high returns. Substantially all of our revenues are generated through the
sale of natura! gas and oil production at market prices. Approximately 92% of our December 2006 production
volume was natural gas. ' : CoomT ’

Qur company was formed in January 2002. We began active natural gas and oil operations’in March 2002
upon the acquisition of properties in the Wind River Basin. We acquired these pjroperties from a subsidiary of the -
Williams Companies, which acquired these properties in connection with the Wiilliams Companies’ acquisition of
Barrett Resources Corporation in August 2001. Since inception, we substantially increased our activity level and
the number of properties that we operate. Our operating results reflect this growth. Also in 2002, we completed
two additional acquisitions of properties in the Uinta, Wind River, Powdér Rlver and Williston Basins. In early
2003, we completed an acquisition of largely undeveloped coalbed methane propertles located in the Powder
River Basin. In September 2004, we acquired properties in the Piceance Basin consisting of 8,537 net developed '
and 9,044 net undeveloped lease acres, and 79 net producing wells in or around|the Gibson Gulch field (the
“Piceance Basin Acquisition Properties”). In May 2006, we acquired properties|in the Powder River Basin -
consisting of approximately 84,300 gross (52,000 net) acres of oil and gas leasehold interests of coal bed
methane properties in the Powder River Basin of Wyoming. A summary of our Isigniﬁcant property acquisitions
is as follows: - L

Primary Locati=ons of Acquired Properties - - Date Acquired Purchase Price

. : ! . (in millions)
Wind River Basin .. ...t March 2002 5 74
UntaBasin .................... P e P Aprll 2002 - 8 ..
Wind River, Powder River and Williston Basins . . . e December 2002 . 62
Powder River Basin ......... ... .00t iiiiinriniainin.. March2003 35
Piceance Basin .................... e e September 2004 137 -
PowderRiverBasin ............... ..., e May 2006 .79 .




Because of our rapid growth through acquisitions and development of our properties, our historical results
of operations and period-to-period comparisons of these results and certain financial data may not be meaningful
or indicative of future results. -

_Our acquisitions were financed with a combination of funding from equity investments in us, our bank line
of credit, cash flow from operations and, in the case of the Piceance Basin properties, a bridge loan that we repaid
in December 2004 with a portion of the proceeds from our initial public offering. The March 2002 purchase of
properties in the Wind River Basin included core properties in the Cave Gulch and Wallace Creek fields. The
April 2002 acquisition in the Uinta Basin included the West Tavaputs project area. The December 2002
acquisition included the Cooper Reservoir field, properties in the Powder River Basin and oil properties in the
Williston Basin, along with other properties that were not deemed core to our business operations (approximately
20% of the acquisition) and that were sold in 2003. The September 2004 acquisition included the Gibson Gulch
field in the Piceance Basin. The May 2006 acquisition included properties in the Powder River Basin of
Wyoming. Our activities are now focused on evaluating and developing our asset base in the areas mentioned
above, as well as in other non-core exploratory projects, by increasing our acreage positions and evaluating
potential acquisitions.

As of December 31, 2006, we had 428 Bcfe of estimated net proved reserves with a Standardized Measure of
$529 million (at $4.46 CIG and $61.06 WTI). As of December 31, 2005, we had 341 Befe of estimated net proved
reserves with a Standardized Measure of $782 million (at $7.72 CIG and $61.04 WTTI), while at December 31, 2004,

* * we had 292 Befe of estimated net proved reserves with a Standardized Measure of $466 million (at $5.52 CIG and

$43.46 WTI).

The average sales prices received for natural gas, before the effects of hedging contracts, for the years ended
December 31, 2004,2005, and 2006 were $5.53 per Mcf, $7.73 per Mcf and $5.94 per Mcf respectively. Before
the effect of hedging contracts, our average prices received for oil for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005
and 2006 were $39.49 per Bbl, $53.69 per Bbl and $59.39 per Bbl, respectively.

Higher oil and natural gas prices over the past several years have led to higher demand for drilling rigs,
operating personnel and field supplies and services, and have caused increases in the costs of those goods and
services. To date, the higher sales prices for natural gas and cil have more than offset the higher field costs.
Given the inherent volatility of oil and natural gas prices that are influenced by many factors beyond our control,
we plan our activities and budget based on conservative sales price assumptions, which generally are lower than
the average sales prices we received in 2006. In addition, we hedge a portion of our expected production. We
focus our efforts on increasing natural gas reserves and production while controlling costs at a level that is
appropriate for long-term operations. Our future earnings and cash flows are dependent on our ability to manage

our overall cost structure to a level that allows for profitable production.

Like all oil and gas exploratlon and production companies, we face the challenge of natural production
declines. As initial reservoir pressures are depleted, oil and gas production from a given well naturally decreases.
Thus, an oil and gas exploration and production company depletes part of its asset base with each unit of oil or

. natural gas it produces. We attempt to overcome this natural decline by drilling to find additional reserves and

acquiring more reserves than we produce. Our future growth will depend on our ability to continue to add *
reserves in excess of production. We will maintain our focus on costs to add reserves through drilling and
acquisitions as well as the costs necessary to produce such reserves. Our ability to add reserves through drilling is
dependent on our capital resources and can be limited by many factors, including our ability to timely obtain
drilling permits and regulatory approvals. The permitting and approval process has been more difficult in recent
years than in the past due to increased activism from environmental and other groups and has extended the time it
takes us to receive permits and other necessary approvals. Because of our relatively small size and concentrated
property base, we can be disproportionately disadvantaged by delays in obtaining or failing to obtain drilling
approvals compared to companies with larger or more dispersed property bases. As a result, we are less able to
shift drilling activities to areas where permitling may be easier and we have fewer properties over which to
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spread the costs related to complying with these regulations and the costs or forfgdne opportunities resulting
from delays. R h

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected operating data for the periods indicated:

Operating Results:
Operating Revenues

Qil and gas production ........
Other ......................

Operating Expenses

Lease operating expense .......
Gathering and transportation
EXPENSE . ... ..
Production tax expense ........
Exploration expense ..........
Impairment, dry hole costs and
abandonment expense .......
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization ..............
General and administrative . . . ..
Non-cash stock-based
compensation expense (1) .. ..

Total operating expenses .. ... ..

Production Data:

Natural gas (MMecf) ..........
Qil(MBbls) .................
Combined volumes (MMcfe) ...
Daily combined volumes
(Mmefe/d) ................

Average Prices (2):

Natural gas (perMecf) .........
Oil(perBbl) ................
Combined (per Mcfe) .........

Average Costs (per Mcfe):

D

Lease operating expense ..... ..
Gathering and transportation
EXPENSE .. ...t
Production tax expense ........
Depreciation, depletion and
amortization (3) ...........,
General and administrative ... ..

Year Ended  Year Ended

2004

2005

b

2004 to 2005}
December 31, December 31, W December 31, M

Amount

Percent

Year Ended
2006

2005 to 2006

Amount Percent

|
(in thousands)

$165,843  $284.406 $118,563 71%
4,137 4353 206 5%
14,592 - 19,585 4993  34%
5968 11950 5982 100%
20,087 33465 13378 67%
12,661 10930  (1,731) (1;1)%

}

24,011 55,353 31,342 131%
68,202 89499 21297 31%
18,061 24,540 6,479  36%
3,031 3212 181 6%
$166,613 $248534 $ 81,921  49%
28,864 36,287 7423 26%
474 523 49 10%
31,708 39,425 7716 24%
87 108 21 24%

$ 510 $ 716 $ 206 40%
39.49 46.68 719 18%
523 7.21 198  38%

$ 046 $ 050 $ 004 t9%
0.19 0.30 0.11 58%
0.63 0.85 022  35%
215 227 012 6%
0.57 0.62 007 .13%

$344,127

$59721 21%

31,202 26,849 617%
29768 10,183 52%
15,721 3771 32%
25886  (71.579) (23)%
9,390  (1,540) (14)%
12,824 (42,529) (7%
138,549 49,050 55%
27,752 3212 13%
6,491 31279 102%
$266,381 $ 17,847 1%
47,928 11641 32%
696 173 33%
52,104 12,679 32%
143 35 32%

$ 640 $ (076 (11)%
53.50 682 15%
6.60 0.61) (8)%

$ 057 $ 007 14%
0.30 000 0%
0.50 (0.35) (41)%
2.69 040 18%
0.53 009 (15)%

Non-cash stock-based compensation is presented herein as a separate line item but is combined with generai
and administrative expense for a total of $21.1 million, $27.8 million and $?4.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively, in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.
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Management believes the separate presentation of the non-cash component of general and administrative
expense is useful because the cash portion provides a better understanding of our required cash for general
and administrative expenses. We also believe that this disclosure allows more accurate comparison to our
peers, who may have higher or lower costs associated with equity grants.

(2) Average prices shown in the table are net of the effects of hedging transactions. As a result of hedging
transactions, natural gas and oil production revenues were reduced by $12.4 million and $24.3 miilion for
the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and increased by $18.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2006. Before the effect of hedging contracts, the average price we received for natural
gas in 2006 was $5.94 per Mcf compared with $7.73 per Mcf in 2005 and $5.53 per Mcf in 2004.

(3) The depreciation, depletion and amortization per Mcfe for the year ended December 31, 2006 excludes the

* production associated with our properties held for sale throughout the year in the Uinta, Williston and DJ
-Basins as these properties were excluded from amortization beginning with the point at Wthh these
properties were classified as held for sale.

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2005

_ Production Revenites. Production revenues increased from $284.4 million for the year ended December 31,
2005 to $344.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 due to an increase in production, offset by _
decreases in natural gas prices. Production increases from the development of existing properties added
approximately $83.7 million of production revenues, which were partially offset by lower natural gas pnces that
decreased revenues by $24.0 million. Significant decreases in product prices would significantly reduce our
revenues from existing properties. See —Quanutatlve and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk™.

Total production volumes for the 2006 calendar year increased 32% from 2005 with increases in prqduction
from the Uinta, Williston and Piceance Basins, which increased 115%, 3% and 179% respectively. The increase
in production was partially offset by decreases in the Wind River and Powder River Basins, which decreased
27% and 17%, respectively, from 2005. Additional information concerning production is in the following table.

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2006
(013 Natural Gas Total 0il Natural Gas - Total
) ({MBbls) (MMch) (MMcfe) (MBbls) (MMch) {MMcfe)
Wind River Basin .......... - 68 15,157 15,565 46 11,156 11,432
UintaBasin ............... 8 7,612 7,660 43 16,195 16,453
Powder River Basin . ........ — 8,405 8,405 — 7.002 " 7,002
Williston Basin ............ - 376 149 2,405 389 145 2,479
Piceance Basin............. 45 4,937 5,207 193 13,377 14,535
Other .......ccoiiiinun.. 26 27 183 25 53 203

Total ................ 523 36,287 39,425 696 47,928 52,104

The production decrease in the Wind River Basin is due to natural production declines in our Cave Gulch,
Codper Reservoir and Wallace Creek fields that occurred throughout 2006. This decrease in production is
partially offset by our new deep Lakota discovery well, the Bullfrog 33-19, which had first production in June
2006. The production increase in the Uinta Basin is due to development activities in West Tavaputs, including
the exploration success of the Peters Point 4-12D-13-16 Deep well, which was put on production in November
2006, along with first production from our initial Lake Canyon discovery wells. Furthermore, the completion of a
third party gas processing facility in mid-August 2006 increased our gross takeaway capacity in the West
Tavaputs field by approximately 20 MMcf/d. The production decrease in the Powder River Basin is due to
natural production declines in our existing mature fields and the lag time between drilling of coal bed methane
well and production of natural gas while dewatering occurs, which are partially offset by the production from the
properties we acquired from CH4 in early May 2006. In late August 2006, we sold the majority of the then
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producing properties acquired in the CH4 acquisition. As of December 31, 2006!5 we had 127 net operated coal
bed methane wells in the dewatering stage. The production increase in the Piceance Basin is the result of our
continued development activities.

Hedging Activities. In 2006, we hedged approximately 43% of our natural gas volumes and 39% of our oil 1
volumes, resulting in'an increase in gas revenues of $22.2 million, offset by a reduction in oil revenues of $4.1 million.
In 2005 we hedged approximately 50% of our natural gas volumes and 49% of our oil volumes, resulting in a
reduction in both natural gas and oil revenues of $20,7 million and $3.6 million resﬁective]y.

Other Operating Revenues. Other operating revenues increased from $4.4jmillion for the year ended
December 31, 2005 to $31.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006. The increase is primarily due to
gains realized on joint exploration agreements and other property sales in the Powder River, Paradox, Williston,
Wind River, Big Horn, Montana Overthrust, Uinta and DJ Basins.

Lease Operating Expense and Gathering and Transportation Expense. Our lease operating expense
increased slightly to $0.57 per Mcfe in 2006 compared to $0.50 in 2005, while c‘mr gathering and transportation
expense remained consistent at $0.30 per Mcfe in 2006. The increase in lease operatmg expense is primarily due
to an increase in the Powder River Basin from $0.60 per Mcfe in 2005 to $1.05 per Mcfe in 2006. This increase
- on a per Mcfe basis in the Powder River Basin is due to natural production dechnes in our mature fields, and the
higher water handling charges on dewatering wells in new pilot areas that have no offsetting gas production as
yet, As of December 31, 2006, we had 127 net operated coal bed methane wellslm the dewatering stage. Lease
operating expense also increased in the Williston Basin from $1.10 per Mcfe in- 2005 to $1.50 per Mcfe in 2006
as a result of the high volumes of water being produced from wells recently put bonto producnon

We have entered into long-term firm transportation contracts on a portion of our production 10 guarantee
capacity on major pipelines to avoid possible production curtailments that may z'mse due to limited pipeline
capacity. The majority of our long-term firm transportation agreements are for gas production from the Piceance
and Uinta Basins where we expect to spend a significant portion of our capital budget in future years. Included in
the above gathering and transportation expense per Mcfe is $0.05 and $0.07 of transportation expense from long-
term contracts for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. |

Production Tax Expense. Total p‘roduction taxes decreased from $33.5 million in 2005 to $25.9 million in
2006 . Although,we realized higher production revenues from the increase in our production volumes, our overall
production taxes decreased as a larger portion of our revenues were generated from areas with lower tax rates.
Production taxes as a percentage of natural gas and oil sales before hedging adjdstments decreased from 10.8% in
2005 to 7.9% in 2006. Production taxes are primarily based on the welihead vah'xes of production and tax rates
that vary across the different areas that we operate. As the ratio of gur producuon changes from area to area, our
production rate will either increase or decrease depending on the quantities produced from each area and the

" production tax rates in effect in each individual area. For example, as we contm\'xe to develop our acreage
position in the Piceance Basin in the state of Colorado, where the production tax rate for the state will
approximate 6%, which is lower than our current overall rate, our overall produt':non tax rate will decrease as
more volumes are added from this lower tax rate area. Conversely, our overall p'roduction tax rate will increase as
more volumes are added from higher tax areas such as the state of Wyoming, ‘

Exploration Expense. Exploratlon expense decreased from $10.9 million i in 2005 to $9.4 mllllon in 2006.
Exploration expense for 2003 includes $9.4 million for seismic programs prmc1pa11y in the Uinta, Wind River
and Big Horn Basins, and Montana Overthrust, and $1.5 million for delay rentals and other costs. Exploration
expense for 2006 included $8.1 million for seismic programs, principally in the Montana Overthrust, Wind
River, Paradox, and DJ Basins, and $1.3 miilion for delay rentals and other costs.

Impatrment, Dry Hole Costs and Abandonment Expense. Our 1mpa1rment1 dry hole costs and
abandonment expense decreased from $55.3 million in 2005 to $12.8 million in 2006 Daring 2005, impairment
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expense was $42.7 million, dry hole costs were $11.1 million for dry holes in the Wind River, Green River, Uinta
and Williston Basins, and abandonment expense was $1.5 million. The impairment expense is the result of a
$29.5 million 1mpzurment charge in the Cooper Reservoir field, an $11.3 million impairment charge in the Talon .
field, and a $1.9 million impairment charge in the East Madden field, all of which are located in the Wind River
Basin. During the quarter ended June 30, 2005, production from existing and recently drilled infill wells in the
Cooper Reservoir field declined more rapidly than anticipated, indicating well interference and limited .
downspacing opportunities. In the Talon and East Madden fields, production from exploratory wells was at a rate -
that was not economic based on the capital investment. During 2006, impairment expense was $1.2 million, dry
hole costs were $10.0 million for dry holes primarily in the Uinta and Williston Basins, and abandonment
expense was $1.6 million, The impairment expense in 2006 related to our Cedar Camp and Tumbleweed
properties within the Uinta Basin based upon our fair value analysis. We sold these properties in December 2006.
Included in $10.0 million of dry hole costs for 2006 is $3.5 million related to the #1DLB, an exploration well
located in the Lake Canyon area of the Uinta Basin. This well, which was completed in April 2006, was tested
and determined to be commerciat in the Wasatch formation and non-commercral in the zones be]ow the Wasatch;
thus, a proportionate share of the well cost 1s bemg expensed.

_ We account for oil and gas exploration and production activities using the successful effarts method under
which we capitalize exploratory well costs until a determination is made as to whether or not the wells have
found proved reserves. If'proved reserves are not assigned to an exploratory well, the costs of drilling the well
are charged to expense, otherwise, the costs remain capitalized and are depleted as production occurs. The
following table shows the costs of exploratory wells for which drilling was completed and which are included in
unevaluated oil and gas properties as of December 31, 2006 pending determination of whether the wells will be

© assigned proved reserves, The following table does'not include $18.6 million related to- exploratory wells in-

progress for which drilling had not been completed at December 31, 2006:

Time Elapsed Since Drilling Completed

0-3 4-6 7-12 »>12 -
Months Months Months Months Total
N : (in thousands)
Wells for which drilling has completed . .. .. ©$11,453 ° $11,501 $6,821 $21 179 $50,954

The majority of our exploratory wells that have been capitalized for a period greater than one year are
located in the Powder River Basin, In this basin, we drill wells into varidus coal seams. In order to produce gas
from the coal seams, a period of dewatering lasting from a few to 24 months, or in'some cases longer, is required
prior to obtaining sufficient gas production to justify capital expenditures for compression and gathering and to
classify the reserves as proved

Depreciation, Deplenon and Amortization. Deprecranon depletion and amomzatron {(“DD&A”) expense

" was $138.5 million in 2006 compared to $89.5 million in 2005. In 2006, $27.7 million of the increase was duc to .
the 32% increase in production and $21.3 million was due to an increased DD&A rate for 2006. In 20085, the ’
weighted average DD&A rate was $2.27 per Mcfe compared to $2.69 per Mcfe in 2006. Under successful efforts
accounting, depletion expense is separately computed for each producing area. The capital expenditures for
proved properties for each area compared to the proved reserves corresponding to each producing area determine
a depletion rate for current production: In 2006, the relationship of capital expenditurés, proved reserves and

" production from certain producing areas yielded a higher depletion rate than 2005. Future depletion rates will be
adjusted to reflect future capital expendrtures and proved reserve changes in specific areas.

General and Administrative Expense. General and administrative expense, excluding non- -cash stock-based
compensation, increased $3.2 millién from $24.5 mitlion in 2005 to $27.8 million in 2006. This increase was
primarily due to increased personnel required to support our caprtai program and production levels. As of
December 31, 2006, we had 138 full-time employees in our corporate office.compared to 127 as of December 31,
2005. We also incurred $0.4 million of nonrecurring expenses during the year ended December 31, 2006 as a
resuit of exploring financing options. On a per unit of production basis, general and administrative expense,
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excluding non-cash stock based compensation, decreased from $0.62 per Mc:i“el in 2005 to $0.53 per Mcfe in
2006. A significant portion of our general and administrative expense relates to the management of our capital
expenditure, program. As our capital investments have resulted in increased prdductlon levels, we expect general
and admmlstratlve expense per unit of production to decrease. - . :

Non-cash stock- based compensatlon expense included in general and administrative expense increased from
$3.2 million in 2005 to $6.5 million in 2006. Non-cash stock-based compensatlon for 2005 and 2006 is related to
vesting of the restricted common stock issued to management and employees upon our formation, our stock
option plans and nonvested equity shares of common stock issued to employees. The increase in non-cash stock-
based compensation expense is primarily due to the increased number of equity awards that were granted during
the later part of 2005 and in 2006. Equity awards to employees generally were. made in the first quarter of 2006 .
and were not made in the first quarter of 2005 because of the awards prevnously made in connection with our
initial public offering in December 2004. The increase is also due to the acceleration of vesting of share-based
awards for certain of our officers who left us during 2006. Additionally, we an{ended our 401(k) Plan on
* January 1, 2006 to increase our match of the employees’ contribution from 4%tup to 6%, of which 50% of the
match is made with our common stock.

The components of non-cash stock-based compensation for 2005 and 2006 are shown in the following table.

' Year Ended
December 31,
2005 2006

) (in thousands)
Restricted commonstock . ............. .00 $ 4389 % 38
Stock options and nonvested equity shares of common stock .......... ... 2,723 5,938
Shares issued for 401(k) plan . ... ... oo ] ... — 515
Total l ..... $3,212  $6,491

Restricted common stock, which was issued to founding management and employees of the Company on
January 30, 2002, was subject to dual vesting provisions of: (1) one share vestl‘ng for every $141.62355 received
from investors in Series B Preferred Stock (“dollar vesting”), and (2) 20% vesting upon purchase and an
additional 20% vesting each year for four years after purchase (“time vesting")t These restricted shares vest at the
later to occur of time vesting and dollar vesting. As of January 31, 2006, the restricted common stock was 100%
dollar vested and 100% time vested and the remaining compensation expense was fully recognized.

Interest Expense. Interest expense mcreased $7.1 million 10 $10.3 mllhon in 2006 compared to $3.2 million
in 2005. The increase was due to higher debt levels during 2006 to fund exploratlon and development activities
and a lack of a need to draw on our credit facility until the third quarter of 2005 due to the availability of the
proceeds from our initial public offering in December 2004. As a result, the mt'erest expense diring the year of
2005 was primarily comprised of debt commitment fees and amortization of deferred financing costs. The
weighted average outstanding balances under our credit facility for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006
were $23.4 million and $158 9 million, respectively.

Interest cost is capitalized as a component of property cost for significant exploration and development
projects that require greater than six months to be readied for their intended use Until the third quarter of 2006,
we had not capitalized any interest expense. The weighted average interest rate used to capitalize interest for the
current year was 7.1%, including interest and commitment fees paid on the unused portion of the credit facility
and amortization of deferred financing costs. We capitalized interest costs of $1.0 miltion for the year ended
December 31 2006.

Incame Tax Expense. Our effective tax rate was 38. 7% in 2006 and 39. 0% in 2005 Our effective tax rates
for 2006 and 2005 differ from the federal and state statutory rates prlmanly be(l:ause of the amount of stock-based
compensation expense recorded for financial statement purposes under Accounting Principles Board (“APB™)
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Opinion No, 25 and SFAS No. 123(R) that is not deductlble for income tax purposes. These non-deductible
permanent differences caused our effective tax rate to be higher than the rate that would have been effective if
the costs would have been deduct@e All of our income tax benefits and liabilities to date are deferred. While we
have net operating loss carryforwards dand deductions from our drilling activities, we are subject to the federal
alternative minimum tax (“AMT") and state income tax. We expect to incur cash payments ; associated with these
taxes within the next year
Net Income.‘We generated net-income of $62.0 million ini-2006 compared to net income of $23.8 million in
2005. Our net income increased due to the increase in production and an increase in other operating revenues, as
previously discussed in this section. Additionally, impairment, dry hole costs and abandonment expense
decreased along with exploration expense and productlon tax expense. Offsetting the increase in operating
revenues were increases in operatmg expenses, interest expense, and the provision for income taxes durmg 2006 -
as compared to 2005 - :

Year Ended December 31, 2005 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2004

Production Revenues. Production revenues increased from $165.8 million for the‘year ended Décember 31,
2004 to $284.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 due to both an increase in production and increases-
in natural gas and oil prices. Price increases added approximately $62.8 million of production revenues, and
production increases from the development of existing properties added approximately $55.8 million of
production revenues, Significant decreases in product prices would significantly reduce our revenues from
existing properties. See “__Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk”. Other revenues totaled
$4.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, which were prmcnpaliy gams on disposals of oil and gas
propertles

Total production volumes for 2005 increased 24% from 2004 with increases in all of the major producing
basins with the exceptlon of the Wind River Basin, which showed a decrease of 15% from 2004. Additional
information concerning productlon is in the following table. ~

T 3

Year Ended December 31,

2004 T 2008
. : . Natural
- -0Oil Natural Gas Total Oil . Gas . Total

) . . ) (MBbls) (MMcf) (MMcfe) (MBbls) (MMch (MMcfe)

Wind River Basin ....._.. e e 107 17,676 18,318 68 . 15,157 15,565
UintaBasin ................ PP 6 5295 5,331 g8 . 7.612 7,660
Powder RiverBasin .......... .. .ccvevnurn... — 4,934 4934 — 8,405 8,405
Williston Basin .................. PP - 329 162 2,136 - 376 149 2,405
Piceance Basin . .... s PP - .5 779 .809 45 4,937 5207
Other ....... . et S 27 - 18 180 26 27 183
*Total ...l PR PRSI ..., . 474 " 28864 31,708 523 36287 39425

The production decrease in the Wind River Basin is dué to natural production declines in our Cave Gulch,
Cooper Reservoir and Wallace Creek fields that occurred throughout 2003. These natural production declines in
- the Wind River Basin were partially offset as the result of the-exploration success of the Bullfrog Federal 14-18
well, the successful re-stimulation of the Cave Guich 1-29 well, and of our development activities in the Talon
field. Both the Bullfrog Federal 14-18 and the Cave Gulch 1-29-were put on production i in July 2005. The
production increase in the Uinta Basin is due to development activities in West Tavaputs along with the
exploration success of the Peters Point 6-7D well, which was put on production in October 2005. The production
increase in the Powder River Basin reflects the success of our development activities throughout 2005. The
production increase in thé Williston Basin is principally due to continued exploration and development activities
on our properties. The productlon increase in the Piceance Basin is the result of a full year of productlon and our
development activities on properties we acquired in September 2004.
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Hedging Activities. In 2005, we hedged apcroximalely 50% of our natural gas volumes and 49% of our oil
volumes, resulting in a reduction in revenues of $24.3 million. In 2004 we hedgfi'-d approximately 38% of our
natural gas volumes, incurring a reduction in revenues of $12.4 million. No oil volumes were hedged in 2004.

Lease Operating Expense and Gathering and Transportation Expense. Our lease operating expense
increased to $0.50 per Mcfe in 2005 compared to $0.46 in 2004, while our gathe:n'ng and transportation expense
increased from $0.19 per Mcfe in 2004 to $0.30 per Mcfe in 2005, The increase in lease operating expense is
primarily the result of equipment rentals and diesel fuel costs associated with a temporary electrical power supply
for new wells in the Powder River Basin. The increase in gathering and transponauon expense is principally
attributable to an increase of $5.4 million for our CBM properties in the Powderlever Basin relating to increased
third party charges for compressor fuel, processing charges incurred for removal.of CO, in order to meet pipeline
specifications, the relative increase in production in the Powder River Basin, which is a higher gathering cost
area as compared to our conventional gas areas, and firm transportation fees we commenced incurring in 2005.
We have entered into long-term firm transportation contracts on a portion of our producn(m to guarantee capacity
on major pipelines to avoid possible production curtailments that may arise due to limited pipeline capacity in the
Wind River, Uinta and Powder River Basins.

Production Tax Expense. Total production taxes increased from $20.1 million in 2004 to $33.5 millicn in
2005 as a resuit of higher production revenues, which increased primarily due to higher prices received and
higher volumes produced in 2005 compared to 2004. Production taxes as a percentage of natural gas and oil sales
before hedging adjustments decreased from 11.3% in 2004 to 10.8% in 2005. Productxon taxes are primarily
based on the wellhead values of production and tax rates that vary across the dlfferent areas that we operate. As

-the ratio of our production changes from area to area, our production rate will elther increase or decrease

depending on the quantities produced from each area and the production tax rate$ in effect in each individual
area. .

Exploration Expense. Exploration expense decreased from $12.7 million in 2004 to $10.9 million in 2005.
The costs in 2004 include $11.3 million for seismic programs primarily in the DJ, Wind River and Uinta Basins
and $1.4 million for delay rentals and other costs. The costs in the 2005 period u{clude $9.4 million for seismic
programs principally in the Uinta, Wind River and Big Horn Basins, and Montana Overthrust, and $1.5 miltion
for delay rentals and other costs.

Impairment, Dry Hole Costs and Abandonment Expense. Our impairment, dry hole costs and abandonment
expense increased from $24.0 million in 2004 to $55.3 million in 2005. During 2004 impairment expense was $0.5
million, dry hole costs were $23.0 million for exploratory dry holes primarily in the Wind River and Uinta Basins,
and abandonment expense was $0.5 million. During 2005, impairment expense was $42.7 million, dry hote costs
were $11.1 million for dry holes in the Wind River, Green River, Uinta and WIIIISI:bH Basins, and abandonment
expense was $1.5 million. The impairment expense is the result of a $29.5 million impairment charge in the Cooper
Reservoir field, $11,3 million impairment charge in the Talon field, and $1.9 million impairment charge in the East
Madden-field, all of which are located in the Wind River Basin. During the quarterIended June 30, 2003, production
from existing and recently drilled infiil wells in the Cooper Reservoir field declined more rapidly than anticipated
mdlcaung well intérference and limited downspacing opportunities. In the Talon a;lld East Madden fields,
production from exploratory wells was at a rate that was not economic based on the capital investment,
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The following table shows the costs of exploratory wells for which drilling was completed and which are
included in unevaluated oil and gas properties as of December 31, 2005 pending determination of whether the
wells will be assigned proved reserves. The following table does not include $7.1 million related to exploratory
wells in progress for which drilling had not been completed at December 31, 2005:

Time Elapsed Since Drilling Comi}leted

0-3 4-6 7-12 > 12
Months Months Months  Months Total

(in thousands)

Wells for which drilling has compieted ................... $23,182 $19,194 $8,646 $3,418 $54,440

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization, Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense was $89.5 million
in 2005 compared to $68.2 million in 2004. The 24% increase in production accounted for $16.6 million of the
increase, and $4.7 million was due to an increased DD&A rate for 2005, In 2004, the weighted average DD&A rate
was $2.15 per Mcfe compared to $2.27 per Mcfe in 2005. Under successful efforts accounting, depletion expense is
separately computed for each producing area. The capital expenditures for proved properties for each area compared to
the proved reserves corresponding to each producing area determine a depletion rate for current production. In 2005,
the relationship of capital expenditures, proved reserves and production from certain producing areas yielded a higher
depletion rate than 2004. Future depletion rates will be adjusted to reflect future capital expenditures and proved
reserve changes in specific areas.

General and Administrative Expense. Generai and administrative expense increased $6.5 million from
$18.0 million in 2004 to $24.5 million in 2005. This increase was primarily due to increased personnel required. .
to support our capital expenditure program and production levels. As of December 31, 2005, we had 127 full-
time employees in our corporate office compared to 101 as of December 31, 2004. On a per unit of production
basis, general and administrative expense increased from $0.57 per Mcfe in 2004 to $0.62 per Mcfe in 2005.

Non-cash stock-based compensation expense included in general and administrative expense was $3.0 million
in 2004 compared to $3.2 million in 2005. Non-cash stock-based compensation for 2004 is related to the vesting of
the restricted common stock issued to management and employees upon cur formation of our stock option plans and
purchases by employees of Series B convertible preferred stock at less than estimated fair market value. Non-cash
stock-based compensation for 2005 is also related to the vesting of the restricted common stock issued to
management upon our formation and our stock option plans, as well as nonvested equity shares of common stock
issued to employees in 2005. The increase in expense was due principally to the recognition of compensation cost
over the requisite service period for those awards granted in December 2004 and during 2005. The components of
non-cash stock-based compensation for 2004 and 2005 are shown in the following table.

Year Ended
December 31,
2004 - 2005
. (in thousands)
Restricted common stock ...... ... ... . oo P $2,044 § 489
Stock options and nonvested equity shares of common stock .. ........ ... .... . 705 2,723
Employee purchases of Series B convertible preferred stock . ................. 282 —
Total ... [ S . $3,031 $3,212

Restricted common stock was subject to dual vesting provisions of: (1) one share vesting for every
$141.62355 received from investors in Series B Preferred Stock (“dollar vesting™), and (2) 20% vesting upon
purchase and an additional 20% vesting each year for four years after purchase (“‘time vesting”). These resiricted
shares vest at the later to occur of time vesting and dollar vesting. At December 31, 2005, the restricted common
stock was 100% dollar vested and 98.3% time vested. As a result of being 100% dollar vested, no additional
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stock-based deferred compensation on restricted common stock will be 1ncurre'd however, at December 31
2005, a balance of $0.04 million of deferred compensation remained to be amortized into non-cash stock-based
compensation expense through January 2006 as a result of time vesting.

Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased $6.7 million to $3.2 millionjin 2005 compared to 2004. The
decrease was due to higher debt levels in 2004 to fund acquisitions and development activities and a lack of a
need to draw on our credit facility until the third quarter of 2005 due to the avallablllty of the net proceeds from .
our initial public offering in December 2004. The weighted average outstandmg balance under our credit facility
was $73.7 million for 2004 as compared to $23.4 million for 2003. In additionito increased borrowmgs under our
credit facility in 2004, we borrowed $150 million under a bridge loan on Septe|mber 1, 2004 to fund the
acquisition of our Piceance Basin properties. The bridge loan, as well as the outstanding balance of our credit
facility, was repaid in full in December 2004 with proceeds from our initial publxc offering. The bridgé loan was
terminated at that time so that it had no outstandmg balance and no interest expense for the year ended
December 31, 2005. As of December 31, 2005, no interest had been capitalized. :

Income Tax Expense. Our effective tax rate was 39% in 2005 and 14% i in 2004. Qur effective tax rate for
2005 and 2004 differs from the statutory rates primarily because of the amount of stock-based compensation
expense recorded for financial statement purposes under APB Opinion No. 25 'and SFAS No. 123(R) that is not
deductible for income tax purposes. Due to our net income posmon for the yea'r ended December 31, 2005, these
rion-deductible permanent differences caused our effective tax rate to be htgher than the rate that would have
been effective if the costs would have been deductible. For the year ended Dec!ember 31, 2004, we were in a net
loss position and the non-deductible stock-based compensation expense caused the net loss to be greater than the
net loss upon which income taxes are computed, which decreased our effective tax rate. All of our income tax
benefits and provisions as of December 31 2005 were deferred.-

Net Income (Loss). We generated net income of $23.8 million in 2005 compared to a net loss of $5.3 million
in 2004. The primary reasons for the increase include an increase in total revenues of $118.8 million, an increase in
interest income of $1.5 million, a decrease in exploration expense of $1.7 mllhon and a decrease in interest expense
of $6.7 million. This was offset by an increase in non-cash impairment, dry holecosts and abandonment expense of
$31.3 million, an increase in depreciation, depletion and amortization of $21.3 mlllton and increase in other
operatmg expenses of $31.0 million and an increase in income tax expense of $16.0 million. .

Capital Resources and Liquidity

Our primary sources of liquidity since our formation in January 2002 have been from sales and other
issuances of securities, net cash provided by operating activities, a bank line of credit, proceeds from joint
exploration agreements, and a bridge loar to finance our September 2004 acqu’isit_ion of properties in the
Piceance Basin in Colorado. Our primary use of capital has been for the acquis:ition development, and
exploration of natural gas and oil properties. As we pursue growth, we continually monitor the capital resources
available to us to meet our future financial obllganons planned capital expendlture activities and liquidity. Our
future success in growing proved reserves and production will be highly dependent on capital resources available
to us and our success in finding or acquiring additional reserves. We actively r'ev1ew acquisition opportunities on
an ongoing basis. If we were to make significant additional acqutsnttons for caqh we may need to obtam
additional equity or debt financing.

At December 31 2006, our balance sheet reflected a cash balance of $41. 3 million with a belance of
$188.0 million outstanding on our credit facility.

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities was $86 9 nulhon 5184 3 mtllt?n and $236.9 million in 2004,
2005-and-2006, respectively. The increases in net cash provided:by operating activities were substantially due to
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increased production revenues, partially offset by increased expenses, as discussed above in “—Results of
Operations”. Changes in assets and liabilities reduced cash flow from operallons by $2.9 million, $0.02 mllhon

. and $1.4 m11110n in 2004, 2005 and 2006, respecnvely

Our operating '(:ash flow is sensitive to many variables, the most significant of which is the volatility of
prices for natural gas and oil produced. Prices for these commodities are determined primarily by prevailing

* ‘market conditions. Regional and worldwide economic activity, weather and other substantialty variable factors

influence markét conditions for these products. These factors are beyond our control and are difficult to predict.
For additional information on the impact of changlng prices on our ﬁnancml position, sec “—Quantitative and -
Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk” below.

To mitiga;e some of the potential negative impact on cash flow caused by changes in natural gas and oil
prices and to comply with our credit agreement, we have entered inio commodity swap and collar contracts to
receive fixed prices for a portion of our natural gas and cil production. At December 31, 2006, we had in place
natural gas and crude oil collars and swaps covering portions of our 2007 and 2008 production. Our natural gas
and oil derivative financial instruments have been designated as cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS
No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, and are classified as either current or
non-current assets in our Consolidated Balance Sheets based on sclieduled deliverj/ of the underlying production.

. Asof February 16, 2007, we had hedges in place for 39 960 000 MMBtu and 22,345,000 MMBw of natural
gas production for 2007 and 2008, respectively, and 292 MBbls and 183M Bbls of ail producnon for 2007 and
2008, respecuvely

L -;-
.

The table below summarizes the deliveries assocnated w:th lhe swap and collar contracts as of February 16,

Weighted Weighted Weighted
,Average  Average . Average
Deliveries Quantity Floor * Ceiling Fixed. - Index T
Product . Per Day Type . . Pricing - Pricing :Price ' Price(l) - Contract Period - -
Cashless Collars: . - . : " e )
' 15000 MMBtu $ 7.50  $12.25 nfa CIGRM 11/1/2006 — 3/31/2007
64,000 MMBw $ 607 3§ 9.61 nfa  CIGRM 1/1/2007 - 12/31/2007
800 Bbis  $55.00 $79.85 n/a WTI  1/1/72007 — 12/31/2007
35,000 - .MMBtu -8 650 $10.00 n/fa  CIGRM 1/1/2008 - 12/31/2008
500 Bbls $70.00 $80.15  .nfa . WTI 1/1/2008 - 12/31/2008
Swap Contracts: . , . _ e -
10,000 MMBu n/a  w/a. $6.50 CIGRM . 2/1/2007 - 2/28/2007
5,000 MMBw nfa na . $5.21 . CIGRM 2/ 172007 — 10/31/2007 -
20,000 MMBw . n/fa nfa $6.44 CIGRM 37172007 - 3/31/2007-
45,000 MMBwm nfa.  ‘nfa . $547 CIGRM- 4/1/2007 - 10/31/2007 -
. ; 55,000 MMBtu nfa’  nfa  $690° CIGRM 11/1/2007 - 3/31/2008 ~
) 10,000 MMBuw- nfa. nfa $6.75 CIGRM /172008 — 12/31/2008
‘ 5000 MMBtu n/a. . .n/a  $630 CIGRM - 4/1/2008 - 10/31/2008

(1) -CIGRM refers to Colorado Interstate Gas Rocky Mountains pﬁce as quoted in Platt’s for Inside FERC on
. the first business day of each month. WTT refers to the West Texas Itermediate price as quoted on the New
York Mercantile Exchange. See “—Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosuré about Market Risk”.

- By removing the price volatility from a pol'titm.of our natural gas and oil production for 2007 and 2008 we
have mitigated; but not eliminated, the potential effects of changing prices on our operating cash flow for those
periods. While mitigating negative effects-of falling commodity prices, these derivative contracts also limit the
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benefits we would receive from increases in commodity prices. It is our pelicy to enter into derivative contracts
only with counterparties thal are creditworthy ﬁnancnal institutions deemed by management as competent and
competltlve market makers. : :

Based on hedging contracts outstanding on December 31, 2006, our cash ﬂow hedge posmons from natural
gas and oil derivatives had an estimated net pre-tax asset of $46.7 miltion recordled as both current and
non-current assets, as appropriate, We will reclassify this amount to gains or losses included in natural gas and
oil production operating revenues as the hedged production quantity is produced;-Based on current projected
market prices, the net amount of existing unrealized after-tax income as of Decembcr 31, 2006 to be reclassified
from accumulated other comprehensive income to net income during 2007 would be $19.7 million. We anticipate
that all original forecasted transactions will occur by the end of the originally spfi:mﬁed time periods.

. _ ‘ . !

Capital Expenditures ' I

Our capital expenditures were $501.2 million in 2006, $347.4 million.in 2005 and.$347:5 million in 2004. The
total for 2006 includes $159.3 million for the acquisition of bath proved and unevalualed properties and other real
estate (including $36.8 million of a non-cash deferred tax liability associated with lhe difference between the tax
basis of the properties acquiréd in the CH4 acquisition and the book basis atmbuletli to the properties under the
purchase method of accounting), $318.5 million for drilling, development, exploration and exploitation of natural
gas and oil properties (including related gathering and facilities, but excluding exploratory dry holes, which are
expensed under successful efforts accounting as exploration expense), $21 0 million related to geologic and
geophysical costs and exploratory dry holes and abandonment costs, and $2.4 million for furniture, fixtures and
equipment. The total for 2005 includes $28.2 million for acquisitions of propemestmd other real estate,
$293.1 million for drilling, development, exploration and exploitation of natural gafs and oil properties, $23.6
million related to geologic and geophysical costs and exploratory dry holes, and $2l.5 millien for furniture, fixtures
and equipment. The total for 2004 includes $152.8 million for the acquisitions of p'ropenies, $156.4 million for
drilling, development, exploration and exploitation of natural gas and oil properties, $36.2 million related to
geologic and geophysical costs and exploratory dry holes, and $2.1 million for furrilture fixtures and equipment.
For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we received $87.6 ml]llOl‘l $13.8 million and $8.8 millton,
respectively, of proceeds principally from the sale of interests in oil and gas propemee Wthh are not deducted from
the capital expenditures presented above.

Unevaluated properties increased $52.9 million to $221.2 million, including $18.2 mitlion related to
unevaluated properties in the Williston and DJ Basins that currently are classified as held for sale, at
December 31, 2006 from $168.3 million at December 31, 2005, principally from|increases in leasehold,
including the CH4 acquisition and wells in progress resulting from mcreased development and exploratory
drilling activity during the year ended December 31, 2006. -

Excluding acquisitions, our current capital budget for 2007 is $425-450 mllllon of which we plan to spend
approximately $305-315 million for development drilling and facilities, $95-105 mllhon on exploratton drilling,
$12-17 million for leasehold acquisitions, $9 million on geologic and geophysmal costs, and $4 million for
equipment and other costs. By basin, we plan to spend $170-175 million in the. Plceance $165-$180 million in
the Uinta, $28-33 million in the Wind River, $25-$30 million in the Powder River, and $32-$37 in other areas.
Based upon our current natural gas and oil price expectations and our hedge posatilon for 2007, we anticipate that
our operating cash flow, expected proceeds from property sales, and available borrowing capacity under our
credit facility will be sufficient to fund our planned capital expenditures and olhe'r cash requirements for 2007.
However, future cash flows are subject to a number of variables, including the level of natural gas and oil
production and prices. There can be no assurance that operations and other cap:tal resources will provide cash in
sufficient amounts to maintain planned levels of capital expenditures.

The amount, timing, and allocation of capital expenditures is generally discr,etionary and within our control.
If natural gas and oil prices decline to levels below our acceptable levels or costs increase to levels above our
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acceptable levels, we could choose to defer a portion-of these planned 2007 capital expenditures until later
periods to achieve the desired balance between sources and uses of liquidity by prioritizing capital projects to -
first focus on those that we believe will have the highest expected financial returns and ability to generate near
term cash flow. We routinely monitor and adjust our capital expenditures in response to changes in prices,
drilling and acquisition costs, industry conditions and internally generated cash flow. Matters outside our control
that could affect the:timing of our capital expenditures include obtaining required permits and approvals in a
timely manner and the availability of rigs and crews. - '

Financing Activities

Credit Facility. Our current bank line of credit has a face value of $400.0 million, expandable up to
$600.0 million. This credit facility was entered into on February 4, 2004 and was amended on September 1, 2004
and on March 17, 2006. The first amendment increased the borrowing base from $150.0 million to $200.0
million and the second increased the face value of the line of credit from $200.0 million to $400.0 million,
increased the borrowing base from $200.0 million to $310.0 million, effective October 6, 2006, and extended the
maturity date from February 4, 2007 to March 17, 201}, The amended credit facility bears interest, based on the
borrowing base usage at the applicable London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”™) plus applicable margins
ranging from 1.0% to 1.75%, or an alternate base rate, based upon the greatér of the prime rate or the federal
funds effective rate plus applicable margins ranging from 0% to 0.25%. We pay commitment fees ranging from
0.25% to 0.375% of the unused borrowing base. This facility is secured by natural gas and oil properties
representing at least 80% of the value of our proved reserves and the pledge of all of the stock of our subsidiaries.
At December 31, 2005, we had $86.0 million outstanding under our amended credit facility and, as of
December 31, 2006, we had $188.0 million outstanding under the amended credit facility. For information
concerning the effect of changes in interest rates on interest payments under this facility, see “—Quantitative and
Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk—Interest Rate Risks” below.

The amended credit facility contains certain financial covenants. As of December 31, 2006, we were in
compliance with all of the financial covenants under the facility.

In December 2006, we entered into two interest rate derivative contracts to manage our exposure to changes in
interest rates. The first contract was a floating-to-fixed interest rate swap for a notional amount of $10.0 million and
the second was a floating-to-fixed interest rate collar for a notional amount of $10.0 million, both to terminate on
December 12, 2009. Under the swap, we will make payments to (or receive payments from) the contract
counterparty when the variable rate of one-month LIBOR falls below {or exceeds) the fixed rate of 4.70%. Under
the collar we will make payments to (or receive payments from) the contract counterparty when the variable'rate
falls below the floor rate of 4.50% or exceeds the ceiling rate of 4.95%. Qur interest rate derivative instruments have
been designated as cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133. The derivatives were structured to mirror
the critical terms of the hedged debt instruments; therefore, no ineffectiveness has been recorded in earnings.

Since we did not enter into interest rate derivative contracts until December 2006, there were no settlement
payments received or paid for the year ending December 31, 2006. Payments and receipts in future periods will
be included in interest expense. We anticipate that all originally forecasted transactions will occur by the end of
the originally specified time periods, and based on current projected interest rates, the net amount of existing
unrealized after-tax income as of December 31, 2006 to be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income to net income during 2007 would be approximately $0.1 million. At December 31, 2006, the estimated
fair value of the interest rate derivatives was a net asset of $0.1 million.
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Contractual Obligations. A summary of our contractual obligations as of and subsequent to December 31,
2006 is provided in the following table.

Payments Due By Year

. . ' After
2007 2008 2009 - 2010 2011 2011 Total
: - (in thousands) ’

Long-term debt (1) « .. oonneeennnen... $ — $ — $ — $ = $I880008% — $188,000
Other commitments for developing oil and ’ )

gas properties ............... e 25,640 2,705 — = - 28,345
Office and office equipment leases and . ’ i . ' '

other ........... ... ... .. ... .. ... 1,625 1,504 1540 1,593 - 450 ° — 6,712
Firm transportation and processing .

AEPEETNENLS .. .. o.veie i iennnn s 5,801 15,027 17,353 17,76;4 23,700 104,420 184,065
Asset retirement obligat_ions 23 ....... — 8410 * 1,228 ° 715 - 1,871 20,374 32,598
Total ... e . $33,066 $27,646 $20, 121 $20, 072 $214,021 $124,794 $439,720

(1) Amount does not include future commitment fees, interest expense, or other fees on our credit fac:llty
because the credit facility is a floating rate instrument, and we cannot determine with accuracy the timing of
future loan advances, repayments or future interest rates to be charged. :

(2) Neither the ultimate settlement amounts nor the timing of our asset retirement obligations can be precisely
determined in advance. See “—Critical Accounting Polictes and Estimates,]’ below for a more detailed
discussion of the nature of the accounting estimates involved in estimating asset retirement obligations.

(3) Amount includes Asset Retirement Obligations of $3.4 million associated with Williston and Tri-State
Basins, which are currently classified as held for sale. |

We have entered into contracts that provide firm transportation capacity and processing rights on pipeline ‘
systems, The remaining terms on these contracts range from 1 to 11 years and require us to pay transportation
demand and processing charges regardless of the amount of pipeline capacuy utilized by us.

In addition to the commitments above, we have commitments for the purchase of facilities equipment as of
and subsequent to December 31, 2006 for a total of $14.1 million.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and resuits of operauons are based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accountmg principles generally
accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and elxpenses, and related disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities. Certain accounting policies involve judgmem:s and uncertainties to such an
extent that there is reasonableé likelihood that materially different amounts could have been reported under
different conditions, or if different assumptions had been used. We.evaluate our Eslimates and assumptions on a
regular basis, We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumpuons that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for makmg judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates and assumptions used in preparation of our consclidated f"mlanmal statements. We provide
expanded discussion of our more significant accounting policies, estimates and Judgments below. We believe
these accounting policies reflect our more significant estimates and assumptions used in preparation of our
consolidated financial statements. See Note 2 of the Notes to the Consolidated Fmancm} Statements for a
discussion of additional accounting policies and estimates made by managememi
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Oil and Gas Properties

Our natural gas and oil exploration and production activities are accounted for using the successful efforts
method. Under this method, all property acquisition costs and costs of exploratory and development wells are
capitalized when incurred, pending determination of whether the property has proved reserves. If an exploratory
well is not assigned proved reserves, the costs of drilling the well are charged to exploration expense and
included within cash flows from investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows pursuant to
SFAS No. 19. The costs of development wells are capitalized whether productive or nenproductive. Gas and oil
lease acquisition costs also are capitalized. If it is determined that these properties will not yield proved reserves,
the related costs are expensed in the period in which that determination is made. Interest cost is capitalized as a
component of property cost for significant exploration and development projects that require greater than six
months to be readied for their intended use.

The application of the successful efforts method of accounting requires managerial judgment to determine
the proper classification of wells designated as developmental or exploratory, which will ultimately determine
the proper accounting treatment of the costs incurred, The results from a drilling operation can take considerable
time to analyze and the determination that commercial reserves have been discovered requires both judgment and
industry experience,

Other exploration costs, including personnel costs, certain geological and geophysical expenses and delay
rentals for gas and oil leases, are charged to expense as incurred. The sale of a partial intérest in a proved
property is accounted for as a cost recovery and no gain or loss is recognized as long as this treatment does not
significantly affect the unit-of-production amortization rate. A gain or loss is recognized for all other sales of
proved properties. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense and renewals and betterments are capitalized
to the appropriate property and equipment accounts. -

Unevaluated properties are assessed periodically on a property-by-property basis and any impairment in
value is charged to expense. Unevaluated properties whose acquisition costs are not individually significant are
aggregated, and the portion of such costs estimated to be nonproductive, based on historical experience, is
amortized over the average holding period. If the unevaluated properties are subsequently determined to be
productive, the related costs are transferred to proved gas and oil properties. Proceeds, up to an amount equal to
the total carrying amount, from sales of partial interests in unevaluated leases are accounted for as a recovery of
cost without recognizing any gain or loss. We will record a gain on the sale of a partial interest in unevaluated
leases for amounts equal to the excess of proceeds over our total carrying amount of such leases.

We review our proved natural gas and oil properties for impairment whenever events and circumstances
indicate that a decline in the recoverability of their carrying value may have occurred. We estimate the expected
future cash flows of our gas and oil properties and compare these future cash flows to the carrying amount of the
gas and oil properties to determine if the carrying amount is recoverable. If the carrying amount exceeds the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows, we will adjust the carrying amount of the natural gas and oil properties
to fair value. The factors used to determine fair value include, but are not limited to, estimates of proved reserves,
future commodity pricing, future production estimates, anticipated capital expenditures, and a discount rate
commensurate with the risk associated with realizing the expected cash flows projected. In 2004, we recorded
impairment expense of $0.5 million related to the evaluated costs of the Talon Field in Wyoming’s Wind River
Basin. For the year ended December 31, 2005, we recorded impairment expense of $42.7 million related to the
evaluated costs of the Talon, East Madden and Cooper Reservoir fields in Wyoming's Wind River Basin. The
impairment expense of $1.2 mitlion in 2006 related to our Cedar Camp and Tumbleweed properties within the
Uinta Basin. .

The successful efforts method of accounting can have a significant impact on the operational results
reported when we are entering a new exploratory area in hopes of finding a gas and cil field that will be the focus
of future development drilling activity, The initial exploratory wells may be unsuccessful and will be expensed.
Seismic costs can be substantial, which will result in additional exploration expenses when incurred.
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Our investment in natural gas and oil properties includes an estimate.of the future costs associated with
dismantlement, abandonment and restoration of our properties. These costs are recorded as provided in SFAS No. 143,
Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. The present value of the future costs a}e added to the capitalized costs of
our oil and gas properties and recorded as a long-term liability. The caprtalrzed cost is included in the natural gas and
oil property costs that are depleted over the life of the assets.

The recognition of an asset retirement obligation (“ARQ”) requires that mahagement make numerous
estimates, assumptions and judgments regarding such factors as the estimated pr’obabilities amounts and timing
of settlements; the credit-adjusted risk-free rate to be used; inflation rates; and future advances in technology. In
periods subsequent to initial measurement of the ARO, we must recognize penod -to-period changes in the
* liability resulting from the passage of time and revisions to either the timing or. the amount of the original
estimate of undiscounted cash flows, Increases in the ARO lrabrhty due to passage of time impact net income as
accretion expense.

The provision for depreciation, depletion and amortization (“DD&A”) of oil and gas properties is calculated
on a field-by-field basis using the unit-of-production method. Ol is converted to natural gas equivalents, Mcfe, at
the rate of one barrel to six Mcf. Our rate of recording DD&A is dependent upon our estimates of total proved
and proved developed reserves, which incorporate assumptions regarding future'developme_nt and abandonment
costs as well as our level of capital spending. If the estimates of total proved or proved developed reserves
decline, the rate at which we record DD&A expense increases, reducing our net income. This decline may result
from lower market prices, which may make it uneconomic to drill for and produ!ce higher cost fields. We are
unable to predict changes in reserve quantity estimates as such quantities are dependent on the success of our
exploitation and development program, as well as future economic conditions. ]

oil and Gas Reserve Quanm:es ‘

Our estimate of proved reserves is based on the quantities of oil, natural gas and natural gas quurds whtch
geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be corrirmen:lally recoverable in future
years from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions:{Ryder Scott Company reviews
all our reserve estimates except our reserve estimates for the Powder River Basin, which are reviewed by
Netherland, Sewell & Associates. A reserve report is prepared by us for all prop'erties and these independent
engmeenng firms review the entire report on a well-by-well basrs ’ :

[

Reserves and their relatlon to estlmated future net cash flows impact our depletron and lmpatrment
calculations. As a result, adjustments to depletion and impairment are made conE:urrently with changes to reserve
estimates. We prepare our reserve estimates, and the projected cash-flows derived from these reserve estimates,
in accordance with SEC guidelines. The independent engineering firms described above adhere to the same
guidelines when reviewing our reserve reports. The accuracy of our reserve. esm{nates is a function of many
factors including the following: the quality and quantity of available data, the 1nterpretatron of that data, the
accuracy of various mandated economic assumptlons and the judgments of the individuals preparmg the
estimates.

Our proved reserve estimates are a function of many assumptions, all of which could deviate significantly
from actual results. As such, reserve estimates may materially vary from the ultlmate quantities of oil, natural
gas, and natural-gas liquids eventually recovered ) . I L

As-of December 31, 2004 we revrsed our proved reserves downward by 32 Bcfe, excludmg pncmg
revisions. The revision was primarily the result of encountering unexpected pressure depletion during infill
drilling in the Wind River Basin and greater pressure depletion than expected in two areas.in the Powder River
Basin. The downward revision in the Wind River Basin in 2004 was 27.6 Befe. In this basin, 47.6% of the proved.
wells forecast in the Wind River Basin as of December 31, 2003 were 25% below forecast as of December 31,
2004. The reserve variance between the independent reserve engineers and the (‘ ompany at year-end 2004 for
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this basin was 6.6 Befe with the independent engineers at the lower estimate. The downward revision in the
Powder River Basin in 2004 was 7.2 Befe. In this basin, 29% of the proved wells forecast as of December 31,
2003 were 25% below forecast as of December 31, 2004. The reserve variance between the independent reserve
engineers and the Company as of December 31, 2003 for this basin was 1.7 Bcfe with the mdependem engineers
at the lower estimate. : '

As of December 31, 2005, we revised our proved reserves downward by 24.7 Befe, excluding pricing
revisions, primarily as a result of a reduction-in proved undeveloped reserves in the Piceance Basin due to the use
of completion techniques performed from January through September 2005 that yielded results lower than our
expectations as of December 31, 2004, Completion techniques used in subsequent periods have yielded more
favorable results, which are reflected in upward revisions in 2006 reserve estimates in this area. The downward -
revision in the Piceance Basin in-2005 was 25.6 Befe. In this basin, 31% of the proved wells forecast as of
December 31, 2004 were 25% below forecast as of December 31, 2005. The reserve variance between the
independent reserve engineers and the Company as of December 31, 2004 for this basin was 13 Befe with the
independent engineer at the lower estimate. The downward revision in the Powder River Basin in 2005 was 9.6
Befe. Inthis basin, 36% of the proved wells forecast as of December 31, 2004 were 25% below forecast as of

.December 31, 2005. The reserve variance between the independent reserve engineers and BBC as of
December 31, 2004 for this basin was 3.8 Befe with the'independent engineer at the lower estimate. An upward
revision of 8.1 Befe occurred in the Uinta Basin in the West Tavaputs Field in 2005. In this basin, 31% of the
proved wells forecast as of December 31, 2004 were 25%-above forecast as of December 31, 2005. The reserve
variance between the independent reserve engineers and BBC as of December 31, 2004 was 2.1 Befe with the
independent engineer at the'lower estimate.

During 2003, reviews of proved oil and' gas properties in the Wind River Basin indicated a decline in the
recoverability of their carrying value and the need for an impairment in the Cooper Reservoir, Talon and East
Madden fields in the total amount of $42.7 million. We undertook a drilling program in Cooper Reservoir in
2003 and 2004 with the expectation of a speciﬁc economic reserve level. Actual reserve levels were less than our
expectations which led 1o an impairment in the field in 2005. The impairments in the Taion and East Madden
fields were the result of unsuccessful exploratlon programs

As of December 31, 2006, we reVISed our proved reserves upward by 12.4 Befe, excluding pricing revisions.
This revision was primarily the result of increased performance of wells drilled during the last half of 2005 and
the first half of 2006. The pricing revision at year-end 2006 at prices of $4.46 per MMBtu of gas and $61.06 per
barrel of oil, relative to year-end 2005 prices of $7.72 per MMBtu and $61.04 per barrel of oil, was downward
33.8 Befe. These prices were adjusted by lease for quality, transportation fees and regional price differences. The
pricing revision at year-end 2006 at prices of $4.46 per MMBtu of gas and $61.06 per batrel of oil, relative to
year-end 2005 prices of $7.72 per MMBtu and $61.04 per barrel of oil, was downward 33.8 Befe. These prices
were adjusted by lease for quality, transportation fees and regional price differences.

Revenue Recognition

We record revenues from the sales of natural gas and oil when in the month that delivery to the customer
has occurred and title has transferred. This occurs when natural gas or oil has been delivered to a pipeline or a
tank lifting has occurred. We receive payment from one to three months after delivery. At the end of each month,
we estimate the amount of production delivered to purchasers and the price we will receive. Variances between
our estimated revenue and actual payment are recorded in the month the payment is received. However,
differences have been insignificant.

We may have an interest with other producers in certain properties, in which case we use the sales method
to account for natural gas imbalances. Under this method, revenue is recorded on the basis of natural gas actually
sold by the Company. In addition, we record revénue for our share of natural gas sold by other owners that
cannot be volumetrically balanced in the future due to insufficient remaining reserves. We also reduce revenue
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. § .
for other owners’ natural gas sold by the Company that cannot be volumetrically balanced in the future due to
insufficient remaining reserves. Our remaining over-and under-produced gas ba{lancing positions are considered
in our proved reserves. Gas imbalances as of December 31, 2005 and 2006 were not significant.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

We periodically uses derivative financial instruments to achieve a more predictable cash flow from our
natural gas and oil production by reducing our exposure to price fiuctuations. We also enter into derivative
contracts to mitigate the risk of interest rate fluctuations. For the year ended Det':ember 31, 2006, these
transactions included swaps and cashless collars. We account for these activities pursuant to SFAS No. 133, as
amended. This statement establishes accounting and reporting standards requiriﬁg that derivative instruments
(including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts) be recorded at fair market value and
mcluded in the balance sheet as assets or liabilities.

The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument depends on the mtended use of the -
derivative and the resulting designation, which is established at the inception of a derivative. SFAS No. 133
requires a company to formally document, at the inception of a hedge, the hedgmg relationship and the entity’s
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge, including idéntiﬁcation of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged, the method that will be used to
assess effectiveness and the method that will be used to measure hedge ineffectiveness of derivative instruments
that receive hedge accounting treatment.

L]

‘We have established the fair value of all derivative instruments using estimates determined by our
counterparties. These values are based upon, among other things, futures prices, [volatility, time to maturity and *
credit risk. The values we report in our financial statements change as these estimates are revised to reflect actual
results, changes in market conditions or other factors, many of Wthh are beyond our control,

For derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, changes in fair vl.ralue, to the extent the hedge is
effective, are recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings. Hedge
effectiveness is assessed at least quarterly based on total changes in the denvamlfe s fair value. Any ineffective
pomon of the derivative instrument’s change in fair value is recognized lmmedlately in earnings.

We may use derivative financial instruments which have not been designated as hedges under
SFAS No. 133 even though they protect our company from changes in commodity prices. These instruments, if
used, will be marked to market with the resulting changes in fair value recorded-in earnings.

As of December 31 2006, thc fair value of the denvatlve positions for our ml and gas collars for 2007 afd
2008 production was a net asset of $46.7 million, The deferred income tax effectj on the fair value of derivatives
at December 31, 2006 totaled $17.4 million, which is recorded in current and nencurrent deferred tax liabilities.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of transactions reported in therﬁnancial staternents and consist
of taxes currently payable plus deferred income taxes related to certain income and expenses recognized in
different periods for financial and income tax reporting purposes. Deferred i 1ncome tax assets and liabilities
represent the future tax return consequences of those differences, which will either be taxable or deductible when
assets are recovered or settled. Deferred income taxes are aiso recognized for tax' credits that are avaiiable to
offset future income taxes, Deferred income taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax rates to the
differences between financial statement and income tax reporting. We routinely :asscss the realizability of our
deferred tax assets. If we conclude that it is more likely than not that some p()rtl(m or all of the deferred tax assets
will not be realized under accounting standards, the tax asset would be reduced by a valuation allowance. We
consider future taxable income in making such assessments. Numerous Judgments and assumptions are inherent
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in the determination of future taxable income, including factors such as future operating conditions (particularly
as related to prevailing oil and natural gas prices).

Stock-based Compensation

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 123(R), which
revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. We early adopted the provisions of the new standard effective
October 1, 2004. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), we used the intrinsic value method in accordance
with APB Opinion No. 25 and the disclosure only provisions of SFAS No. 123,

Restrictions on the vesting of management stock and options granted under our 2002 Stock Option Plan (the
“2002 Option Plan™) were put in place in connection with the initial capitalization of the Company, including
Series A and B preferred stock issuances, and initially were designed to ensure that the relative ownership
interests of Series B preferred stock investors were not diluted. Thus, the management stock and option grants
under the 2002 Option Plan only vested if capital was raised from Series A and Series B investors (or upon other
capital raising events). This is referred to as “dollar vesting” in the case of management stock and “equity
vesting” in the case of options granted under the 2002 Option Plan. Dollar vested management stock and equity
vested options are further subject to time vesting provisions. As of May 12, 2004, all management stock and
options granted under the 2002 Option Plan were fully dollar and equity vested. -

We recorded non-cash stock-based compensatien of $3.0 million, $3.2 million, and $6.5 million in 2004,
2005 and 2006, respectively, for the management stock awards, option grants, option modifications and
nonvested equity shares of common stock, in addition to Series B preferred stock purchases by employees at less
than estimated fair value for financial reporting purposes. For awards granted after we were a public company
(those granted subsequent to April 16, 2004, the date of which is defined by SFAS No. 123(R) as the date we
became a public company as a result of making a filing with a regulatory agency in preparation for the sale of
equity securities in a public market), we adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective application
effective October 1, 2004, whereby as of that date we began applying the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to new
awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after that date. We recognized share-based employee
compensation cost based on the historical grant-date fair value as computed under SFAS No. 123 on that date for
the portion of awards previously issued and for which the requisite service had not yet been rendered, and all
deferred compensation related to those awards was eliminated against the appropriate equity accounts on the
adoption date. For awards granted while we were a nonpublic company (those granted previous to April 16, 2004
as defined in SFAS No. 123(R)), we adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the prospective transition method, under
which we continue to account for the portion of the award outstanding at the date of application using the
minimum value method described under SFAS No. 123.

Acquisitions

The establishment of our initial asset base since our founding in January 2002 has included major
acquisitions of natural gas and oil properties, which have been accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting. ‘

Under the purchase method, the acquiring company adds to its balance sheet the estimated fair values of the
acquired company’s assets and liabilities. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair values of the tangible
and intangible net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Goodwill is assessed for impairment at least annually.
In each of our acquisitions 10 date we have determined that the purchase price did not exceed the fair.value of the ,
net assets acquired. Therefore, no goodwill was recorded.

There are various assumptions we made in determining the fair values of acquired assets and liabilities. The
most significant assumptions, and the ones requiring the most judgment, involve the estimated fair values of the
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natural gas and oil properties acquired. To determine the fair values of these properties, we prepare estimates of
natural gas and oil reserves. These estimates are based on work performed by our engineers and that of outside
consultants. The fair value of reserves acquired in an acquisition must be based on our estimates of future natural
gas and oil prices and not the prices at the time of the acquisition. Qur estimates|of future prices are based on our
own analysis of pricing trends. These estimates are based on current data obtamcd with regard to regional and -
worldwide supply and demand dynamics such as economic growth forecasts. They also are based on industry
data regarding natural gas storage availability, drilling rig activity, changes in dehvery capacity, trends in
regional pricing differentials and other fundamental analysis. Forecasts of future prices from independent third
parties are noted when we make our pricing estimates.

We estimate future prices to apply to the estimated reserve quantities acquilred and estimate futare operating
and development costs, to airive at estimates of future net revenues. For estimated proved reserves; the future net
revenues are then discounted using a rate determined appropriate at the time of the acqulsltxon based upon our
cost of capital. -

We also apply these same general principles in arriving at the fair value of unevaluated properties acquired
in an acquisition. These unevaluated properties generally represent the value of probable and possible reserves.
Because of their very nature, probable and possible reserve estimates are more ulnpre(:lse than those of proved
reserves. To compensate for the inherent risk of estimating and valuing probable and possible reserves, we apply
a risk-weighting, factor to probable and possible volumes to reduce the estlmated reserve volumes. Additionally,
we increase the discount factor, compared to proved reserves, to recognize the additional uncertainties related to
determining the value of probable and possible reserves,

New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Iptgrpretation (“FIN") No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognizeld in an enterprise’s financial
statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. FIN 48 also prescribes a
recognition threshold and measurement standard for the financial statement recognition and measurement of an
income tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. In addition, FII;\I 48 provides guidance on
. derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. We
currently recognize income tax posmons based on management’s estimate of wﬁether it is reasonably possible
that a liability has been incurred for unrecognized income tax benefits by app]ymg FASB Statement No. 5,
Accounting for Contingencies. The provisions of FIN 48 became effective for us; on January 1, 2007 and are to be
applied to all tax positions upon initial application of this standard. Only tax positions that meet the more-likely-
than-not recognition threshold at the effective date may be recognized or contmue to be recognized upon
adoption. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions of FIN 48 will be reported as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings for the fiscal year of adoption. The Company has not yet determined the.
potenual financial statement impact of adopting FIN 48. :

In September 2006, the SEC issved-Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) N().l 108, Considering the Effects of
Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements in Current Year F in.;'mcial Statements. SAB 108
provides guidance on the consideration of effects of the prior year misstatc:mentsI in quantifying current year
misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. Under SAB 108, regi'strants must quantify errors using
both a balance sheet and income statement approach and evaluate whether either approach results in quantifying
a misstatement that, when all relevant quantitative and qualitative factors are CO[:lSidEI'Bd, is material. SAB 108
was effective for us as of December 31, 2006, and the adoption did not have an impact on our financial
© statements. ‘ ' ,

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure|requirements regarding fair -
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value measurement. Where applicable, SFAS No. 157 simplifies and codifies fair value related guidance
previously issued within U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Although SFAS No. 157 does not require
any new fair value measurements, its application may, for some entities, change current practice. SFAS No.'157
will be effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2008. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 157 to
have a material impact on our financial statements. '

Quantitative.and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

The primary objective of the following information is to provide forward-looking quantitative and
qualitative information about our potential exposure to market risks. The term “market risk” refers to the risk of
loss arising from adverse changes in natural gas and oil prices and interest rates. The disclosures are not meant to
be precise indicators of expected future losses, but rather indicators of reasonably possible losses. This forward-
locking information provides indicators of how we view and manage our ongoing market risk exposures. All of
our market risk sensitive instruments were entered into for purposes other than speculative trading.

Commodity Price Risk

Our major market risk exposure is in the pricing applicable to our natural gas and oil production. Realized
pricing is primarily driven by the prevailing worldwide price for crude ¢il and spot market prices applicable to
our U.S. natural gas production. Pricing for natural gas and oil production has been volatile and unpredictable for
several years, and we expect this volatility to continue in the future. The prices we receive for production depend
on many factors outside of our control including volatility in the differences between product prices at sales
points and the applicable index price. Based on our average daily production and our price swap and collars
contracts in place in 2006, our annual income before income taxes, including hedge settlements, for the year
ended December 31, 2006 would have decreased by approximatelyr$3._1 million for each $0.10 decrease per
MMBtu in natural gas prices and approximately $0.2 million for each $1.00 per barrel change in crude oil prices.

We periodically have entered into and anticipate entéring into financial hedging activities with respect to a
portion of our projected natural gas and oil production through various financial transactions which hedge the
future prices received. These transactions may include financial price swaps whereby we will receive a fixed
price for our production and pay a variable market price to the contract counterparty, and cashless price collars
that set a floor and ceiling price for the hedged production. If the applicable monthly price indices are outside of
the ranges set by the floor and ceiling prices in the various collars, we and the counterparty to the collars would
be required to settle the difference. These financial hedging activities are intended to support natural gas and oil”
prices at targeted levels and to manage our exposure to natural gas and oil price fluctuations. We do not hold or
issue derivative instruments for speculative trading purposes. -

As of February 16, 2007, we had hedges in place for 39,960,000 MMBtu and 22,545,000 MMBtu of natural

’ gas production for 2007 and 2008, respectively, and 262 MBbls and 183 MBbls of oil production for 2007, and

2008, respectively. These hedges are summarized in the table presented above under “—Cash Flow from
Operating Activities”. Based on the pricing and contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2005, the estimated fair
value of our hedge positions was an asset of $46.7 million due to us from the counterparty.

Commodity Hedges
Commodity Swaps

Through price swaps, we have fiXed the price we will receive on a portion of our natural gas production in
2007 and 2008. The weighted average price we will receive in 2007 for a Colorado Interstate Gas Rocky
Mountain (“CIG”) price is $5.83 per MMBtu and $6.78 per MMBtu in 2008. The table presented above under
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Item 2, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Relsults of Operations—Cash Flow, .
from Operating Activities,” provides the deliveries associated with these arrangements as of February 16, 2007.

In a swap transaction, the counterparty is required to make a payment to us for the difference between‘the .
fixed price and the settlement price if the settlement price is below the fixed price. We are required to make a -

" . payment to the counterparty for the difference between the fixed price and the settlement price 1f the ﬁxed price

is below the settlement prlce ) .

Commodity Collars _ . ’ 3 S

Through price collars, we have fixed the minimum and maximum price we will receive on a portion of our
natural gas production in 2007 and 2008, The weighted average minimum, or ﬂoor price we will receive in 2007 .
is $6.15 per MMBtu for a CIG price and $6.50 per MMBiu in 2008. The welghted average maximum, or cetlmg
price we will receive in 2007 and 2008 for a CIG price is $9.75 and $10.00 per MMBtu respectlvely We have '
also fixed the minimum price we will receive on a portion of our oil production in 2007 and 2008, when the ;
collars are settled, based on a weighted average floor price of $53.00 and $70. 00 per Bbl for a West Texas .
Intermediate (“WTI”) price, respectively, and a weighted average maximum prtce of $79.85, and $80.15 WTI
respectively. The price collars also allow us to share in upward price movement's up to the ceiling prices
referenced in the contracts. The table presented above under “—Cash Flow from Operating Activities” provides ..
the deliveries and floor and ceiling prices associated with these various arrangements as of February 16,2007,

In a collar transaction, the counterparty is required to make a payment to us for the difference between the
fixed floor price and the settlement price if the settlement price is below the fixed floor price. We are required to
make a payment to the counterparty for the difference between the fixed ceilingjprice and the settlement price if
the fixed ceiling price is below the settlement price. Neither party is required to’ make a payment if the settlement
price falls between the fixed floor and ceiling price.

Interest Rate Risks _ o : ..

At December 31, 2006, we had debt outstanding of $188.0 million, which bears interest at floating rates in
accordance with our revolving credit facility. The average annual interest rate m'currecl on this debt for the yeat
ended December 31, 2006 was 7.1%. A one hundred basis point (1.0%}) increase in each of the average LIBOR
rate and federal funds rate for the year ended December 31, 2006 would result 1n an estimated $1.6 million
increase in interest expense assuming a SImllar average debt level to the year ended December 31, 2006.

Interest Rate Hedges

Through interest rate derivative contracts, we have attempted to mitigate its exposure to changes in interest
rates. We entered into an interest rate swap for a notional amount of $lO_milli0nt for a fixed interest rate of
4.70%. We also entered into an interest rate collar for a notional amount of $10 million whereas the interest rate”
has a fixed minimum and maximum rate of 4.50% and 4.95%, respectively. ) T

g

Item 7A. Quantltatlve and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Rlsk

The information required by this item is included above in “Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analy51s
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Quantitative and Qualitative| Disclosure About Market Risk”.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The information required by this item is mcluded below in “Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement
Schedules”.
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Item 9 Changes in and Dlsagreements Wath Accountants and Fmanc:al Dlsclosure

Not appllcable

'It.em 9A. Controls and Proeedures

*. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures. Based on an evaluation carried out under the
" " supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as of the end of the period covered by this report, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer belleve that our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Securities Exchange Act-
£. Rules 13a- 15(d) and ]5d IS(e) were, as of the end of the. penod covered by this report effectwe

ot Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Fmancral Reporting. Internal contrdl over finaricial -
reportmg is deﬁned in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
“.amended, as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Company’s principal executive and principal
financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effectéd by the Company’s Board of Directors,
. Amanagement and other personnel, to provrde reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
.and the preparatlon of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. genera]ly
accepted accounting pnncrples and 1nc1ucles those policies and procedures that:

v

* pertain (o the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and falrly reflect the o
" transactions and dispositions of the Coipany’s assets;

» provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
" financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
. expenditures of the Company are bemg made only in accordance with authorizations of the Company’s
management and dn-ectors ‘and : -

* provide reasonable.assurance regarding' prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
_or disposition of Lhe Corn'pany’s assets that'could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Management is responsuble for estabhshmg and maintaining adéquate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is definéd in Exchange Act Rules, 13a-15(f) and 15d- 15(f) Under the supervision and
with the participation of management, including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer, the

. Company conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting based on the
/framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsonng Organlzatlons of

“the Treadway Commission. Based on its evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework, management concluded that its internal control over. financial reporting was effective as of
December 31, 2006. '

Management 5 assessment of the effectlveness of the Company s internal control over financial reportlng as
'of December 31, 2006 has been andited by Deloitte & Touche, LLP, an independent reglstered pubhc accountmg
firm, as stated i in their report whlch is-included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. :

Changes in Internal Controls. There has been no change: in our internal control over financial reporting
during the fourth fiscal quarter of 2006 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect
our mternal control over financial reportmg :

< AN . . M
Yow, . . .
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To thf; Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Bilt Barrett Corporation
Denver, Colorado

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal
Control over Financial Reporting, that Bill Barrett Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Jnzernal Conirol—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Spensoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The
Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control aver financial reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion
on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to oblam reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all malenal respects. Qur audit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management 5 assessment, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performmg such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by
the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financia} reporting and the preparation of financial statements for cxtcmal purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over ﬁnancnal reporting includes those policies
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detall accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable as]surdncc that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only i in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and {3) provide reasonable assurance regardmg prevention or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on
the financial statements. : :

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of
collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be
prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectweness of the internal control
over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may tbecome inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effectwe internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2006, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on 'the criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgamzatlom of the Treadway Commission.
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Comrol—lmeém!ed Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audncd in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounlmg Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 of the Company
and our report dated February 27, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/s DeLorimTE & ToucHE LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 27, 2007
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Item 9B. Othér Information

Not appli::able.

PART I11

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

'Information regarding our directors and executive officers will be included in an amendment to this Form 10-K
or in the “Directors and Executive Officers” section of the proxy statement for the 2007 annual meeting of
stockholders, in either case, to be filed within 120 days after December 31, 2006, and is incorporated by reference to
this report. : ‘

Item 11. Executlve ‘Compensation _ . . .

"~ Information regarding executive compensation will be included in an amendment to this Form 10-X or in

-the “Executive Compensatwn section of the proxy statement for the 2007 annual meeting of stockho]ders and is

L oEES

1nc0rporated by reference to this report.

Item 12, Secunty Ownershlp of Certam Beneﬁcnal Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters : !

' Information regarding beneficial ownership will be included in an amendment to this Form lO-K_or'in the
“Beneficial Owners of Securities” section of the proxy statement-for the 2007 annual meeting of stockholders
and is incorporated by reference to this report. . . - :

. Item 13. 7 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Dit'ectorlln(tependence ‘ . .

Information regarding certain relationships and related transactions will be included in an amendment to this
Form 10-K or in the “Transactions Between the ‘Company and Related Parties” section of the proxy statemem for

~ the 2()07 annual meeting of stockholders and is incorporated by referénce to this report.

" Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

- Information regarding principal accountant fees and services will be included in an amendment to this Form 10-K
or in the proxy statement for the 2007 annval meetmg of stockholders and is lncorporated by. referencc to this report.

PART IV
Item 15 Exhibits, Flnanclal Statement Schedules N
(a)(1) and (a)(2) Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules"

See “Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” on page F-1{a)
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(a)(3) Exhibits.

Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibits

31

32

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6
10.1(a)

10.1(b)

10.2

10.3(a)*

10.3(b)*

10.4*

10.5(a)*

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Bill Barrett Corporation. [Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.4 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
December 20, 2004.]

Bylaws of Bill Barrett Corporation. [Incorporated by reference to Exhlblt 3.5to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 20, 2004. 1

Specimen Certificate of Common Stock. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 t0 Amendment No. 1
to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the Commission on December 20, -
2004.1

Registration Rights Agreement, dated March 28, 2002, among Bill Barrett Corporation and the
investors named therein. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2{to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-115445).]

Stockholders’ Agreement, dated March 28, 2002 and as amended to date, among Bill Barrert
Corporation and the investors named therein. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333- 115445) ]

Form of Rights Agreement concerning Shareholder nghts Plan, u‘rhlch includes as Exhibit A thereto
the Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Bill Barrett *

. Corporation, and as Exhibits B thereto the Form of Right Cemﬁcate {Incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 4.4 to Amendment No. | to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with
the Commission on December 20, 2004.]

Form of Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of Bill Barrett
Corporation, included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.4 above.

Form of Right Certificate, included as Exhibit B to Exhibit 4.4 above.

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated February 4, 2004, among Bill Barrett Corporation
and the banks named therein. {Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(a) to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-115445).]

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 1, 2004 among
Bill Barrett Corporation and the banks named therein. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1(b)
to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333 115445).]

[

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated March 28, 2002, among Bill Barrett Corporation and the investors
named therein. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (File No. 333-115445).]

Form of Indemnification Agreement dated April 15, 2004, between Bill Barrett Corporation and each
of the directors and certain executive officers. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10(a) to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333- 115445).)

Schedule of officers and directors party to Indemnification Agreements dated April 15, 2004 with
Bill Barrett Corporation. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit lO!]O(b) to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-115445).]

Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Option Plan. [Incorporated byireference to Exhibit 10.12 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-115445).]

Form of Tranche A Stock Option Agreement for 2002 Stock Opti%m Plan. [Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.13(a) to the Company’s Registration Statement on Florm S-1 (File No. 333-115445).]
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibits

10.5(b)*
10.6*
10.7+

10.8

10.9

10.10%
10.11*
10.12*
10.13*
14

211
231
232
233
311
312
32.1
322

Form of Tranche B Stock Option Agreement for 2002 Stock Option Plan. [Incorporated by reference
to-Exhibit 10.13(b)to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S$-1 (File No. 333-115445}.]

2003 Stock Option Plan. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form $-1 (File No. 333-115445).]

Form of Stock Option Agreement for 2003 Stock Option Plan. {Incorporated by reference to

" Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-1 (File No. 333-115445).]

Form of Management Rights Agreement between Bill Barrett Corporation and certain investors.
[Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(File No. 333-115445).]

Regulatory sideletier, dated March 28, 2002, between J.P. Morgan Partners (BHCA), L.P. and Bill
Barrett Corporation. [Incorporated by, reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the Company s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-115445).]

Form of Change in Control Severance Protection Agreement revised as of November 16, 2006 for -
named executive officers.

2004 Stock Incentive Plan. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-1 {File No. 333-115445).}

Revised Form of Stock Option Agreement for 2004 Stock Option Plan. [Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.]

Severance Plan. [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Company’s Registration Statement
on Form S-1 (File No. 333-115445).]

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct [Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004.]

Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Cortscm of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

" Consent of Ryder Scott Company, L.P., Independent Petroleum Engineers.

Consent of Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc., Independent Petroleum Engineers.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

Rule 13a-14{a)/15d- l4(tt) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

Section 1350 Certification of Chief E'xccutive Ofﬁcet.

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.

* Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement, as required by Item 15(a)(3).
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SIGNATURES

_ Pursuant to the réquirements of Section 13 or 15(d}) of the Securities Exchange Act Of 1934, the registrant
“has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

BILL BARRETT CORPORATION

Date: February 27, 2007 ‘ By: /s/ FREDRICK J. BARRETT

F.Iredrick J. Barrett
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act Of 1934, this 1l"eport has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature . _ ] Title Date
/8/ FREDRICK J. BARRETT Chairman of the Board of Djrectors and February 27, 2007
* Fredrick J. Barrett ) Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/  FRANCIS B. BARRON Chief Financial Officer February 27, 2007

Francis B. Barron " (Principal Financial Oifﬁcer)
/s/ JoSEPH N.JAGGERS | " . Director; Chief Operating Officer  February 27, 2007
Joseph N. Jaggers . and President
/s/ DAVIDR, MACE)SKO : "Vice President—Accounting February 27, 2007
David R. Macosko (Principal Accounting Officer)
s/ JAMES M. FITZGIBBONS Director Februéry 27,2007

James M. Fitzgibbons

/s! RanDY A. FOUTCH Director February 27, 2007
Randy A. Foutch

/s/ JEFFREY A. HARlils ' Director . February 27, 2007
Jeffrey A. Harris . ’

/s/ ROGERL:Jarvis ' _ Director ‘ _ February 27, 2007

Roger L. Jarvis

/s/ PHILIPPE S. E. SCHREIBER , Director February 27, 2007
Philippe 8. E. Schreiber ’

/s/ "RANDY STEIN | ' Director " February 27, 2007
Randy Stein ’
/s/  MicHAEL E. WILEY Director February 27, 2007 -

-Michael E. Wiley
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Bill Barrett Corporation
Denver, Colorado

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Bill Barrett Corporation and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2006. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur
responsibility is to express an opinton on the financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion. '

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Biil Barrett Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the resuits of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of
accounting for stock-based compensation in 2004 with the implementation of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards Ne. 123 (revised 2004) “Share-Based Payment”.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ard our report dated February 27, 2007 expressed an
unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 27, 2007

F-2




. BILL BARRETT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,
2005 2006
(in thousands, except share
and per share data)
Assets:
Current Assets: ,
Cashand cashequivalents ............ .. ... ... ... ... ...... bl $ 68282 § 41,322
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $171 and $284 as
of December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively .................... ... .. 55,960 56,280
F'repaymentsandotherc:urrentassets..............................i ...... 6,598 2,697
DEMIVAVE ASSELS .« « « v v e et et e e et e e e et e e e — . 38,208
Deferred iNCOME TAXES .« . v\ v e eee e ee e eee e eee e 10,478 . —
Totalcurrf:massets........................................Jl ...... 141,318 138,507
Property and Equipment—At cost, successful efforts method for oil and gas prolpemes
Provedoiland gasproperties ................ovviiiinnenneadiiil, 804,421 1,114,536
Unevaluated oil and gas properties, excluded from amortization ....... .I ...... 168,284 202,946
Oil and gas properties held for sale, net, excluded from amortization ....}...... — - 75496
Furniture, equipment andother . ... .......... .. .. ... ... ... ... L. 11,533 14,696
' 084,238 1,407,674
Accumulated depreciation, depletion, amortization and impairment ..... 1. ... .. (238,290)  (369,079)
Total property and equipment, net . .......... .. ... ... ... Lo 745948 1,038,595
Deferred Financing Costs, Derivative Assetsand Other ................... L. 1,679 10,299
Total L e I ...... $ 888,945 $1,187,401
Liabilities and Stockholders® Equity:
Current Liabilities: l \ _
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .......................... oo $ 58113 § 69,519
Amounts payable to oil and gas property owners ... .......... ... Lo 19,697 13,933
Production taxes payable ... ... . . . e e L., 25,930 22,348
Derivative liability and other current liabilities ...................... b, 29,058 - . 34
Deferred income taxes . .........c. et L. —_ 13,961
. Total current liabilities . ... ... ... . . ... i L 132,798 119,795
Note PayabletoBank . ...... ... .. ... . ... ... . .. ... . ..l ... .. 86,000 188,000
Asset Retirement Obligations . ........ ... ... ... it ... 23,733 29,224
Liabilitics Associated with Assets HeldforSale ........................0L..... L — 3374
Deferred Income Taxes . ..o oot vttt 7,960 89,730
Other Noncurrent Liabilities . .. ... . ... e 7,671 881
Stockholders® Equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value; authorized 150,000,000 shares; 43,695,286 and
44,141,453 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2006,
respectively, with 26,577 and 254,524 shares subject to restrictions,
respectively ... e e 44 44
Additional paid-incapital . ... ... . . L L e - 721,145 . 727,486
Accumulated deficit ......... .. ... . . . e (62,515) (504)
Treasury stock, at cost: 124,024 shares at December 31, 2005 and zero shares at
December 31, 2000 ... . . e e {5,180) —
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ....................0...... (22,711) 29,371

...... 630,783 756,397
...... $ 888,945 $1,187,401

Total .o e

See notes to consolidated financial statements.:

F-3




BILL BARRETT CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Operating Revenues:
Oil and gas production
Other

Total operating revenues .............c.ooviiiineeennn,
Operating Expenses:

Lease operating expense
Gathering and transportation expense .. ................ L
Production tax expense
Exploration expense
Impairment, dry hole costs and abandonment expense .. .......
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
General and administrative

Total Operating eXpenses . .. .coovvveenr e oo,
Operating income
Other Income and Expense:

Interest and other income
. Interestexpense ......... P

Total other income and expense

Income (Loss) before Income Taxes .. .....vovviinrenrneeanns..
Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes

NetIncome (Loss} ........ ... iiiii i
Less deemed dividends on preferred stock
Less cumulative dividends on preferred stock

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Common Stock

Nét Income (Loss) Per Common Share, Basic

Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share, Diluted

Weighted Average Common Shares Qutstanding, Basic

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding, Diluted ... .......

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended ﬂecember 31,
2004 2005 2006

(in thousands, except share and per share
amounts)

$ 165843 § 284406 $ 344,127

4,137 4,353 31,202
169,980 288,759 375,329 !
14,592 19,585 29,768
5,968 11,950 15,721 '
20,087 33,465 25,886 !
12,661 10,930 9,390
24,011 55,353 12,824
68,202 89,499 138,549
21,092 27,752 34,243
166,613 248,534 266,381
3,367 40,225 108,948
437 1,977 . 2,527
(9,945) (3,175) (10,339)
(9,508) (1,198) . (7.812)
(6.141) 39,027 101,136
(875) 15,222 39,125
(5,266) 23,805 62,011
(36,343) - —_
(18.633) — —
$ (60242) $ 23,805 $ 62,011
$ (1540) $ 055 % 1.42
$  (1540) $ 055 $ 1.40
3,912,285 43238312 43,694,781
3,912,285 43439634  44,269.445




. , BILL BARRETT CORPORATION | . .
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY, AND COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME (LOSS)
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006
Accumulated
Convertible Additional Other Total

Preferred Common Paid-In  Accumulated Treasury Comprehensive Stockholders’ Comprehensive
Stock Stock Capital Deficit Stock  {Income (Loss) Equity Income (Loss)

*

{in thousands)

Balance—December 31,2003 ....... $ 51 59 8251633 S (8966 § ,— $ 4401y,  $238326 | o
Issuance of Series B convertible : A B )

" preferred stock forcash ... .. . o 7 —_ 33723 . — — - 33,730 $ —

Exercise of options .............. — — 52 — — e ‘ 52 —

Issuance of Series B convertible
preferred stock for acquisition of .
mineral leasehold interests ... ... — — 322 — — . - Ky —

Cancellation of Series A convertible o
preferredstock ............... —_ — (500) — — f— (500) —

Reverse stock split: 1-for-4.658 .. .. — [€)) 7 —_ — — — —

Proceeds from initial public offering
(net of underwriters’ discount of . . .
$26,445) ............ .. o — 15 347,290 — — — 347,305 —

Conversion of convertible note ’ . ’
payable into common stock ... .. — — 1,900 - — - ° 1,900 : —

Conversion of issued and ‘ . :
outstanding Series A convertible
preferred stock into common
stock upon initial public . oo
offering ........ e ®) 2 4 — — — ., = -

Conversion of issued and .
outstanding Series B convertible
preferred stock into common .
stock upon initial public : . g :
offering ..................... (52) 24 ’ 28 — — - - —

Recognition of 7% cumulative * : . :
dividend on Series B convertible
stock in common stock . ........ — — 35,745  (35,745) — — — —

Recognition of deemed dividends
related to the conversion of
Series B convertible stock into
comumon stock upon initial public

offering ........... e - - 36,343 (36,343), — — — B
+* Stock-based compensation . ....... —_ . = 3,031 — — — 3,031 (p—
Comprehensive loss: .
Netloss .......cccivieinnnnn, : — — — (5,266) — — (5,266} {5,266)
Effect of derivative financial .
instruments, netoftax ....... — — — — — 832 832 8§32
Total comprehensive loss ... .. $ (4,434)
Balance—December 31,2004 ....... 85— $43  $709,578  $(86,320) § — $ (3,569) $619,732
Exercise of options .............. — 1 7.149 — (5,180) = 1,970 $ —
Tax benefit from option exercises .. — — 1,227 — — .- 1,227 —
Stock-based compensation . ....... — — 3,211 — C— o — 3,211 —
Other ......................... — — 20) — — — (20)- —
Comprehensive income:
Netincome ......... e —_ e — 23805 @ -~ — 23,805 23,805

Effect of derivative financial

instruments, netof tax ....... —_ —_ — (19,142) (19,142)- (19,142}

TFotal comprehensive income . . . $ 4,663
Balance—December 31,2005 ....... 5 — $44  §721,145 (62,515 $(5180)] $(22,711) $630,783
Exerciseof options .............. — — 9,644 — (5,059) — 4,585 5 —
Stock-based compensation [ ....... — — 6,944 — — — 6,944 —
Retirement of treasury stock ....... — — \\(10,239) ' — 10,239 — — —
Other ............. e — — ) & — — — 8) —
Comprehensive income:
Netincome .................. — — — 62,011 — — 62,011 62,011
Effect of derivative financial
instruments, netof tax ....... = = — f— — 52,082 52,082 52,082
Total comprehensive income . . . $114,093
" Balance—December 31,2006 ....... $— $44  $727486 § (504) § — _ $ 29,371 $756,397

See notes to consolidated financial statements:
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BILL BARRETT CORPORATION
. .CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

s

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006 .
: (in thousands)
. O})eralin’g Activities: i, _ -
" Net Income (Loss) ............7 ...... e e e $ (5266) $ 23,805 $ 62,011
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operations; '
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ................... 68,202 89,499 138,549
Deferred income taxes ... ... ... .. ... i e (875) 15,222 38,631
Impairments, dry hole costs and abandonment expense ..... e 24,011 55,353 12,824
Stock compensation and other non-cash charges .. ............ 3,071 3,226 7,089
Amortization of deferred financing costs . ................... 4,409 1,175 . 556
Gainonsaleof properties .......... . ... ... oo (3,729) (3,808) (21,335)
Change in operating assets and liabilities: s
Accountsreceivable . ... ... .. ... e (15,802) (24,811} (320)
Prepayments and other assets ... .. ....o.oueerenrenrneannnn. (2,037) (1,891) 4,335
Accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities . .............. 3,664 1,700 3,904
Amounts payable to oil and gas property owners ............. 3,450 14,307 (5.764)
Production taxes payable ... ... . ... ... . iiL 7,784 10,493 (3,582)
Net cash provided by operating activities ............... 86,882 184,270 236,898
Investing Activities: ' -
Additions to oil and gas properties, including acquisitions .......... (327,430) (314,965) (438,476)
Additions of furniture, equipmentandother ..................... (2,141) 3,7200 3,177
Proceeds from sale of properties .............................. 8,811 13,842 78,339
Net cash used in investing activities ................... (320,760) (304,843) (363,314)
Financing Activities: . ' . ;
Proceedsfromdebt . ... ....civrrii i e 288,000 146,000 151,000
Principal payments ondebt ......... PPN (345,000) ., .(60,000) (55495
‘Proceeds from sale of common and preferred stock ............... 33,782 2,979. 4,929
Proceeds from initial public offering .................... ... ... 373,750 — —
Offering CoStS ... ...t e e e e (26,384) (84) —
" Deferred financingcostsandother ................. .. . oL (6,378) 34 (978)
Net cash provided by financing activities ............... 317,770 88,929 99.456
Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents .. .................. 83,802 (31,644) (26,960)
Beginning Cash and Cash Equivalents .. ............................ 16,034 99,926 68,282

Ending Cash and Cash Equivalents ......... ERETRPR e $ 99926 $ 68282 $ 41,322

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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; ' BILL BARRETT CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STA'I;EMENTS '
For the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006

L Orgamzanon

LTS

Bill Barrétt Corporation (the “Company we” or' ) ‘a Delaware corporatlon is an independent oil and
gas company engaged in the exploration, development and producnon of na[ural gas and crude oil. Since its
inception on January 7, 2002, the Company has conducted its activities pnnc1pally in the Rocky Mountain reglon
of the United States. On December 9, 2004, our Registration Statements on Form S-1 concerning our initial
public offering (“IPO”™) were declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission {the “SEC""). The
offering was completed on December 15, 2004 . |

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation. The accompanying consolidated financial statements mclude the accounts of Bill Barrett
Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company“ “we” , “us” or “our”). These statements
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”). All signiﬁcant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Esnmates Preparation of the Company s financial statements in accordance wnh GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amoums of assets and liabilities as of the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses for the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. !

In the course of preparing the consolidated financial statements, management makes various assumptions,
judgments and estimates to determine the reported amount of assets, liabilities, frevenue and expenses, and in the
disclosures of commitments and contingencies. Changes in these assumptions, judgments and estimates will
occur as a result of the passage of time and the occurrence of future events and,!accordingly, actual results could
differ from amounts initiaily established. . '

" The more significant areas requiring the use of assumptions, judgments anp estimates relate to volumes of
natural gas and oil reserves used in calculating depletion, the amount of expecled future cash flows used in
determining possible impairments of cil and gas properties and the amount of future capital costs used in such
calculations. Assumptions, judgments and estimates also are required in determmmg future abandonment
obligations, impairments of undeveloped properties, valuing deferred tax assetsland estimating fair values of
derivative instruments, I

Cash Equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a remaining maturity of three
manths or less when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Oil and Gas Properties. The Company’s oil and gas exploration and production activities are accounted for
using the successful efforts method. Under this method, all property acquisition:cosls and costs of exploratory
and development wells are capitalized when incurred, pending determination ofjwhether the well has found
proved reserves. If an exploratory well does not find proved reserves, the costs of drilling the well are charged to
expense and included within cash flows from investing activities in the Consohdaled Statements of Cash Flows
pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 19, Fi manc:al Accounting and Reporting
by Oil and Gas Producing Companies. The costs of development wells are capllal:zcd whether productive or
nonproductive. Oil and gas lease acquisition costs are also capitalized. Interest qost is capitalized as a component.
of property cost for significant exploration and development projects that require greater than six months to be
readied for their intended use. Until the third quarter of 2006, the Company had not capitalized any interest
expense. The weighted average interest rate used to capitalize interest for the current year was 7.1 percent,
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including interest and commitment fees paid on the unused portion of the credit facility and amortization of
deferred financing costs. The Company capitalized interest costs of $1.0 million for the year ended December 31,
2006.

Other exploration costs, including certain geological and geophysical expenses and delay rentals for oil and
gas leases, are charged to expense as incurred. The sale of a partial interest in a proved property is accounted for
as a cost recovery and no gain or loss is recognized as long as this treatment does not significantly affect the
unit-of-production amortization rate. A gain or loss is recognized for ail other sales of proved properties.
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense, and renewals and betterments are capitalized to the appropriate
property and equipment accounts.

-

Unevaluated properties are assessed periodically on a property-by-property basis and any impairment in
value is charged to expense. If the unevaluated properties are subsequently determined to be productive, the
related costs are transferred to proved oil and gas properties. Proceeds from sales of partial interests in unproved
leases are accounted for as a recovery of cost without recognizing any gain or loss until all costs are recovered.

Materials and supplies consist primarily of tubuiar goods and well equipment used in future drilling
operations or repair operations and are carried at the lower of cost or market, on a first-in, first-out basis.

The following table sets forth the net capitalized costs and associated accumulated depreciation, depletion-
and amortization, including impairments, relating to the Company’s natural gas and oil producing activities (in
thousands), including net capitalized costs associated-with properties held for sale of $57.3 million in total*
proved properties, which is net of $11.0 million of accumulated depreciation, depletion, amortization and
impairment, and $18.2 million in total unevaluated properties (see Note 4 for further information on properties
held for sale):

; As of December 31,

2005 2006
Proved PrOPETUES . . ..o\ttt s e e ettt e e e e e $ 286,503 § 346,619
Wells and related equipment and facnlmes e e e 445,943 736,007
Support equipment and facilities ...... ... . s 64,969 86,932
Materials and supplies ................... e e e e e 7,006 2,258
Total proved oil and gas properties . .. .......... ..., e 804,421 1,171,816
Accumulated deprccnatmn depletion, amomzatlon and impairment ............... . (234,713)  (363,587)
Total proved oil and gas properties, et ... .ol i $ 569,708 $ B08229
Unevaluated Properties .. ..... ..ottt $ 93,145 § 139,689
Wells and equipment in progress ............. PR 75,139 81,473
Total unevaluated oil and gas properties, excluded from amortization .......... ' $ 168,284 $ 221,162

Net changes in capitalized exploratory well costs for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 are
reflected in the following table (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2004 2005 2006
- ' {in thousands)

Beginning of period . .....0..... i e $ 310 § 19940 § 61,530
Additions to capitalized exploratory well costs pendmg the determination of ‘

PrOved [ESEIVES . . . v\ et ettt ettt i e 85,445 209,847 211,290
Reclassifications to wells, facilities and equipment based on the

determination of proved reserves . ... .. e (42,788) (157,158) (192,337)
Exploratory well costs charged to dry hole costs and abandonment

EXPEISE oottt ot e e e e a i e (23,027) (11,099  (10,887)
End of period ............. S $19940 § 61,530 $ 69,59




* The following table provides an aging of capitalized exploratory well coats based on the date the drilling
was completed and the number of gross wells for which exploratory well costs have been capltallzed fora penod
greater than one year since the completion of dnllmg (dollars expressed in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006
(in thousands)

Capitalized exploratory well costs ‘that have been capilaliied for a period of one

YEAL O LESS . . .o oo e Lo 819940 $58,113 $48.417
Capitalized exploratory well costs that have been capitalized for a period greater

thanone year ............. P e L. .. — 3417 21,179
End of period balance . . . . . e P I i 819940 $61,530 $69,596

Number of exploratory wells that have costs capitalized for a period greater than -
one year ..... B SR U S . — 24 173

As of December 31, 2006, exploratory well costs that have been capitalized for a period greater than one
year since the completion of drilling amounted to $21.2 million. The majoritylof our exploratory wells that have
been capitalized for a period greater than one year are located in the Powder l}iver Basin. In this basin, we drill
wells into various coal seams. In order to produce gas from the coal seams, a period of dewatering lasting from a
few to twenty four months, or in some cases longer, is required prior to obtaining sufficient gas production to
Justify capital expenditures for compression and gathering and to classify the reserves as proved.

In addition to our wells in the Powder River Basin, the Company had one well that has been capitalized for
greater than one year in the Wind River Basin. It cannot be completed until thle approval of the Bureau of Land
Management is granted for the right of way to build a gathering line to an existing gas pipeline.

The Company reviews its proved oil and gas properties for impairment whenever events and circumstances
indicate a decline in the recoverability of their carrying value may have occurred. The Company estimates the
expected undiscounted future cash flows of its oil and gas properties and comf)ares such undiscounted future cash
flows to the carrying amount of the oil and gas properties to determine if the carrying amount is recoverable. If
the carrying amount exceéds the estimated undiscounted future cash flows, the Company will adjust the carrying
amount of the oil and gas properties to fair value. The factors used to determine fair value include, but are not
limited to, recent sales prices of comparable properties, estimates of proved re'serves future commodity pricing,
future production estimates, anucrpated capital expenditures, and a discount rate commensurate w1th the risk
associated with reahzmg the expected cash flows projected.

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, the Company recognized non-cash impairment
charges of $0.5 million, $42.7 million and $1.2 million, respectively, mcluded within impairment, dry hole costs
and abandonment expense. The impairment expense during 2005 is comprlsed of a $29.5 million impairment
charge in the Cooper Reservoir field, $11.3 million impairment charge in the 'll‘alon field and $1.9 million
impairment charge in the East Madden field. We undertook a drilling program in Cooper Reserveir in 2003 and
2004 with the expectation of a specific economic reserve level. Actual reserve I levels were less than our
expectations which led to an impairment in the field in 2005. The 1mpa1rments in the Talon and East Madden

" fields were the result of unsuccessful exploration programs. The impairment expense during 2006 is a
$1.2 million impairment charge to our Cedar Camp and Tumbleweed properties within the Uinta Basin. These
properties were held for sale as of September 30, 2006 and were subsequently;sold during the fourth quarter of
2006. The carrying amount of these properties was adjusted to fair value, which may be determined based upon
recent sales prices of comparable properties or the present value of future casﬁ flows, net of operating and
development costs, discounted at various rates consistent w1th current market tonditions at which similar types of
properties are being traded.




The provision for depreciation, depletion and amortization (“DD&A”) of oil and gas properties is calculated
on a field-by-field basis using the unit-of-production method. Qil is converted to natural gas equivalents, Mcfe, at
the rate of one barrel to six Mcf. Taken into consideration in the calculation of DD&A are estimated future
dismantlement, restoration and abandonment costs, which are net of estimated salvage values.

Furniture, Equipment and Other. Land and other office and field equipment are recorded at cost. Costs of
renewals and improvements that substantially extend the useful lives of the assets are capitalized. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the lesser of five years or the life of the lease. Maintenance and repairs are
expensed when incurred. Depreciation of other property and equipment is computed using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives of three to ten years. Upon retirement or disposition of assets, the costs
and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts with the resulting gains or losses, if any,
reflected in results of operations. :

Accounts Payable and Accrued Lmb:lmes Accounts payable and accrued expenses are comprised of the
following:

As of December 31,
_ 2005 2006
Accrued driiling and facility costs . ....... ... i P $36 070 $39,570
Accrued lease operating and gathering and transportation expenses .................. ... 3,037 4,308
Accrued general and administrative expenses .. ... ... i oo i - 5,013 6,002
Trade payables . . ... e e 8411 11,923
OleT . . . e e . 5,582 7,716
Total accounts payable and accrued liabilities ............... e e .. $58,113 369,519

Environmental Liabilities. Environmental expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past
operations and that do not contribute to current or future revenué generation are expensed. Liabilities are accrued
when environmental assessments and/or clean-ups are probable, and the costs can be reasonably estimated. As of
December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Company has not accrued for nor been fined or cited for any environmental
violations that would have a material adverse effect upon capltal expenditures, operating results or the
competitive position of the Company.

Revenue Recognition. The Company records revenues from the sales of natural gas and crude oil when
delivery 1o the customer has occurred and title has transferred. Thls occurs when oil or gas has been delivered to
a pipeline or a tank lifting has occurred.

The Company may have an interest with other producers in certain properties, in which case the Company
uses the sales method to account for gas imbalances. Under this method, revenue is recorded on the basis of gas
actually sold by the Company. In addition, the Company records revenue for its share of gas'sold by other owners
that cannot be volumetricaily balanced in the future due to insufficient remaining reserves. The Company also
reduces revenue for other owners’ gas sold by the Company that cannot be volumetrically balanced in the future
due to insufficient remaining reserves. The Company’s remaining over- and under- produced gas balancing
positions are considered in the Company’s proved 01] and gas reserves, Gas imbalances at December 31, 2005
and 2006 were not significant. -

Comprehensive Income (Loss). Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and the
effective component of derivative instruments classified as cash flow hedges. Comprehensive income (loss} is
presented net of income taxes in the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders Equity and Comprehensive
Income (Loss).
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Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities. The Company periodically uses derivative financial
instruments to achieve a more predictable cash flow from its gas and oil prodilction by reducing:its exposure to
price fluctuations. The Company also enters 1nt0 derlvatwe contracts to mitigate the risk of interest rate
fluctuations.

The Company accounts for such activities pursuant to.SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended. This statement establishes a:ccounting and reporting standards
requiring that derivative instruments (including certain derivative mstruments embedded in other contracts) be
recorded at fair market value and included in the Consolldated Balance Sheets as assets or liabilities.

The accounting for changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument depends on the intended use of the
derivative and the resulting designation, which is established at the inception 'of a derivative. SFAS No. 133
requires that a company formally document, at the inception of a hedge, the hedging relationship and the entity’s
risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge, including identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedgec‘i, the method that will be used to
assess effectiveness, and the method that will be used to measure hedge ineffectiveness of derivative instruments
that receive hedge accounting treatment,

For derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, changes in fair value,-10 the extent the hedge is -
‘effective, are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) until the hedg:ed item is recognized in earnings.
Hedge effectiveness is assessed quarterly based on total changes in the denvatlve s fair value. Any ineffective
pomon of the derivative instrument’s change in falr value is recognized lmmedrately in earnings,

The Company may utilize derlvatwe financnal instruments which have npt been designated as hedges under
SFAS No. 133 even though they protect the Company from changes in comrniodlty prices or interest rate
fluctuations. These instruments are marked to market with the resulting changes in fair value recorded in
earnings. S

Deferred Financing Costs. Costs mcurred in connectlon with the executlon or modlﬁcauon of the
Company’s credit facility are capitalized and amortized over the life of the fac111ty

Income Taxes. Income taxes are provided for the tax effects of transactlons reported in the financial
statements and consist of taxes currently payable plus deferred income taxes related to certain income and
expenses recognized in different periods for financial and income tax repomng purposes. Deferred income tax
assets and liabilities represent the futuré tax return consequences of those dlft;erences which will either be
taxable or deductible when assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, Deferred income taxes are also
recognized for tax credits that are available to offset future income taxes. Deferred income taxes are measured by
applymg currently enacted tax rates. :

Asset Retirement Obligations. The Company accounts for its asset retlrement obhganons in accordance
with SFAS No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations. The estlmated fair value of the future costs
associated with dismantlement, abandonment and restoration of oil and gas propertles is recorded generally upon
acquisition or compleuon of a well. The net estimated costs are discounted tojpresent values using a risk adjusted
rate over the estimated economic life of the oil and gas properties. Such costs;are capitalized as part of the related
asset. The asset is depleted on the units-of-production method on a field-by-field basis. The associated liability is
classified in other long-term liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Bal|ance Sheets. The hablllty is
periodically adjusted to reflect (1) new liabilities incurred, (2} liabilities settled during the period, (3) accretion
expense, and (4) revisions to estimated future cash flow requirements. The accretlon expense is recorded as a
component of depreCIatlon depletlon and amortization expense in the accompanymg Consolidated Statements of
Operations.’

Repurchases and Retirements of Capital Stock. The Company records treasury stock contributions at cost.
Upon retirement of treasury shares, the excess of purchase or contribution cost over associated common stock par
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value is allocated to additional paid-in capital. The allocation to additional pald in capital is based on the
per-share amount of capital in excess of par value for all shares,

Stock-Based Compensation. In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™)
issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004) Share-Based Pavment (“SFAS No. 123(R)”), which revises SFAS No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion
No. 23, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS No. 123(R) establishes standards for the accounting for
transactions in which an entity exchanges its equity instruments for goods and services, focusing primarily on
accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services in share-based payment transactions. It
also addresses transactions in which an entity incurs liabilities in exchange for goods and services that are based
on the fair value of the entity’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those equity
instruments. We early adopted the provisions of the new standard effective October 1, 2004. Prior to the adoption
of SFAS No. 123(R), we used the intrinsic value method in accordance with APB Opinion No. 25 and the
disclosure pI‘OV]SlOl’lS of SFAS No. 123.

For awards granted while we were a nonpublic company (those granted prior to April 16, 2004, the date that is
defined by SFAS No. 123(R) as the date we became a pubhc company as a result of making a filing with a
regulatory agency in preparation for the sale of equity securities in a public market), we adopted SFAS No. 123(R)
using the prospective transition method. Under the prospective transition method, we continue to account for awards
grantted prior to becoming a public company using the minimurn value method described under SFAS No. 123,
Accordingly, zero compensation expense was recorded upon adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) for those awards,
Additionally, the calculated fair value of those awards using the minimum value method is not comparable to those
options granted subsequent to April 16, 2004, for which a fair-value-based method was used.

For awards granted after we were a public company (those granted subsequent to April 16, 2004), we
adopted SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective application effective October 1, 2004, whereby as of
that date we began applying the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R) to new awards and to awards modified,
repurchased, or cancelled on or after October 1, 2004. For awards granted after April 16, 2004 and before
October 1, 2004, we recognized share-based employee compensation cost based on the historical grant-date fair
value as computed under SFAS No. 123 on October 1, 2004 for the portion of awards previously granted and for
which the requisite service had not yet been rendered. -

The following table illustrates the pro forma effect on net income and 10ss per share if compensation costs
had been determined based upon the fair value at the grant dates in accordance with SFAS No. 123 for stock
. option grants issued after we were considered a public company on April 16, 2004, as deﬁned by SFAS No. 123,
but before adoption of SFAS No. 123(R) on October 1, 2004:
Year Ended
December 31, 2004

(im thousands, except
- per share amounts)

Netloss,asreported ..................... e ...................... B} % {5.260)

Add stock-based compensation included in reported net loss, net of related tax .
1§ =11 £ T - 3,003
Deduct stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value method, net
of related tax effects ... vt i i e e i e e e (3,016}
Pro formanetloss ....... S (5,279)
Less cumulative and deemed dividends on preferred stock ... ... ... ... ... (54,976) -
Pro forma loss attributable tocommon stock ............. ... ... ... . L $(60,255) .
Basic loss per share: . . .
Asreported ... ... e $ (1540
PrO fOIMa .« o oottt e e $ (15.40)
Diluted loss per share: : .
ASTEPOMEd . ... e e ’ $ (15400
ProfOrma . ... it e e e e e e ¥ (1540




The Company continues t¢ account for certain stock options under the original provisions of APB Opinion
No. 25 because those options were issued prior to April 16, 2004, when we were \eonsidered a nonpublic entity as
defined by SFAS No. 123(R). Because those options were accounted for under thie minimum-value method, the
calculated fair value is not comparable to those options issued subsequent to April 16, 2004, in which a fair-valie-
based method was then used. Therefore, pro forma disclosures for stock options éranted while we were a nonpubllc
company accounted for using the mmlmum—va]ue method have not been included pursuant to SFAS No. 123(R)

During the year ended December 31 2006, the Company grantcd opuons to purchase 802 370 shares of
common stock with a weighted average exercise price of $31.87 per share and 286 485 nonvested equity shares -
-of common stock. Included within general and administrative expense is non- cash stock based compensation
related to option and nonvested equity share awards of $3.0 million, $3.2 mllllOH and $6.5 million for the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. See Note 10 for additibnal dlsclosures about stock-based
“compensation. . .

Earnings Per Share. In connection with our IPO in Décember 2004, a common stock reverse spht of
1-for-4.658 was effected. All share and per share amounts for periods prior to December 2004 reflect the reverse
split:

Basic net income (loss) per common share of stock is calculated by d1v1d1ng net income (loss) attnbutable to
common stock by the welghted-average of vested common shares outstanding durmg each period. Diluted net
income (loss) attributable to common shareholders is calculated using the treasury stock method, which also
considers the impact to net income and common shares for the potential dilution from stock optlons and
nonvested equlty shares of common stock. :

Net income (loss) attributable to common stock is calculated by reducing net income (loss) by dividends_ .
earned on preferred securities. For the year ended December 31, 2004, Series B preferred dividends, whether or
not declared or paid, are considered earned for these calculations. The Series A!and Seriés B preferred stock, the
convertible note, the issued common shares subject to restrictions, and outstanding options have not been '
included in the computation of earnings per share for the year ended December'3l 2004, as their inclusion would
"~ have been anti-dilutive. For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, 118; 700 and 557,585 shares,
respectively, attributable to the assumed exercise of. outstandmg optlons were excluded from the calculauon of
diluted EPS because the effect was ant:dllunve

NN § .

The Emerging Issues Task Force, (“EITF”), has issued EITF Issue No. 03-‘6, Farticipating Securities and
the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement No. 128 “Farnings Per Share”, ((‘'EITF 03-6"). We adopted .
EITF 03-6 as of January 1, 2004. EITF 03-6 provides guidance for the computation of earnings per share using.
the two-class method for enterprises with participating securities or multiple clz'isses of common stock as required
by SFAS No. 128. The two-class method-allocates undistributed earnings to each class of common stock and
participating securities for the purpose of computing basic earnings per share. However, upon completion of our
IPO on December 15,2004, all outstanding preferred securities were converted|into common stock and, thus, we
were not required to apply the two-class method for the year ended December 31, 2004. For the year ended
December 31, 2004, we have included the deemed dividends previously measufed related to issuance of preferred
securities and their beneficial conversion in the calculation to determine net inc'ome (loss) attributable to
common stock because the contmgency related to the conversion has been resolved due to the completlon of the
initial public offermg
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The fol]oWing table sets forth the calculation of basic'and diluted earnings per share:

‘ Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006

i . - . (in thousands except per share amounts)

Net income (loss) ........................ e e . % (5,266) "% 23,805 $ 62,011

Less cumulative dividends on preferred stock ......... e L (18,633) nfa nfa

_' Less deemed dividends on preferredstock .................... P Lo (36,343 nfa nfa

Net income (loss) to be allocated . ....: PP P .. (60,242) 23,805 62,011
Less allocation of undistributed earnings to participating preferred stock . ... — — — .

Net income (loss) attributable to common stock ....-......... ... ... - (60,242) 23,805 . 62,011

Adjustments to net income fordilution ......... ... ... 0o .n/a — —
Net income (loss) adjusted for the effect of dilution “.................... $(60,242) $ 23,805 $ 62,011
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding in period ............ 39123 43,2383 43,6948
.Add dilutive effects of stock options and nonvested equity shares of :

COMMON SIOCK . vt e e e — 201.3 574.6

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding in period .......... 13,9123 - 434396 44,2694

Basic income (loss) per common share ....... e $ (15400 § - 055 § 1.42

Diluted income (loss) per common share”........... L .. $ (154008 055§ 140

The weighted-average number of common shares outstanding used in the income (loss) per share calculation
.is computed pursuant to SFAS No. 128. The weighted-average common shares outstanding for the year ended
December 31, 2004 do not include the 6,594,725 shares of Series A or the 51,951,418 shares of Series B
preferred stock that were converted into to a total of 26,387,679 common shares upon the cornpletlon of our
initial publlc offering in December 2004. :

Indusny Segment and Geographtc Infonnatzon The Company operates in one mdustry segment, which is.
the exploration, development and production of natural gas and crude oil, and all of the Comnpany’s operations
are conducted in the United States. Consequently, the Company currently repons -a single industry segment.

New Accounting Pronouncements. In June 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, Accounting Changes
and Error Corrections, which replaces APB Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes, and SFAS No. 3, Reporring
Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements. SFAS No. 154 changes the requirements for the
accounting and reporting of a change in accounting principle. APB Opinion No. 20 previously required that most
voluntary changes in an accounting principle be recognized by including the cumulative effect of the new
accounting principle in net income of the period of the change. SFAS No. 154 now requires retrospective
application of changes in an accounting principle to prior period financial statéments, unless it is impracticable to
determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. The Statement was effective
for fiscal years beglnnmg after Décember 15, 2005, and its adoption did not. have an impact on our financial
statements.

In October 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) Financial-Accounting Standards
(“FAS”) No. 13-1, Accounting for Rental Costs Incurred during a Construction Period, which was effective for
our Company as of January 1, 2006. This Position requires that rental costs associated with ground or building
operating leases that are incurred during a construction period be recognized as rental expense. The adoption of
this FSP did not have an impact on our financial statements.

In July 2006, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation (“FIN") No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial

statements in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. FIN 48 also prescribes a
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recognition threshold and measurement standard for the financial statement recognition and measurement of an
income tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. In addition, FIN 48 provides guidance on
derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periolds, disclosure and transition, The
Company presently recognizes income tax positions based on management’s estimate of whether it is reasonably
possible that a liability has been incurred for unrecognized income tax beneﬁts[by applying FASB Statement
No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. The provisions of FIN 48 will be effective for the Company on January 1,
2007 and are to be applied to all tax positions upon initial application of this standard Only tax positions that
meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold at the effective date may be recognized or continue to be
recognized upon adoption. The cumulative effect of applying the provisions ofiFIN 48 will be reported as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings for the fiscal year of adoption. The Company has not yet
determined the potential financial statement impact of adopting FIN 48.

In September 2006, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SAB™) No 108, Considering the Effects of
Prior Year Misstatements when Quantifying Misstatements.in Current Year Fi inancial Statements. SAB 108
provides guidance on the consideration of effects of the prior year misstatements in quantifying current year
misstatements for the purpose of a materiality assessment. The SEC Staff believes registrants must quantify
errors using both a balance sheet and income statement approach and evaluate Iwhelher either approach results in
quantifying a misstatement that, when all relevant quantitative and qualitative factors are considered, is material,
SAB 108 was effective for the Company as of December 31, 2006, and the adopuon did not have an impact on
the Company’s financial statements,

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements. SFAS No. 157 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expands dlsclosurc requirements regarding fair value -
measurement. Where applicable, this Statement simplifies and codifies fair value related guidance previously
issued within GAAP. Although this Statement does not require any new fair value measurements, its application
may, for some entities, change current practice. SFAS No. 157 will be effective for the Company beginning
January 1, 2008. The adoption of SFAS No. 157 is not expected to have a matérial impact on our financial
statements,

3. Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:

Supplemental cash flow information is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

| 2004 2005 2006
} (in thousands)
Cash paid forinterest ......... ... ... i $5,362 $ 1903 510,593
Cash paid forincome taxes . ..........c. i iannns — — 500
Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and financing
activities:
. Exchange of oil and gas properties for equipment and other

PrOPErties . ... ... .. i — — 9,304
Assumpuon of debt and deferred tax l1abllny—CH4 . ,

ACqUISILION .. ... e e — — 43,298
Preferred stock issued for payment of oil and gas properties . . . 322 — —
Preferred stock returned in settlement to terminate an

exploration agreement .. ... ... ... ... .. ... i {500y — —
Conversion of convertible note payable into Series A - S

convertible preferred stock . .. ... ... Lo 1,800 — —
Changes in current assets and liabilities that are reflected in

Investing activities . ... ... .. i e 12,099 17,889 6,818
Net change in asset retirement obligations . . ................ 7,153 10,854 . 6,612
Treasury stock acquired for employee stock option exercises . . . — 5,180 5,059
Retirement of treasury STI0CK . ... ... oviiiiueiiinnann. — — 10,239
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4. Acquisitions, Disposition, and Property Held for Sale
Acquisitions

On September 1, 2004, the Company purchased certain oil and natural gas properties and related assets
located in Colorado (the “Piceance Basin Acquisition Properties™) from Calpine Corporation and Calpine Natural
Gas L.P. The cash purchase price was $137.3 million after closing adjustments including revenue and operating
expense between July 1, 2004 and September 1, 2004.

The following unaudited pro forma information presents the financial information of the Company as if the
Piceance Basin Acquisition Properties were acquired on January 1, 2004:

Year Ended
December 31, 2004

As Reported Pro Forma

(in thousands)

3= 110 - $169,980  $182,271
Direct Operating eXpenses .. ... ..vviv ittt e (40,647) (42,489)
Revenues in excess of direct operating expenses ...................... 129,333 139,782
[ O -1 R $ (5266) $ (4,049)
Basic and Diluted Net Loss Per Common Share ...................... $ (1540) § (15.09)

On May 8, 2006, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding stock of CH4 Corporation, a Delaware
corporation {(“CH4"}, for $74.2 million in cash and agreed to pay $6.5 million of indebtedness of CH4, The
acquisition was funded with borrowings under the Company’s credit facility. The primary assets of CH4
consisted of approximately 84,300 gross (52,000 net) acres of oil and gas leasehold interests of coal bed methane
properties in the Powder River Basin of Wyoming and an estimated 11.0 Befe of proved reserves. '

The CH4 acquisition was recorded using the purchase method of accounting, and the results of operations
from the acquisition are included with the results of the Company from the date of closing. The total purchase
price of the transaction was allocated preliminarily to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on fair
values at the acquisition date. The table below summarizes the allocation, which has been revised from the initial
allocation based on updated information (in thousands): .

Purchase Price:

Cash paid, netof cashreceived . .. ... ... . i i e $ 72,547
Debt assumed . ... ... .. e e 6,495
B o 1 [ $ 79,042
Allocation of Purchase Price:
Working capital . ... ... e e $ @12)
Proved oil and gas properties . ..........cciuiieriit ettt 40,582
Unevaluated oil and gasproperties ... ........ ... . o i i 76,190
Other NON-CUITENt ASSEL8 . . . .. ..ttt ittt ittt ittt ittt e e et iaeeeaennns 122
Defermed INCOME LK S & it vttt ettt ettt ettt et e (36,803)
Asset retirement obligation ... ... ... e (637)
TOEl .« oot R $ 79,042

Pro forma financial information is not provided, as the CH4 acquisition was not considered a material
business combination to the Company, and the results of operations from those properties are insignificant.
Results of operations from the CH4 properties acquired are included in the Company’s financial statements
beginning May 8, 2006.
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Dispositions -

" In August 2006, the Company completed the sale of approximately 17,000 net acres of certain coalbed
methane properties that were acquired with the CH4 acquisition. Proceeds from the sale were $30.7 million and a
loss of $0.1 million was recorded due to various purchase price adjustments incurred in the normal course of
business. ' l;

In December 2006, the Company completed the sale of the Cedar Camp ar{d Tumbleweed properties, within
the Uinta Basin, which were previously classified as held for sale at September 30, 2006. Total proceeds from the
sale were $3.8 million, which resulted in a gain of $0.1 million, which is includé:d in other operating revenues in
the Consolidated Statement of Operations. o

The Company also entered into joint exploration agreements and completed other property sales in the
Powder River, Paradox, Williston, Wind River, Big Horn, Montana Overthrust,iDJ, and Uinta Basins resulting in
gains recognized of $30.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, which is included in other operating
revenies in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Under EITF 03-13, Applying the Conditions in Paragraph
42 of FASB Statement No. 144 in Determining Whether to Report Discontinued'Operations, we determined that
these sales did not qualify for discontinued operations reporting,.

Property Held for Sale

» Assets are classified as held for sale when the Company commits to a plan to sell the assets and completion
of the sale is probable and expected to occur within one year. Upon clasmﬁcatmn as held-for-sale, long-lived
assets are no longer depreciated or depleted and a loss is recognized, if any, based upon the excess of carrying
value over fair value less costs to sell. Previous losses may be reversed up to the original carrying value as
estimates are revised; however, gains are recognized only upon disposition.

During 2006, the Board of Directors acknowledged management’s plan to ?ell the Company’s oil and gas
properties in the Williston Basin. In addition, the Company also decided to dwest its Tri-State exploration project
in the DJ Basin. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impazrment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets, these properties are carried at the lower of historical cost or fair value less cost to sell and were
reclassified to assets held for sale on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Any llablhues related 1o those properties
were also reclassified to liabilities associated with assets held for sale on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Under
EITF 03-13, we determined that these sales do not qualify for discontinued oper.atmns reporting.

The following table presents the assets and liabilities associated with the oiil and gas properties held for sale
in the Williston and DJ Basins as of December 31, 2006 (in thousands):

Proved oil and ZASPrOPerties . .. ... vvveenne e e EEERREE $ 57,280
Unevaluated oil and gas properties ....................c..ne R A 18,216
Noncurrent Habilities ... ... . ...uvrtonnneraeaeeeaeaieeen o 3,374

5. Note Payable to Bank

On March 17, 2006, the Company amended its credit facility (the “Credit F'aci]ity“) The Credit Facility has
a face value of $400.0 million, expandable up to $600.0 million, and had an mmal borrowing base of
$280.0 million. Based upon 2006 mid-year reserves, the borrowing base was mcreased to $310.0 million on
October 6, 2006. Future borrowing bases will be computed based on proved natural gas and oil reserves. The
Credit Facility matures on March 17, 20111 and bears interest, based on the borro'wmg base usage, at the
applicabte London Interbank Offered Rate, (“LIBOR™) plus applicable margins }anging from 1.0% 10 1.75%, or
an altérnate base rate, based upon the greater of the prime rate or the federal funds effective rate plus applicable
margins ranging from 0% to 0.25%. The Company pays commitment fees rangmg from 0.25% to 0.375% of the
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unused borrowing base. This facility is secured by natural gas and oil properties representing at least 80% of the
value of the Company’s proved reserves and the pledge of all of the stock of our subsidiaries.

As of December 31, 2006, borrowings outstanding under the Credit Facility totaled $188.0 million. The
Amended Credit Facility also contains certain financial covenants, We have complied with all financial
covenants for all periods.

6. Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company accounts for its assét retirement obligations in accordance with SFAS No. 143. This
statement generally applies to legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that result from
the acquisition construction, development and/or the normal operation of a long-lived asset.

A reconciliation of the Company’s asset retiremerit obligations is as follows, which includes $3.4 mllhon :
associated with assets held for sale: :

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006
{in thousands)
Beginning of period ............... e e $ 4297 $11,806 $23,733-
Liabilities incurred .. .................. e 6,996 2,429 3,433
Liabilities settled . ....... ..o iiirinrini. A PN (848) (203) (1,586)
ACCTEHON BXPRISE . ... ottt ittt et et e e 397 1,276 2,593
ReVISIONS 10 ESHIMAE . . . . o\ttt e ettt e e e e e e e e e 964 8,425 4425
Endofperiod ....................... el e e e $11,806 $23,733 $32,598

7. Fair Value of Derivatives and Other Financial Iristruments

The Company’s financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, accounts and notes receivable
and accounts payable are carried at cost, which approximates fair value due to the short-term maturity of these
instruments. The recorded value of the Credit Facility, as discussed in Note 5, approximates the fair vatue due to
its floating rate structure. The Company’s derivatives are marked to market with changes in fair value being
recorded in other comprehensive income.

Oil and Gas Commodity Hedges

The Company periodically uses derivative financial instruments to achieve a more predictable cash flow
from its natural gas and oil production by reducing its exposure to price fluctuations. We have entered into
commodity swap and collar contracts to fix the floor and ceiling prices we receive for a portien of our natural gas
and oil production. OQur natural gas and oil derivative financial instruments have been designated as-cash flow
hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133. '

The Company was a party to various swap and collar contracts for natural gas based on Northwest Pipeline
Rocky Mountains (“NORRM”) and Colorado Interstate Gas Rocky Mountains (“CIGRM”) indekes during the
years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. As a result, the Company recognized a reduction of natural gas
production revenues related to these contracts of $20.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2005 and an
increase of $22.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2006. The Company also was a party to various collar
contracts for o1l based on a West Texas Intermediate (“WTI™) index recognizing a reduction to oil production .
revenues related to these contracts of $3.7 million and $4.1 million in the years ended December 31, 2005 and
2006, respectively. As the underlying prices in the Company’s hedge contracts were consistent with the indices
used to sell its natural gas and oil, no ineffectiveness was recognized related to its hedge contracts for the years .
ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. ' .
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. At February 16, 2007, the Company had the following swap contracts and cashless collars (purchased put
" options and written call options) in order to hedge a portion of our 2007 and 20Q8 natural gas and cil production.
The cashless collars are used to establish floor and ceiling prices on anticipated future natural gas production.

' Weighted Weighted Weighted
Lo ' : Average  Average  Average

Deliveries  Quantity Floor Ceiling Fixed Index
Product Per Day Type Pricing Pricing Price Price (1} Contract Period
Cashless Collars: . ‘
Natural gas...... . 15000 MMBwm $ 7.50 $12.25 nfa [CIGRM 11/1/2006 - 3/31/2007
. Natural gas ...... 64,000 MMBwm $ 607 § 9.61 nfa [CIGRM 1/1/2007 - 12/31/2007
Qil....... v.....» . 800 Bbls $55.00 $79.85 nfa |WTI 1/1/2007 - 12/31/2007
Natural gas- ... ... © 35000 MMBmu % 6500 $10.00 nfa [CIGRM 1/1/2008 - 12/31/2008
L6 - 500 Bbls $70.00  $80.15 nfa (WTI 1/1/2008 — 12/31/2008
" Swap Contracts: , .

. Naturalgas . ..... 10,000 MMBt nfa na  $6.50 JCIGRM  2/1/2007 - 2/28/2007
Natural gas ...... 5,000 MMBtu nfa nfa $5.21 (CIGRM 2/1/2007 — 10/31/2007
Natural gas ...... 20,000 MMBw n/a n/a $6.44 ICIGRM  3/1/2007 - 3/31/2007
Natural gas ...... 45,000 MMBtu n/a -nfa $5.47 CIGRM 4/1/2007 — 10/31/2007

. Natural gas ...... 55,000 MMBw n/a nfa  $6.90 {CIGRM 11/1/2007 - 3/31/2008

“Naturalgas'.7.... 10,000 MMBtu n/a n/a $6.75 ICIGRM 1/1/2008 — 12/31/2008
Natural gas : .. ... © 5,000 MMBtu n/a n/a $6.30 |CIGRM 4/1/2008 — 10/31/2008

(1) CIGRM refers to Colorado Interstate Gas Rocky Mountains price as quoted in Platt’s Inside FERC on the
first business,day of each month. WTI refers to West Texas Intermediate pnce as quoted on the New York
Mercantile Exchange

The Company s natural gas and oil derivative financial instruments have been designated as cash flow
hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133 and are included in current and other noncurrent assets in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.

At December 31, 2006, the estimated fair value of contracts designated and qualifying as cash flow hedges
under SFAS No. 133 was a net asset of $46.7 million. The Company will reclas'sﬂ’y the appropriate amount to
gains or losses included in natural gas and oil production operating revenues as the hedged production guantity is
produced. Based on current projected market prices, the net amount of existing Unrealized after-tax income as of
December 31, 2006 to be reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive m!come to net income in the next
12 months would be appr0x1mately $19.7 million. The Company anticipates that all originally forecasted
transactions will occur by the end of the originally specified time periods.

Interest Rate Derivative Contracts

In December 2006, the Company entered into two interest rate derivative clontracts to manage the

- Company’s exposure to'changes in interest rates. The first contract was a ﬂoatmg-to-ﬁxed interest rate swap for a
notional amount of $10.0 million and the second was a floating-to-fixed mterest rate collar for a notional amount
of $10.0 million, both to terminate on December 12, 2009. The Company’s mterest rate derivative instruments
have been designated as cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133. The derivatives were structured to
mirror the critical terms of the hedged debt instruments; therefore, no ineffectiveness has been recorded in
earnings.




o

Under the swap, the Company will make payments to (or receive payments from) the contract counterparty
when the variable rate of one-month LIBOR falls below or exceeds the fixed rate of 4.70%. Under the collar, the -
Company will make payments to (or receive payments from) the contract counterparty when the variable rate .
falls below the floor rate of 4.50% or exceeds the ceiling rate of 4.95%. The payment dates of both the swap and
the collar match exactly with the interest payment dates of the corresponding portion of our outstanding line of
credit, ‘ o

Since the Company did not enter into interest rate derivative contracts until December 2006, there wereno -
settlement payments received or paid for the year ending December 31, 2006. Payments and receipts in future )
periods will be included in interest expense. The Company anticipates that all originally forecasted transactions
will occur by the end of the originally specified time periods, and based on current projected interest rates, the
net amount of existing unrealized after-tax income as of December 31, 2006 to be reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive income to net income in the next 12 months would be approximately $0.1 million. At
December 31, 2006, the estimated fair value of the interest rate derivatives was a net asset of $0.1 million.

1 ' - . v 3

8. Income Taxes .
The expense (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:
Year Ended December 31,'
T 2004 L2005 2006
(in thousands) .

Current . . . ‘
Federal .......ovoniiiiii it F e “$—$ —- % 460.
State ... e e L= T — 34

Deferred: ' : o :
Federal . .. ..ot e e "$(688) - $14,629 $36,353
SEAtE ..ottt e e (187 593 2,278

0 ) T $(875) $15,222- $39,125

Income tax expense (benefit) differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax-
rate of 35% to pretax income (loss) from continuing operations as a result of the following: ‘

* " "Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006

) o _ (in thousands) ,
Income tax expense (benefit) at the federal statutory rate ... ... e $(2,088) $13,659 $35392
State income taxes, net of federal taxeffect ........ ... .. i, - (187) 593 2,278
Non-deductible stock-based compensation ............................... 1,392 © . 797 942
Other,net . ............ i e e 8 173 513
Income tax expense (benefit) ........... U PR . § (875) $15,222 $39,125 .

Income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 differ_'s from the
amounts that would be provided by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate to income (léés)befo;‘e income
taxes principally due to stock-based compensation not deductible for income tax purposes and other permanent
differences. ‘ : ‘
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.The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant compc:nems of the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2005 and 2006 are presented below:

December 31,
. 2005 2006

. . . ‘ . (in thousands)

Current:: '

Deferred tax assets (liabilities): . .
Derivative inStruments . ................ooeerirrmmnnenee it $10,751 $ (14,233)
Other accrued expenses ................... i ...... o — . 589
Prepaid XPENSES . . . ... vv vttt e e e Lo, 273 . 317

Total current deferred tax assets (liabilities) ... .... e I e .. 810478 % (13961) -
Long-term: ‘ o ‘ ‘ '
Deferred tax assets: :
Net operating loss carryforward ................. S $30,323 § 28434
Start-up/organization costs, net ....... e PR o 229 13
Long-term derivative instruments .............. e e Lo 2,587 —
Stock-based compensation ............. e SO IR ) 324 1,395
Deferredrent . .......................... P Lo 248 328
Minimum tax credit carryforward ... .. e Lo _ — 459
Other . e e LAl ss 100
Less valuation allowance ................c.c0.... e b —_ (1,635)
Total long-term deferred tax assets .....................: - I ........ 33,767 29,114

Deferred tax liabilities: ' e
Oil and gas properties .. ... e e e e - (41,534) - (115,641)
Long-term derivative instruments ...................... ... 0 i . — (3,203
CORher ..o e e . 193y —

Total long-term deferred tax liabilities . .. ............ DI P (41,727 (118,844)
Net long-term deferred tax liabilities .....................0L....... $ (7.960) $ (89, 730)

At December-31, 2006, the Company had approximately $77.0 million of flederal tax net operating loss .
carryforwards which expire through 2025. The Company has placed a valuanon allowance on the net operating
loss carryforward acquired in the CH4 acquisition. This loss carryforward will explre in 2024. The Company has

a federal alternative minimum tax (*AMT") credit carryforward of $0.5 mllllonI which has no expiration date.

At December 31, 2006, the Company’s balance sheet reflected net deferreq tax liabilities of $103.7 million,
‘of whiéh $17.4 million pertains to the tax effects of derivative instruments reflected in other comprehenswe
income. -

9. Stockholders’ Equity

On December 9, 2004 the Company priced its shares to be issued in its m1t1al public offering and began
trading on the New York Stock Exchange the following day under the ticker symbol “BRG”. Immediately prior
to the initial public offering, a $1.9 million mandatorily convertible note was_co'nverted into 455,635 shares of
Series A convertible preferred stock (“Series A preferred™), all of the then outst%mding shares of Series A
preferred and Series B convertible preferred stock (“Series B preferred”) were converted into 2,592,317 and -
23,795,362 shares, respectively, of common stock, and the 9,242,648 shares of xssued common stock were
reverse split into 1,984,303 shares of common stock. Through the initial public offermg, the Company sold an
additional 14,950,000 shares of common stock to the public at the offering pncé of $25.00 per share, resulting in
total outstandmg shares of 43,321,982 immediately following the initial public nffenng The Company received

F-21




$347.3 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriters’ fees and related offering expenses. The proceeds
received from the initial public offering were used principally to pay down debt outstanding under our credit
facility and the bridge loan.

The Company’s authorized capital structure consists of 75,000,000 shares of $0.001 par value preferred stock
and 150,000,000 shares of $0.001 par value common stock. In October 2004, 150,000 shares of $0.001 par value
preferred stock were designated as Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. At December 31, 2005, the Series
A Junior Participating Preferred Stock was the Company’s only designated preferred stock, the remainder of
authorized preferred stock being undesignated. Until the date of the Company’s initial public offering, 6,900,600
shares were designated as Series A preferred stock and 52,185,000 shares were designated as Series B preferred
stock, both of which were eliminated in December 2004 following the Company’s initial public offering.

Holders of all ciasses of stock are entitled to vote on matters submitted to stockholders, except that each
share of Series A Junior Participating Stock shali entitle the holder thereof to 1,000 votes on all matters
submitted to a vote of the Company’s stockholders. ' o

Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock. There aré no issued and outstanding shares of Series A
Junior Participating Preferred Stock. The Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock will be issued pursuant to
our shareholder rights plan if a stockholder acquires shares in excess of the thresholds set forth in the plan. The
Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock ranks junior to all series of preferred stock with respect to
dividends and specified liquidation events. Dividends on this series are cumulative and do not bear interest,
however, no dividend payment, or payment-in-kind, may be made to holders of common stock without declaring
a dividend on this series equal to 1,000 times the aggregate per share amount declared on common stock. Upon
the occurrence of specified liquidation events, the holders of this series shall be entitled to receive-an aggregate
amount per share equal to 1,000 times the aggregate amount to be distributed per share to holders of shares of
common stock plus an amount equal to any accrued and unpaid dividends. Upon consolidation, merger or
combination in which shares of common stock are exchanged for or changed into other securities or other assets,
each share of this series shall be similarly exchanged into an amount per share equal to 1,000 times that into
which each share of common stock is exchanged. The number of Series A Junior. Participating Preferred Stock
will be proportionately changed in the event the Company declares or pays a common stock dividend or effects a
stock split of common stock,

Series A Preferred Stock. Foliowing the Company’s initial public offering, Series A convertible preferred
stock was eliminated. Prior to the Company’s initial public offering, Series A preferred consisted of 6,900,000
authorized shares with a stated purchase price of $4.17 per share. It ranked senior to the Company’s common
stock with respect to dividends and specified liquidation events. Immediately prior to the Company’s initial
public offering, 6,594,725 shares of Series A preferred were issued and outstanding and converted into 2, 592 317
shares of common stock.

In connection with the early capitalization of the Company, a mandatorily convertible note was issued for
$1.9 million, which amount was classified in long-term liabilities, and pursuant to the terms of the note,
automatically converted into 455,635 shares of Series A preferred immediately prior to the Company’s initial
public offering. B

Series B Preferred Stock. Following the Company’s initial public offering, Series B convertible preferred
stock was eliminated. Prior to the Company’s initial public offering, 51,951,418 shares were issued and
outstanding and converted, along with $35.7 million of its 7% cumulative and unpaid dividends, into 23,795,362
shares of common stock. Immediately prior to the Company’s initial public offering, Series B convertible
preferred stock ranked senior to the Company’s Series A preferred and commeon stock with respecl to dividends
and specified liquidation events. .-
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In May 2004, the Company received final payment from investors in the Senes B preferred stock. Pursuant
to EITF 98-5, Accounting for Convertible Securities with Beneficial Conversion Features or Cantmgently
Adjustable Conversion Ratios, these issuances resulted in a beneficial conversion (deemed dividend) since the
shares were issued with nondetachable conversion features which were deemed o be in-the-money at the
commitment date. According to EITF 98-5, we are required to measure, but not record, the deemed dividend at
the commitment date if the shares are convertible only upon the occurrence of a!future event outside the control
of the holder of such securities and contain conversion terms that change upon the occurrence of a future event.
We measured deemed dividends of $19.3 million and $11.3 m11110n related to the 2003 and 2004 issuances of
convertible Series B preferred stock, respectively. Additionally, pursuant to EITF 00-27, Application of Issue
98-5 to Certain Convertible Instruments, we measured and recorded at the 1n1nal public offering date additional
deemed dividends of $3.1 million pertaining to the conversion of Series A and B convertible preferred stock into
common stock at a discount to the initial public offering price related to the hqu[rdanon preference being
converted less the underwriters’ fees. Total deemed dividends recorded at the initial public offering date equaled
$36.3 million.

In March and April 2004, the Company sold 50,000 and 95,918 shares, respectively, of Series B preferred
stock for $5.00 per share to certain of its employees and recorded non-cash stock-based compensation expense
accordingly.

Common Stock. On January 30, 2002, the Company issued, subject to restrictions and adjusted for the
1-for-4.658 reverse stock split on the Company’s initial public offering date, 1,800,548 shares of common stock
to founding management and employees. On March 28, 2002, these common stockholders entered into a
stockholders’ agreement to restrict ownership of the shares with the following d{lal vesting provisions: (1) one
share vesting for every $141.62355 received from investors in Series B Preferred Stock (“dollar vesting™), and
(2) 20% vesting upon purchase and an additional 20% vesting each year for fourt years after purchase (“time
vesting™). These management shares vest at the later to occur of time vesting and dollar vesting. Vesting ceases
upon the occurrence of a liquidation event with respect to the Company, as defirled in the agreement, or the sale
of the Company At cach measurement date (the date the Company received fun'ds from the investors in Series B
preferred, i. e, the shares dollar vested), compensation expense was determined based on'the then known number
of shares that had dollar vested and, to the extent those shares were time vested, Stock-based compensation
expense was immediately recorded. The remaining charge was recorded as deferlred compensation within
stockholders’ equity and amortized over the remaining time vesting service penod in accordance with
. FIN No. 28, Accounting for Stock Apprec:atmn R:ghrs and Orher Variable Stock Option or Award Plans.

Of the 1, 800 548 common shares issued to foundmg management and employees 1009% of the shares were
dollar vested and 1,778,710 were time vested as of December 31, 2003. As of December 31, 2006 all shares were
dollar and time’ vested

Treasury Stock. The Company may occasionally acquire treasury stock in connection with the vesting and
exercise of share-based awards, which is recorded at cost. As of December 31, 2006, all treasury stock held by
the Company was retired.
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The following table reflects the activity in the Company’s common, preferred, and treasury stock. All
common stock amounts reflect the reverse split that occurred in conjunction with our initial public offering.

Year Ended December 31,
. 2004 2005 2006
Series A Preferred Stock Outstanding: . : '
Shares at beginning of period . ....... .. ... i 6,258,994 — —
Shares returned in settlement to terminate an exploration
Y24 (1141 3 (1 M N (119,904) —_ —
‘Shares issued upon conversion of convertible note payable ... .. 455,635 — —
- Shares converted into common stock immediately prior to initial
publicoffering ........ ... .. ... . . L (6,594,725) — —
Sharesatend of period .. ......... .. ... ool e — — —
Series B Preferred Stock Outstanding:
Shares at beginning of period . ....... ... ... il . 45,145,700 — —
Shares issued under Stock Purchase Agreement dated March 28,
1 .7 6,600,000 — —
Shares issued for cash under Bill Barrett Corporation Employee
Restricted Stock Purchase Plan .................. ... ... 145918 — —
Shares issued for mineral leasehold interests ................ 59,800 — —
Shares converted into common stock immediately prior to initial
publicoffering ......................... LR . (51,951,418) - — —_
Sharesatendofperiod .................... ... ... e — - —
Cemmon Stock Outstanding: .
Shares at beginningof period ... ... ... o o '1,857,477 43,323,270 43,695,286
Exercise of common stock options ..................... . 128,135 366,664 462,227
Shares issued for 401(k)plan................... [ — — 16,883
Shares issued for nonvested equity shares of common stock . ... — 5352 252,817 -
Fractional shares after reverse split paid incash .............. {21) - —
Shares issued upon conversion of Series A preferred stock ... .. 2,592,317 — —
Shares issued upon conversion of Series B preferred stock and .
Series B cumulative dividends .. ......... .. ... Celi... 23,795,362 — —
Shares issued upon initial public offering ......0. ... .. .. ... 14,950,000 — —
Sharesretited . ............ e — — (285,760)
Sharesatendofperiod .. ... ... ... ... iiiioinn o 43,323,270 43,695,286 44,141,453
Treasury Stock: .
Shares at beginning of period ........ ... .. et — — 124,024
Treasury stock acquired . ...........ooviiiiiiieennn [P — 124,024 161,736
Treasury stock retired . ... .. ... . . .. i — —_ (285,760}
Sharesatendofperiod .. ... .. ... ... i i R 124,024 - —
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). The Company follows the provisions of
SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, which establishes standards for reporting comprehensive
income (loss). The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (lcl)ss) and related tax effects for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006 were as follows:

Tax Net of
Gross Effect Tax
, {in thousands}

Accumulated other ‘comprehensive loss—December 31,2003 . ............. (6,986) 2,585 (4,401}
Change1nfa1rvalueofhedges..............................' ......... (5,665) 2,096 (3,569)
Reclassification adjustment for realized losses on hedges included in net

IMCOME ... i e e et e e, 6,986 (2,585) 4,401
Accumulated other comprehensive loss—December 31,2004 . ............. (5,605) 2,096 (3,569)
Change in fair valueof hedges . . ........................ ... P | (53,490) 19,792  (33,698)
Reclassification adjustment for realized losses on hedges included in net

0 (Lol oY 1 23,105 (8,549) 14,556
Accumulated other comprehensive loss—December 31,2005 .............. $(36,050) $ 13,339 $(22,711)
Change in fair valueofhedges .......... ... ... ... i, 96,882  (35,999) 60,883
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains on hedges 1ncluded in net .

103100 13T (14,025) 5224  "(8,801)
Accumulated other comprehensive income—December 31,2006 ........... $ 46,807 $(17,.436) $ 29,371

10. Common Stock, Stock Options and Other Employee Bencfits

As described below, we record non-cash stock-based compensation related 10 two separate equity awards:
restricted common stock and stock option awards. Non-cash stock-based compensauon is included in general and
administrative expense. 1

Common Stock. On January 30, 2002, the Company issued, subject to restrlctlons 1,800,548 shares of
common stock to founding management and employees. On March 28, 2002, tthe common stockholders entered
into a stockholders agreement to restrict ownership of the shares with the following dual vesting provisions:

(1) one share vesting for every $141.62355 received from investors in Series B Preferred Stock (*dollar
vesting”), and (2) 20% vesting upon purchase and an additional 20% vesting ea(':h year for four years after
purchase and continued service with the Company (“time vesting™). The 1,800, 548 shares of common stock fully
dollar vested in 2004. Vesting ceases upon the occurrence of a liquidation event with respect to the Company, as
defined in the agreement, or the sale of the Company. At each measurement date (the date the Company received
funds from the investors in Series B preferred, i.e., the shares dollar vested), compensation expense was
determined based on the then known number of shares that had dollar vested and, to the extent those shares were
time vested, stock-based compensation expense was immediately recorded. |

In accordance with FIN No. 28, the remaining stock-based compensation expense was recognized ratably
over the remaining time vesting service period, January 31, 2006, at which time the shares were fully vested.
Based on the fair value vested for these common stock issuances, the Company recorded $2.0 million,
$0.5 million, and $0.04 million of stock-based compensation expense in the years ended December 31, 2004,
2005, and 2006 respectively; none of the stock-based compensation has been capnallzed and the related tax
benefit recognized was less than $0.1 million in each of the respective periods.
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A summary of activity for the restricted common stock as of December 31, 2006, and changes during the
year then ended is presented below: :

Weighted
Average Fair
Shares Value
Nonvested at January 1,2006 ....................... e e i 21,837 $1.75
Granted . . ... i e — N/A
Vested ... e e N ... (21,837 $L.75
Forfeited orexpired ...... ... ... . e — N/A

Nonvested at December 31,2006 ... .. .. e P — N/A

Stock Options & Nonvested Equity Shares. In January 2002, the Company adopted a stock option-plan to
benefit key employees, directors and non-employees. This plan was amended and restated in its entirety by the
Amended and Restated 2002 Stock Option Plan (the “2002 Option Plan™), The aggregate number of shares which
the Company may issue under the 2002 Option Plan may not exceed 1,642,395 shares of the Company’s
common stock. Under the 2002 Option Plan, up to 1,180,807 shares are designated’as Tranche A and up to
461,588 shares are designated as Tranche B. Until our initial public offering, Tranche A options could be granted
with an exercise price of not less than $30.28 per share, and Tranche B options could be granted with an exercise
price of not less than $0.20551 per share. Options granted under the 2002 Option Plan expire ten years from the
grant date. The options are subject to the following time vesting provisions—40% on the first anniversary of the
date of grant and 20% on subsequent anniversaries of the date of grant subject to the acceleration and other
. specified occurrences also addressed in Note 9. Options granted on or before February 3,-2003 vested 20% on
date of grant and 20% on each of the next four anniversaries of the date of grant. Options granted under the 2002
Stock Option Plan were subject to equity vesting prov151ons by having all options that are outstandmg vest
proportionately based on the total number of shares of common stock outstanding assuming the conversion of our
outstanding Series A and Series B preferred stock. As of May 12, 2004, all options under the 2002 Stock Option
Plan were equity vested.

. For options g'ranfed before October 1, 2004, on each measurement date (principally, the dates the Company

received funds from the investors in Series B, i.e., the shares equity vest), compensation expense was determined
based on the then known number of options that had equity vested and to the extent those options were time
vested, stock-based compensation expense was immediately recorded. The remaining charge was recorded as
deferred compensation within stockholders equity and amortized over the remaining time vesnng service period
in accordance with FIN No. 28.

Concurrent with our initial public offering on December 9, 2004, we offered to the 62 employees and
directors that held Tranche A options an exchange of their options for new Tranche A options equal in number to
92.6% of their original Tranche A options with a new exercise price equal to the initial public offering price of
$25.00 per share and an expiration date of December 9, 2011, The vesting of the exchanged options did not
change. All employees accepted this exchange ratio based on a fair value neutral exchange computed using a
Black-Scholes model and, as such, the Company recorded no additional stock-based compensation expense.

In December 2003, the Company adopled its 2003 Stock Option Plan (the *2003 Option Plan”) to benefit
key employees, directors and non-employees. In Apni 2004, the 2003 Option Plan was approved by the
Company’s stockholders. The aggregate number of shares which the Company may issue under the 2003 Option
Plan may not exceed 42,936 shares of the Company’s common stock. Options granted under the 2003 Option
Plan expire ten years from the date of grant with an exercise price not less than 100% of the fair market value, as
defined in the 2003 Option Plan, of the underlying common shares on the date of grant. Options granted under
the 2003 Option Plan vest 25% on the first four anniversaries of the date of grant. ’
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On December 1, 2004, our shareholders approved the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2004 Incentive Plan™)
for the purpdse of enhancing our ability to attract and retain officers, employeesi directors and consultants and to
provide such persons with an interest in the Company parallel to our stockholde'rs The 2004 Incentive Plan
provides for the grant of stock options (including incentive stock options and non- qualified stock options) and
other awards (including performance units, performance shares, share awards, restricted stock, restricted stock
units, and stock appreciation rights, or SARs). The maximum number of award 'that may be granted under the
2004 Incentive Plan is 4,900,000. In addition, the- maximum number of awards granted to a participant in any one
year is 1,225,000, Options granted thus far under the 2004 Incentive Plan generally expire seven years from the
date of grant and vest 25% on the first four anniversaries of the date of grant. Uhless terminated earlier by our
board of directors, the 2004 Incentive Plan will terminate on June 30, 2014. Upon an event constituting a “change
in control” (as defined in the 2004 Incentive Plan) of the Company, all options will become immediately
exercisable in full. In addition, in such an event, performance units will become immediately vested and
restrictions on restricted stock awards will lapse.

Our compensatlon committee may grant awards on such terms, including vesting and payment forms, as it
deems approprlate in its discretion, however, nc award may be exercised more than 10 years after its grant (five
years in the case of an incentive stock option granted to an individual who possesses more than 10% of the total
combined voting power of all ciasses of stock of the Company). The purchase pnce or the manner in Wthh the
exercise price is to be determined for shares under each award will be determined by the compensation
committee and set forth in the agreement. However, the exercise price per share under each award may not be
less than 100% of the fair market value of a share on the date the award is granted (110% in the case of an
. incentive stock option granted to an eligible individual who possesses more than 10% of the total combined
voting power-of all classes of stock of the Company).

Currently, our practice is to issue new shares upon stock option exercise, a:nd we do not expect to repurchase
any shares in the open market or issue treasury shares to settle any such exercises. For years ended December 31,
2004, 2005 and 2006, we used no cash to repurchase any stock related to any option exercises.

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), the fair value of each share-based award under all our pians is
estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes pricing model that mcorpo'rates the assumptions noted in the
following table. Because our common stock has only recently become publicly traded we have estimated
expected volatilities based on an average of volatilities of similar sized Rocky l\{[ountam oil and gas companies

- whose common stock is or has been publicly traded for a minimum of five years and other similar sized oil and
gas companies who recently-became publicly traded. For options granted when we were a nonpublic company,
we adopted the minimum value method under SFAS No. 123, which uses 0% volatility, Given our stage of
growth and requirement for capital investment, we used a 0% expected d1v1dend yield, which is comparable to
most of our-peers in the industry. The expected term ranges from 1.25 years to 5.0 years based on the 25% on
each anniversary date after grant vesting period and factoring in potential black%)ut dates and historic exercises,
with a weighted average of 2.7 years. The risk-free rate for periods within the c?ntractual life of the option is
based-on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect on the date of grant. We estimated a 4% annual compounded -
forfeiture rate based on historical employee turnover. ) -

Year Ended .
December 31,
2004 2005 2006
Welghted Average Volatlhty ......................... AP 3% 39% 36%
Expected Dividend Yield .. .................. ... .. o0 b 0% 0% 0%
. Weighted Average Expected Term (inyears) ....................... Lo 3.0 2.9 2.7

Weighted Average Risk-free Rate ..., L. 31% 3.7% 4.3%




A summary of share-based option actmty under all our plans as of December 31, 2006, and changes during
the year then ended, is presented below

Weighted-averagé

Weighted-average remaining Aggpregate
Shares Exercise Price contractual term. .. intrinsic value

Qutstanding at January 1,2006 ............... 2,334,598 $23.51
Granted .................... . . 802,370 31.87
Exercised ... ... ... ... .. ... . .. (462,227) 20.86.
Forfeitedorexpired .......... ... ... ....... M) 28.10
Qutstanding at December 31,2006 ... ......... 2,429,069 $26.31 5.29 $6,587,344
Vested, or expected to vest, at December 31, ' , '

2006 .. e 2,376,982 $26.25 5.27 6,519,423
Exercisable at December 31,2006 ............. 1,126,906 $23.14 4.57 $4,889,325

" The per share weighted-average grant-date fair value of awards granted for the years ended December 31,
2004, 2005 and 2006 was $7.11, $9.54 and $7.26, respectively, and the total intrinsic value of awards exercised
during the same periods was $1.5 million, $8.6 million and $4.5 million, respectively. Related to stock option
exercises, we received less than $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and $3.0 and $4.9 million for
the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively. In addition, no cash was used to settle stock option
exercises for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006,

A summary of the Company’s nonvested equity shares of common stock as of December 31, 2006, and
changes during the year then ended, is presented below:

Weighted-average

Grant Date Fair

. . Shares Value
Qutstanding at Jannary 1,2006 . ... ... . 4,740 $32.70
Granted ........ ... i R . 286,485 3437
1=+ PP (3 033) 3427
Forfeited orexpired . .................... D Lo, (33,668) -35.23
Outstanding at December 31,2006 . .................. U Ceaeeo... 254524 783422
Vested, or expected to vest, at December 31,2006 ................ e 244,343 $34.22
Exercisable at December 31,2006 .. ... ... 0o e - — $ —

We recorded non-cash stock-based compensation related to awards of $3.0 million, $3.2 million, and
$6.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectively. Included in the $3.2 million
and $6.4 million of stock-based compensation for the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively, is
$0.3 and $0.9 mitlion related to the modification of equity awards for certain employees in which their vesting
terms were accelerated. None of the stock-based compensation has been capitalized, and the related tax benefit
recognized was less than $0.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2004, For the year ended December 31,
2005, the Company recognized a tax benefit of $1.2 million that was charged to stockholder’s equity for the
exercise of stock options. For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company did not recognize an excess tax
benefit related to the exercise of stock options in accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). As of December 31, 2006,
there was $16.8 million of total compensation costs related to nonvested stock option and nonvested equity
shares of common stock grants that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.1 years

Other Employee Benefits-401(k) Savings. The Company has an employee directed 401(k) savmgs plan (the
“401(k} Plan”) for all eligible employees over the age of 21. Employees become eligible the quarter following
the beginning of their employment. Under the 401 (k) Plan, employees may make voluntary contributions based
upon a percentage of their pretax income. Through December 31, 2005, the Company matched 100% of the
employee contribution, up to 4% of the employee’s pretax income.
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Beginning on January 1, 2006, the Company amended the 401(k) Plan to n!alch 100% of the employee
contribution, up to 6% of the employee’s pretax income, with 50% of the mat_ch! made with the Company’s
common stock. The Company’s cash contributions and shares of common stock’ are fully vested upon the date of
match. The Company made matching cash contributions of $0.4 million, $0. 6 mrllllon and $0.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006, respectwe]y, and common stock contributions of $0.5 million
for the year ended December 31, 2006.

11. Transactions with Related Parties " ' |

A director of the Company until May 2006 is a managing director of aicom_lpany affiliated with the company
which wholly owns the counterparty to a portion of the natural gas swaps noted iin Note 7 above, the company
that was the sole lead arranger and administrative agent for the senior subordinated credit and guaranty
agreement as discussed in Note 5 above, and the company that was the lead underwriter in our initial public

offering.

In management’s opinion, the terms obtained in the above transactions were provided on terms at least as
favorable to the Company as could be obtained from non-related sources.

12. Significant Customers and Other Concentrations

Significant Customers. During 2004, ONEQOK Inc. accounted for 37.5% of the Company’s oil and gas
production revenues. During 2005, ONEOK Inc., Xcel Energy Inc., and OGE Energy Resources Inc. accounted
for 20.3%, 10.3%, and 10.0%, respectively, of the Company’s oil and gas producuon revenues. During 2006,
Sempra Energy Trading Corporation, Xcel Energy Inc., and ONEOK Inc. accoulnted for 21.3%, 10.0%, and
9.7%, respectively, of the Company’s oil and gas production revenues. Managerlnent believes that the loss of any
individual purchaser would not have a long-term material adverse impact on the financial position or results of
operations of the Company. ' '

Concentrations of Market Risk. The future results of the Company’s oil and gas operations will be affected
by the market prices of oil and gas. The availability of a ready market for crude oil, natural gas and liquid
products in the future will depend on numerous factors beyond the control of the Company, including weather,
imports, marketing of competitive fuels, proximity and capacity of oil and gas pipelines and other transportation
facilities, any oversupply or undersupply of oil, gas and liquid products, the regt:latory environment, the
economic environment, and other regional and political events, none of which can be predicted with certainty.

The Company operates in the exploration, development and production phase of the oil and gas industry. Its
receivables include amounts due from purchasers of 0il and gas production and lamounts due from joint venture
partners for their respective portions of operating expense and exploration and developmenl costs. The Company
- believes that no single customer or joint venture partner exposes the Company to significant credit risk. While
certain of these customers and joint venture partners are affected by periodic downturns in the economy in
general or in their specific segment of the natural gas or oil industry, the Company believes that its level of
credit-related losses due to such economic fluctuations has been and will contin;le to be immaterial to the
Company’s results of operations in the long-term. Trade receivables are generally not collateralized. The
Company analyzes customers’ and joint venture partners’ historical credit positions and payment history prior to
extending credit. ) A ‘ ‘

Concentrations of Credit Risk. Derivative financial instruments that hedge the price of oil anid gas and
interest rate levels are generally executed with major financial or commodities t'rading institutions which expose
the Company to market and credit risks and may, at times, be concentrated w1th‘certam counterparties or groups
of counterparties. Although notional amounts are used to express the volume of}these contracts, the amounts
potentially subject to credit risk, in the event of non-performance by the counterparties, are substantially smaller.
The credit worthiness of counterparties is subject to continuing review and full pcrformance is anticipated. The
Company’s policy is to execute financial derivatives only with major ﬁnam:lal 1inst1luuons
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13. Commitments and Contingencies

_ Tmnsportanon Demand and Firm Processmg Charges. The Company has entered into contracts which
provide firm transportation capacity and processing rights on pipeline systems. The remaining terms on these
" contracts range from 1to 13 years and require the Company to pay transportation demand and processing charges
regardless of thie amount of pipeline capacity utilized by thé Company. The Company paid $1.7 million and
$3.7 million of transportation demand charges for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, respectively.”
The Company paid $0.7 million of firm processing charges in 2006; there were no firm processing charges paid
in 2005. All transportation costs including demand charges and processing charges are included in gathering and
i Lransportatlon expense in the Consohdated Statement of Operatlons

Future minimum transportatlon demand and firm processing charges as of and subsequent to December 31,
2006 are as follows (in thousands):

2007 ... ... e s 5,801

2008 e 15,027
2009 ... ..., e S OO . 17,353
2000 o e e e i e 17,764 -
2011 ........ SRR e et 23,700
Thereafter ............oooonn... e e 104,420

Total ......conenun. e e e wevveeo §184,005

Lease Obligations and Other Commitments. The Company leases office space and certain equipment under
non-cancelable operating leases. Office lease expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005 and 2006
was $0.8 million, $0.9 million and $1.4 million, respectively. Additionatly, thé Company has entered into various
long-term agreements for telecommunication service. The Company also has commitments for developing oil
and gas properties of $25.6 million and $2.7 million for 2007 and 2008, respectively, which are mcluded in the
minimum payment schedule below.

Fature minimurmn annval payments under such leases and agreements as of and subsequent to December 31
2006 are as follows (in thousands):

- Office &
Other Equipment
] ) Commitments Leases
2007 e © $25640  $1,625
2008 ... e 205, 1,504
2009 ..., i e — 1,540 .
2010 ... e — 1,593
2011 ... e e e = 450
Thereafter ......vvveiininnrn s oeenns R — —
Total ............ S e $28,345  $6,712

In addition to the commitmenits above, the Company has commitments for the purchase of facilities and
office equipment as of and subsequent to December 31, 2006 for a total of $14.1 million.”

i »
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14. Supplementary Oil and Gas Information (unaudited)

Costs Incurred. Costs incurred in oil and gas property acquisition, exploration and development activities _
and related depletion per equivalent unit-of-production were as follows: ' k

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 . 2006
(in thousands, except amortization data)

Acquisition costs: » .
Unproved properties . . .......co it i $ 73,469 § 25,689 $126,091

Proved ProPerties . .........oveeiiiieaaaeieeeeniinniiiaeian. ] 79,440 1,288 . 33,138
Exploration costs .. ........ .. . i P 98,751 218,586 224,189
Development COSIS . ... .ttt e e e 93,304 95,2361 114,593
Asset retirement obligation ........ ... ... L e 7,153 7 10,650 6,272
Total costsincurred . ......... ...t [ $352,117 $351,449 $504,283
Amortization per Mcfe of [:;roduction .................. . e $ 212 $ 220 $° 260

Supplemental Oil and Gas Reserve Information. The reserve information|presented below is based on
estimates of net proved reserves as of December 31, 2004, 2005, and 2006 that were prepared by internal -
petroleum engineers in accordance with guidelines established by the Securities and Exchange Commission and
were reviewed by Ryder Scott Company and Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc., independent petroleum
engineering firms. o i

Proved oil and gas reserves are the estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids
. which geological and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty t0 be recoverable in future years
from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions. Prov%:d developed oil and gas reserves
are reserves that'can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating
methods. o '
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Analysis of Changes in Proved Reserves. The following table sets forth information regarding the
Company’s estimated net total proved and proved developed oil and gas reserve quantities, including 6,618
MBbls of oil, 2,001 MMcf of gas, and 41,709 MMcfe relating to properties held for sale in the Williston Basin
and 18 MMcf of gas and gas equivalent units relating to properties held for sale in the DJ Basin:

0il Gas Equivalent
(MBbls) (MMecf)  Units (MMcfe)

Proved reserves:

Balance, December 31, 2003 .. ... ... .. . e e 3,886 180,874 204,190
Purchases of oil and gas reservesinplace ......................... 201 48,949 50,155
Extension, discoveries and other additions . ............. ... vutn 1,846 87,098 98,174
Revisions of previous estimates ... ...... ... i, 440  (28,490) (25,850)
Sales Of reserves ... ... oo e (161)  (1,691) (2,657)
PrOdUCHOn - ... o e e e e e e e (474) (28,864) (31,708)

Balance, December 31, 2004 . ... . 5,738 257876 292,304
Purchases of cil and gasreservesinplace ......................... 5 3,274 3,304
Extension, discoveries and other additions (1) ...................... 1,130 96,223 103,004
Revisions of previous estimates (1) .....:... ... .. ... ... .. ... .. (414) (14,598) (17,082)
Salesof reserves (1) .. .. .. . i (102) (517 (1,130)
Production . ... . e e e e (523) - (36,286) (39,424)

Balance, December 31,2005 ...... (S 5,834 305,972 340,976
Purchases of oil and gasreservesinplace ......................... — 19,529 19,529
Extension, discoveries and other additions ... ...... e L. 3,063 129,309 147,687
Revisions of previous estimates .................0 ... .. .. 252 (23,000} (21,488)
Sales of reserves .. ... . e e e .- (6,152} (6,152)
Production .. ... ... e - (696) (47,932) (52,108)

Batance, December 31,2006 ....... ... ... . ... . . ... ... ... 8,453 377,726 428,444

Proved developed reserves:

December 31, 2004 ... ... i e e e, 4,249 153,118 178,612
~ December 31,2005 .. ... 4,283 182,777 208,475
December 31,2006 .. ...ttt e e 5,006 218,902 248,938

(1) In 2006, the Company reclassified 14,362 MMocfe and 601 MMcfe of 2005 proved reserves from “Revisions
: of previous estimates” to “Extension, discoveries and other additions” and “Sales of Reserves,” respectively.
“Revisions of previous estimates” decreased by 3,262 MBbls of oil and increased by 4,609 MMcf of gas.
“Extension, discoveries and other additions” increased by 3,162 MBbls of oil and decreased by 4,609 MMcf
of gas. “Sales of reserves” increased by 100 MBbls of oil. As this is a reclassification between categories
within proved reserves, there is no change to ending reserves as of December 31, 2005.

At year end 2004, we revised our proved reserves downward by 32 Befe, excluding pricing revisions. The

. Tevision was primarily the result of encountering unexpected pressure depletion during infill drilling in the Wind
River Basin and greater pressure depletion than expected in two areas in the Powder River Basin. The downward
revision in the Wind River Basin in 2004 was 27.6 Bcfe. In this basin, 47.6% of the proved wells forecast in the
Wind River basin at year-end 2003 were 25% below forecast at year-end 2004. The reserve variance between the
independent reserve engineers and the Company at year-end 2004 for this basin was 6.6 Bcfe with the
independent engineers at the lower estimate. The downward revision in the Powder River Basin in 2004 was 7.2
Bcfe, In this basin, 29% of the proved wells forecast at year-end 2003 were 25% below forecast at year-end
2004, The reserve variance between the independent reserve engineers and the Company at year-end 2003 for
this basin was 1.7 Befe with the independent engineers at the lower estimate.

F-32




At year end 2005, we revised our proved reserves downward by 24.7 Befe,iexcluding pricing revisions,

primarily as a result of a reduction in proved undeveloped reserves in the Piceance Basin due to the use of

" completion techniques performed from January through September 2005 that yiclded results lower than our
expectations at year-end 2004. Completion techniques used in subsequent periods have yielded more favorable
results, which are reflected in upward revisions in 2006 reserve estimates in lhxs! area. The downward revision in
the Piceance Basin in 2005 was 25.6 Befe. In this basin, 31% of the proved wells forecast at year-end 2004 were
25% below forecast at year-end 2005. The reserve variance between the mdepel{dem reserve engineers and the
Company at year-end 2004 for this basin was 13 Bcfe with the mdependem engineer at the lower estimate. The
downward revision in the Powder River Basin in 2005 was 9.6 Bcfe. In this basin, 36% of the proved wells
forecast at year-end 2004 were 25% below forecast at year-end 2005. The reser\lfe variance between the
independent reserve engineers and BBC at year-end 2004 for this basin was 3.8 Bcfe with the independent
engineer at the lower estimate. An upward revision of 8.1 Befe occurred in the Umla Basin in the West Tavaputs
Field in 2005. In this basin, 31% of the proved wells forecast at year-end 2004 were 25% above forecast at
year-end 2005, The reserve variance between the independent reserve engmeersI and BBC at year-end 2004 was
2.1 Befe with the independent engineer at the lower estimate.

During 2005, reviews of proved oil and gas properties in the Wind River Basm indicated a decline in the
recoverability of their carrying value and the need for an impairment in the Cooper Reservoir, Talon and East
Madden fields in the total amount of $42.7 million. We undertook a drilling program in Cooper Reservoir in
2003 and 2004 with the expectation of a specific economic reserve level. Aclual reserve levels were less than our
expectations which led to an impairment in the field in 2005. The impairments in the Talon and East Madden
fields were the result of unsuccessful exploration programs. |

At year-erid 2006, we revised our proved reserves upward by 12.4 Befe, excluding pricing revisions. This
revision was primarily the result of increased performance of wells drilled dum%g the last half of 2005 and the
first half of 2006. The pricing revision at year-end 2006 at price$ of $4.46 per MMBtu of gas and $61.06 per
barrel of oil, relative to year-end 2005 prices of $7.72 per MMBtu and $61.04 per barrel of oil, was downward
33.8 Befe. These prices were adjusted by lease for quality, transportation fees and regional price differences.

Standardized Measure. Estimated discounted future net cash flows and chfanges therein were determined in
accordance with SFAS No. 69, Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing Activities. Certain information
concerning the assumptions used in computing the valuation of proved reserves and their inherent limitations are
discussed below. The Company believes such information is essential for a proper understanding and assessment
of the data presented.

Future cash inflows are computed by applying year-end prices of oil and gas relating to the Company’s
proved reserves to the year-end quantities of those reserves. Year-end calculanons were made using prices of
$43.46, $61.04 and $61.06 per Bbl for oil and $5.52, $7.72, and $4.46 per Mmbtu for gas for 2004, 2005, and
2006, respectively. These prices are adjusted for transportation and quality and basns differentials. The Company
also records an overhead expense of $100 per month per operated well in the calculation of its future cash flows,

The assumptions used to compute estimated future cash inflows do not neczessarily reflect the Company’s
expectations of actual revenues or costs, nor their present worth. In addition, variations from the expected
production rate also could result directly or indirectly from factors outside of the Company’s control, such as
unexpected delays in development, changes in prices or regulatory or environmental policies. The reserve
valuation further assumes that all reserves will be disposed of by production. However, if reserves are sold-in
place, additional economic considerations could also affect the amount of cash 'eventually realized.

Future development and production costs are computed by estimating the expenditures to be incurred in

{
developing and producing the proved oil and gas reserves at the end of the year, based on year-end costs and
assuming continuation of existing economic conditions. I
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Future income tax expenses are computed by applying the appropriate year-end statutory tax rates, with
consideration of future tax rates already legislated, to the future pre-tax net cash flows relating to the Company’s
proved oil and gas reserves. Permanent differences in oil and gas related tax credits and allowances are
recognized. '

A 10% annual discount rate was used to reflect the timing of the future net cash flows relating to proved oil
and gas reserves.

The following table presents the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows related to proved
oil and gas reserves: :

December 31,
2004 2005 2006
" (in thousands})
Future cash inflows .. ... .. i i e e e $1,722,369 $2,882,165 $2,201,106
Future production Costs . ... ... ... it e (502,269) (638,004) (601,502)
Future development costs ....... ... .. ..o (211,464) (362,424) (418,126)
Future InCOME 1aXes .. ... ..ttt ittt it e i e e e (223,884) (487,992) (168,959)
Futurenetcash flows . . .. ... ... . .. ... . . - 784,752 1,393,745 1,012,519
10% annual discount .............ccvuuvin... e [ (318,643) (611,267)  (483,233)
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows ........... ‘S 466,109 § 782,478 $ 529,286

The present value (at a 10% annual discount) of future net cash flows from our proved reserves is not
necessarily the same as the current market value of our estimated oil and natural gas reserves, We base the
estimated discounted future net cash flows from our proved reserves on prices and costs in effect on the day of
estimate, However, actual future net cash flows from our oil and natural gas properties also will be affected by
factors such as actual prices we receive for oil and natural gas, the amount and timing of actual production, .
supply of and demand for oil and natural gas and changes in governmental regulations or taxation.

The timing,of both our production and our incurrence of expenses in connection with the development and
production of oil and natural gas properties will affect the timing of actual future net cash flows from proved
reserves, and thus their actual present value. In addition, the 10% annual discount factor we use when calculating
discounted future net cash flows may not be the most appropriate discount factor based on interest rates in effect
from time to time and risks associated with us or the oil and natural gas industry in general.

A summary of changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2004 2005 2006

(in thousands)

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, beginning of

PEriOd .. e $ 404,820 $ 466,109 § 782,478
Sales of vil and gas, net of production costs and taxes ................. (137,606) (243,717). (253,645)
Extensions, discoveries and improved recovery, less related costs .. ...... 237,683 303,751 178,726
Quantity Tevislons . ... .. .. (70,074) (130,275)  (43,902)
Price revisions .......... S P (22,382) 396,299 (474,739)
Net changes in estimated future developmentcosts ................... 9,316 (25,191) 62,574
Accretion of diSCOUNME . .. vttt e et e e 52,082 59,206 104,960
Purchases of reservesinplace ......... .. it 83,171 11,260 33,518
Salesof reserves . ... it i e e e (4,535) (1,138) (9,671)
Changes in production rates (timing) andother . ........... .. ......... (76,425) 87,349 (44,614)
Net changes in future inCOME tAXES . .........cuvuneinninnnennnnan.. {9.941) (141,175 193,601

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows, end of period .. $ 466,109 $ 782,478 $ 529,286
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15. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

The following is a summary of the unaudited financial data for each quartFr presented. The income (loss)
before income taxes, net income (loss), and net income (loss) per common share for each of the quarters for the
years'ended December 31, 2005 and 2006.

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year ended December 31, 2005; . ;
Total revenues ............ e $51,906 $ 54,449 $71,237 $111,167

Less: costs and expenses . ................. 46,634 79’22.0 50,291 72,389

-Operating income ................. PR , 5,272 (24,771) 20,946 38,778

Income (loss) before income taxes .......... 5,305 (24,76'5) 20,555 . 37,932

Netincome (loss) . ..., ..., 3,054 (15,871) 13,297 23,325

" Net income {loss) per common share, basic ... 0.07 (0.37) 0.31 0.54
Net income (loss) per common share, : )

diluted .......... ... ... .. .. 0.07 (0.?{7) 0.30 | 0.53

I
First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year ended December 31, 2006:

Total FEVENUES . . .. oottt iiianns $97,774 $82.6 1‘:1 $104,412 $90,532
Léss: costs and expenses ................. . 61,716 67,0Q5 68,835 =~ 68,825
Operating iNCOME .. ... ..oveeivenenen... 36,058 15,606 35,577 21,707
Income before income taxes ............... 35,236 13,3 1:1 33,074 19,515
Netincome ........covvieeunenn. e 22,134 8,210 20,701 10,966
- Net income per common share, basic ........ 0.51 0.19 0.47 0.25

Net income per common share, diluted . . e 0.50 ] 0.19 047 0.25
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corporate information

CORPORATE OFFICE i TRANSFER AGENT -

1099 Eighteenth Street, Suite 2300 ) : Mellon Investor Services LL.C . _j. .
Denver, Colorado 80202 ' " Ridgefield Park, New Jersey ) '
Telephone: 303-293-9100 ’ o
Fax: 303-291-0420 o INDEPENDENT AUDITORS o i
Internet: wwwibillbarreticorp.com ) Deloitte & Touche LLP : :
: ‘ Denver, Colorado
ANNUAL STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING :

Our annual stockholders’ meeting INDEPENDENT AND OUTSIDE RESERVOIR ENGIMNEERS
will be held ar 9:30 a.m. (MST) : Ryder Scott Company, L.P.

on Wednesday, May 9, 2007 at the ' Denver, Colorado .

Westin Tabor Center Auditorium . - Netherland Sewell & Associates, Inc.

1672 Lawrence Street . ’ Dallas, Texas

Denver, Colorado 80202

" NON-GAAP MEASURES ‘
Dtscrcuonary cash How is computcd as net loss plus depreciation, deplctlon, amortization and impairment cxpcnses dcfcrrcd income taxcs, exploration
expenses, non-cash stock-based compensation, losses {gains) on sale of properties, and certain other non-cash charges. The non- GAAP measure of
discretionary cash flow 1s prescntcd because management believes that it provides useful additional information to investors for analysis of the Company's
ability to internally generate funds for exploration, development and acquisitions. In addition, discretionary cash flow is widely used by professional
research analysts and others in the valuation, comparison and investment recornmendations of companies in the oil and gas exploration and production
industry, and many investors use the published research of industry research analysts in making investment decisions. Dlscrctmnary cash flow should not
be considered in isolation or as a substitute for net income, income from operations, net cash provided by operating activities or other income, profitability,
cash flow or liquidity measures prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America {“GAAP™). Because
discrettonary cash flow excludes some, but not all, items thar affect net income and net cash provided by operating acuivities and may vary among
companies, the discretionary cash fluow amounts presented may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. ’

The Company calculates organic finding and development cost, or F&D cost, per Mcfe, by dividing (x} costs incurred less asset retirement ebligation -
and less material acquisitions and less certain non-cash capital items less proceeds received for divesting and joint exploration agreement, by (y) rcscrvc '

“‘additions for the year less reserves azcquired for cash, netted against reserves disposed. Consistent with industry practice, future capital cxpcndlturcs 10
develop proved undeveloped reserves or capital associated with furniture, fixtures and equipment are not included in costs incurred. The methods the
Company uses to calculate its F&D cost may differ significantly from methods used by other companics to compute similar measures. As a result, the
Company’s F&D cost may not be comparable to similar measures provided by other companies. The Company believes that providing a non-GAAP
measure of F&D cost is useful to investors in evaluating the cost, on a per thousand cubic feet of natural gas equivalent basis, to add proved reserves.
However, this measure is provided in addition to, and not as an alternative for, and should be read in conjunction with, the information contained in its
financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. Due to various facrors, including timing differences in the addition of proved reserves and the
related costs to develop those reserves, F&D cost do not necessarily reflect precisefy the costs associated with particular reserves, As a result of various _
factors that could materially affect the timing and amounts of future increases in reserves and the timing and amounts of fu[urc costs, the Company cannot |
assure you that its future F&D cost will not differ material from those presented.

For a recenciliation of these non-GAAP measures o financial information prcparcd in accordance with GAAP, refer'to our Current chorr_s on Form 8-K |
filed with the Securides and Exchange Commission (SEC) .

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS AND OTHER NOTICES

This report contains forward-looking statements regarding Bill Barrete Corporacion’s furure plans and expected performance based on assumptions the
" Company believes to be reasonable. A number of risks and uncertainties could cause actual results to differ marerially from these statements, including,

-without limitation, the success rate of exploration efforts and the timeliness of development activities, luctuations in oil and gas prices, and other risk

factors described in the Company’s accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006.

production or conclusive formation tests to be economically and legally producible under existing economie and operating conditions. Bill Barrert

Corporation may use certain terms in this report and other communicacions relating to reserves, resources, and production that the SEC’s guidelines

" strictly prohibit the Company from including in fitings with the SEC. It is recommended that U.S. investors closely consider the Company's disclosures in

the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 ﬁlcd with the SEC. This document is available through the SEC ., -
by calling 1-800-SEC-0330 (U.S.} and on the SEC website at www.sec.gov.

|
The SEC permits oil and gas companies, in their filings with the SEC, 1o disclose only proved reserves thar a company has demonstrated by actual ‘

The New York Stock Exchange’s Rule 303A,12(a) requires chief execurive officers of listed companies to certify that they are notr aware of any violations by

their company of the exchange's corperate governance listing standards. This annual certification by the chief executive officer of Bill Barrect Corporation’

has been filed with the New York Stock Exchange. In addivion, Bill Barrett Corporation has filed, as exhibits to its most recently filed Form 10-K, the SEC
_ certifications required for the chief executive officer and chief financial officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
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OUR VALUES
Integrity in the way we conduct our
business, respect the environment, and
analyze our opporiunities

Growth in production, reserves, and
our share price

Teamwork in the way we manage our
business and work with our partners

Allegiance to our investors, employees,
suppliers, and the communities in which
we operate
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